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Introduction 

In his 2004 article chronicling the continuing fight of Black, Latino, and American Indian 

students to gain admission to American law schools, William C. Kidder singled out my first 

law school alma mater with these words: 

 

Perhaps the most extreme example of entrenched obstructionism in defending Jim Crow 

racism in law school admissions involves the University of Florida College of Law 

(UFCL) and Florida public officials.   

 

Virgil Hawkins first applied to UFCL at the age of 43 in April of 1949, and was denied 

admission solely because he was Black.  Hawkins’ tortuous legal battle spanned nine 

years, and it became embroiled in the Florida gubernatorial race.   

 

The litigation included several petitions to the U.S. Supreme Court and five appeals 

before the diehard segregationist Florida Supreme Court, which repeatedly and 

illegally ignored the U.S. Supreme Court’s orders that Hawkins be admitted without 

further delay.   

 

By 1958, Hawkins withdrew his application to UFCL in exchange for an agreement that 

other African Americans would at last be permitted to enroll, but he never gave up his 

dream of becoming a lawyer.1 

 

Ironically, Virgil Darnell Hawkins began his battle the year I was born. Twenty-two years 

later, the irony deepened when I entered the University of  Florida College of Law as one of the 

first black women students to be admitted. Even though only thirteen years had passed since Mr. 

Hawkins had been forced to give up his right to attend UF so black students like me one day 

could, I arrived on that campus completely ignorant about my presence there as a continuation of 

his legacy of bitter struggle and sacrifice.  

By then, however, one of the most notorious of the Florida Supreme Court judges who 

repeatedly defied the U. S. Supreme Court’s orders to enroll Mr. Hawkins, was President of the 

University of Florida. 

Until now, my contribution to Mr. Hawkins’ legacy at the University of Florida College of 

Law has been buried. The rest of Mr. Hawkins’ story is my story. 

 One Thousand Southern White Men is our story: how family, faith, and conviction came 

together at the same moment in history, on one hand, determined to maintain a regime of white 

supremacist oppression and degradation; and, on the other hand, how family, faith, and 

conviction inspired us to refuse to be crushed, to endure, to rise up and raise endless generations 

with fight in their blood. 
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Lawyer, Liar 

“You want to be a lawyer?” The tip of my mother’s tongue brushed the roof of her mouth, 

twisting “lawyer” into “liar.” She, of exquisite enunciation, knew exactly what she was doing—

washing freshly dyed jeans with the white load. Lawyers…policemen…liars…thieves. To Ma, 

they were all the same. Deciding to become a lawyer meant I had chosen to be a liar for hire. She 

couldn’t believe her baby girl had turned into One of Them. 

From the time I began reading and writing in kindergarten until I was halfway through high 

school, I said I was going to be a teacher. In my community, we revered teachers more than 

preachers. And, really, I loved teachers because they loved me: I was smart, articulate, and well-

behaved. So, I was usually the teachers’ pet and if I wasn’t, there was something wrong with 

them. I wanted to be worshipped like my teachers. 

Then one night at a neighbor’s house, I saw “Honey West,” a TV show whose star was a 

sexy blonde in a black bodysuit and a trench coat. Honey was a gun-toting black belt in judo who 

scaled fire escapes, drove a fast car, and carried a lipstick case that doubled as a short-wave 

radio. She was a private investigator and her own boss. From then on, no more wanting to be a 

teacher. Honey was the one I wanted to be. And the proof is permanently recorded beneath my 

name in The Lion, our high school yearbook, where my intended profession reads “Intelligence 

Specialist.” I had done a bit more homework since my first “Honey” sighting, so instead of 

following in the footsteps of a blonde dick, I had decided to blaze my own path and become a 

spy for the CIA—the Central Intelligence Agency—the US government’s elite cabal of 

international spies.  

Somewhere between switching from wanting to be a teacher to wanting to be a spy, I 

considered becoming a lawyer mostly because grownups were always telling me I was cut out to 
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be one. I had never met a lawyer, but I had seen two on TV: the fictional criminal defense 

attorney Perry Mason and Charlotte’s real life, black civil rights lawyer Julius L. Chambers.  

In fact, the real lawyer was the reason Ma was not impressed with lawyers or, for that matter, 

with any of Charlotte’s other black leaders. Even though she had never met Mr. Chambers, she 

was convinced he was a self-serving rabble-rouser cutting deals off-camera and off the front 

page of the paper, deals that were far more beneficial—even lucrative—for him and the other 

black leaders raising hell, than it was for those for whom they claimed to be agitating. Back then, 

when I was still in high school, my opinions were greatly swayed by Ma’s, so I figured she might 

know what she was talking about.  

Growing up poor, black, and female in the segregated South, many hands on my shoulders 

guided me out. At eighteen, I understood it was my duty to leave our black world and go 

integrate the Land of the White People. I had no idea, however, that would mean being racially 

isolated in an entire section of the United States in north central Wisconsin called the Fox River 

Valley.  

I barely survived Wisconsin’s bitter cold, compounded by the trauma of being deeply 

submerged in endless whiteness. Four years in that frozen tundra had shredded the stellar 

academic record with which I had arrived on campus and had eviscerated my self-esteem right 

along with it. Yet, in my final semester, I had pulled myself up out of a nosedive enough to 

graduate and win admission to a pre-law summer program that set me back on track for the top. 

Out from under Ma’s influence, four years of college had made me forget the disdain she and 

I once shared for lawyers. Her dismay at my declaration of my new aspirations signaled the first 

major breakaway from a young life spent constantly seeking her—and other adults’—

unconditional approval. College had left me feeling invisible and powerless and law school 
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seemed like the cure: only three years stood between me and my new path to glory as a fearless, 

avenging lawyer. So, law school is where I found myself the summer of 1971. Getting there had 

hardly been a sure thing. 

 Ma’s undisguised disdain wasn’t about to slow me down and neither would centuries of 

odds nor legions of naysayers stacked against me. Nothing could trump the fact that I was 

headed for law school to begin my ascension amid the warm embrace of one thousand Southern 

white men. 

My chance to soar was no accident. The early 70s were the halcyon days when white folks 

were still so freaked out by race riots and charred cities that they thought it wise to break off a 

little piece of their wealth and privilege and parcel it out among those of us they deemed worthy. 

Recipients of such largesse were identified by our willingness to gratefully accept what we were 

given and shut up about it. That brief spark of “equality and justice for all” lit up the darkness 

for—and lined the pockets of—a tiny percentage of blacks. Where lawyers were concerned, we 

were not the metaphorical Talented Tenth as much as we were literally the Lucky One Percent. 

In 1960 African American attorneys were less than one percent—0.76% to be exact—of their 

profession: 2,180 blacks from a total of 285,933 lawyers.2 A decade later, when my black 

classmates and I darkened the doors at the University of Florida College of Law, there were 

nearly as many black attorneys in the state of California alone—363—as there were in ten 

southern states combined.  

In the South in 1970 where the total Black population of Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, 

Georgia, Louisiana, Mississippi, North Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia was 

over 8.8 million, these states had a combined total of 393 African American lawyers.3 
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In those days, black folks had not succumbed to the luxury of being confused about whether 

we really were entitled to equal opportunity or whether we were justified in demanding that 

aggressive, affirmative steps be taken to make available to us that which had for centuries been 

aggressively, affirmatively denied us. We knew we were owed and we were unapologetic about 

getting our due. Nor was our heightened sense of entitlement occurring in a vacuum.  

All around us widespread desegregation and school reform initiatives exponentially 

expanded opportunities for poor, black and other students of color—as well as women—to tap 

into education benefits long-denied them. The Great Society’s War on Poverty poured money 

into poor communities, reversing centuries of a stream that had previously flowed in the opposite 

direction. And these increased investments made a huge difference:  

Substantial gains were made in equalizing educational inputs and outcomes. Childhood 

poverty fell to nearly half of what it is today…For a brief period in the mid-‘70s, black 

and Hispanic students were attending college at rates comparable with whites…Urban 

schools were spending as much as suburban schools, and paying their teachers as well; 

perennial teacher shortages had nearly ended…Federally funded curriculum 

investments transformed teaching in many schools. Innovative schools flourished, 

especially in the cities. Large gains in black students’ performance throughout the 

1970s and early ‘80s cut the literacy achievement gap by nearly half.4 

 

My ship came in bearing the mast of the Council on Legal Education Opportunity (CLEO),  

the summer pre-law preparatory program of the same name.  CLEO targeted economically 

disadvantaged students5 to whom it guaranteed law school admission upon the successful 

completion of the intensive, rigorous six-week CLEO curriculum. A NC resident, I was assigned 

to the host school for the southeast region: the University of Florida College of Law.  

So, on a sunny day early in June, while the rest of the Lawrence University Class of 1971 

headed for convocation, I headed for Appleton’s Outagamie Airport. I was done being the dot in 

Lawrence’s pot, the two-legged upright social experiment that proved the university’s 

commitment to racial integration. A few hours and a thousand miles later, I stepped off a plane in 
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Gainesville, Florida and made my way to the University of Florida’s nearly new law school 

campus. 

Historically speaking, black folks have always had a problem getting in and out of Florida. 

The Henrietta Marie is proof of that. But that slave ship and its horrors were still another buried 

part of American history resting on the ocean floor when I showed up in Gainesville. Had I 

known of that ship’s earlier fate, perhaps my own approach would have been considerably more 

cautious.  

The CLEO class of 1971 was a perfect composite of the events news making events of our 

generation, especially the previous four years: Vietnam vets; the first blacks, the first women, 

and the first black women to do this or that; single, engaged, married, divorced, parents, child-

free; insane, stable, drug-free, drug addicted, abused, abusive; scheming, hard-working, naive, 

urbane; academically strong, academically challenged, self-loathing, self-esteeming, suffering, 

exhilarated and terrified.  

We were like the Thornton Wilder characters in The Bridge of San Luis Rey who plunged to 

their death when they happened to be crossing the bridge at the moment it collapsed. Reading 

that book imprinted me with a lifelong passion for figuring out connections and for 

understanding how certain people ended up in the same place at the same time. Consequently, I 

immediately set about trying to find the thread that looped our lives together and placed us at the 

TEP (Tau Epsilon Phi)—the Jewish—fraternity house6 that summer.  

Exactly the opposite of the collapse that undid Wilder’s Peruvians, however, I did not doubt 

that ours would be a hard, but definitely meteoric rise.7  

We were thirty-four men and six women, all black except for two American Indians. That 

made all of us trailblazers, but the women doubly so. The sistas (we were still “sistas” and 
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“brothas” then) were ever mindful of dressing for the occasion. So all summer long, we strutted 

back and forth across campus with our towering afros, micro-mini skirts, hot pants, and 

bodacious attitudes. After all, crashing the white male pantheon of law study did not mean we 

were no longer Southern born and bred. A “lady” was required to look good even as she worked 

the trenches along the race and gender divide. 

The women were all fresh out of college and around the same age while quite a few of the 

men were much older, ex-military, mostly Vietnam vets. Male or female, though, we brought our 

dreams and fears, our secrets and lies, to a world of possibilities inconceivable only a decade 

before.  

The first major law principle I learned in CLEO was the one on which everything else was 

based: how to defend the guilty.  

We didn’t call it that, of course, because the next thing we learned was how to reframe the 

question. The question was not, “Did he do it?” but rather “Can you prove he did it?” I was 

immediately indignant. No way would I ever defend anyone I knew was guilty of whatever they 

were accused of. Never. Ever. The Vietnam vets laughed in my face. I dismissed them as having 

left their moral core in Southeast Asia’s killing field. I diagnosed them as still suffering from the 

trauma of loathing and killing abroad and then coming home to face the same treatment from 

those whose liberty they had been defending. That set the tone for the rest of our summer of 

constant, loud, furious debate.  

Compared to my hellacious college years, my summer was magical. Healed by the 

camaraderie of my new gonna-be lawyer friends and warmed by the Florida sun, I sprang back to 

life. Our constant mental and verbal jousting revived my focused, confident, powerful self, the 
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one that had taken such a drubbing in college. I had another chance and I was determined to 

make up for lost time.    

CLEO delivered on all of its promises and I ended up on the “wait list” at Cornell Law 

School. Although I longed for Cornell’s Ivy League prestige after toughing it out for four years 

at a college no one had ever heard of, I wasn’t willing to hold out for Cornell and risk losing my 

spot at the University of Florida where I had already been admitted. Then, too, Ithaca winters 

sounded way too much like Wisconsin winters. Since I already knew my way around Gainesville 

and the law school, sunny, familiar surroundings made the University of Florida a smart choice. 

For the next three years, it was 1,000 southern white men and me.  

 



13 

 

 

One Thousand Southern White Men 

When CLEO ended, I went home to Charlotte to pack up for my move back to Gainesville. A 

few weeks later, I was trolling campus bulletin boards, looking for an apartment so I could settle 

in before classes began. Unfortunately, when I showed up, my scholarship money was not there 

to greet me. The long delays in getting access to our scholarships—and sometimes even the 

mysterious temporary disappearance of the funds—would turn out to be a chronic problem with 

the University’s financial aid office throughout my three years of law school. Many black 

students—and I was chief among them—believed the delays were calculated and intentional. 

Bottom line, without my scholarship, I’d be starting law school broke and homeless. 

Enter Prof. Walter Otto Pontus Weyrauch. Weyrauch had been one of the few UF law 

professors who befriended CLEO students, treating us as though we were actually students and 

not simply interlopers who had invaded the inner sanctum and who would eventually evaporate 

under the disapproving stares of white folks pretending they didn’t see us. So we liked him. And 

he had further endeared himself by accepting our invitations to our impromptu parties where 

he’d sit with his pipe and penetrating gaze, ever the intrigued but respectful observer. To top it 

off, despite having been in living in the U. S. for decades (and on the law faculty for 14 years), 

rumor had it that Weyrauch had refused to apply for American citizenship. Embracing his 

outsider status enabled him to see clearly the glaring contradictions in law and society that most 

Americans—lawyers especially—spent their lives desperately trying to avoid. For the rest of his 

life, Walter could always be found poking around in the messy middle of them. 

Back then, though, apprised of my dilemma, Weyrauch introduced me to Wings Slocum, a 

tall, willowy law student who struck me as exotic and carefree. After all, she flew planes. Wings 

lived up to her name by taking me under hers when she learned I had no place to live. With 
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neither questions nor conditions, she gave me the keys to a friend’s apartment where I lived for 

two weeks, next door to a dog named Godamnit. I filched Vienna sausages, sardines, and canned 

tomatoes from the back of her friend’s cupboard until my scholarship came through and I was 

able to rent an apartment and buy groceries. 

Before college, the only white folks I had contact with were the white women who paid Ma 

to clean up behind them and the mean girls in my classes in 1962 when I integrated a summer 

program for academically gifted students. They were not a crew who inspired affection or 

affinity. But, college had given me new insight based upon more extended, firsthand 

observations. The white girls at Lawrence who peeled off from the pack became individuals to 

me and some of them eventually became my friends. As far as I was concerned, though, as a 

group, Southern white women were still not to be trusted.  

Perhaps it was that twangy drawl that triggered something in my own Southern fried genetic 

imprint and left me, butt clenched, breath sucked in, waiting for a magnolia-scented invocation 

of some erstwhile plantation. Flowers of the South smelled like treachery to me, cloaked in all 

those summer soft sighs in whispered longing for some Suwanee River song.  

Over time a few other women classmates slipped past my deeply ingrained dislike of 

Southern belles as a whole. Those one or two were so unlike any I had seen before I declared 

them a whole new breed and around whom it was safe to let down my guard.  

So, it wasn’t literally just me and one thousand Southern white men even though it always 

felt that way during class. Three other black women, around twenty black men, and two 

American Indians began law school with me that fall. We joined four other identifiable students 

of color who were there when we arrived: Hazel Land, a black woman in her second year who 

became the first black woman UF law graduate; Aaron Green and Edward Dawkins, both black 



15 

 

 

men in their third year; and another person of color in his last year. Altogether we were less than 

3% of the law student body. 

In the early days of classes, I loved lugging around the big, thick textbooks, uniformly green, 

blue or burgundy with gold writing on their spines: CONTRACTS, REMEDIES, 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW, CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, FEDERAL TAXATION, ESTATES 

AND TRUSTS, CORPORATIONS, FAMILY LAW. Heavy books for weighty subjects. Black 

letter law codifying white men’s ownership rights in people, things and places. My arms 

wrapped around those mammoth compendiums of law as my mind strained against the 

contradictions embedded in their lofty principles, ideals that paled compared to the ugly reality 

just beyond the classroom door. Still, I loved the stuff that was in the books, the tortured 

language and the tortuous logic, clues to the ultimate crossword puzzle. Slapped in the face over 

and over by race, gender, no money and no institutional power, I rose from every bleary-eyed 

study session more determined to master the Game of Law, to learn to play to win. I was, of 

course, just like my classmates, but I pretended we didn’t have even that in common. Ma had 

often said, “You lay down with dogs, you get up with fleas.” I was willing to wallow with the 

other pound puppies, willing to risk infestation so I could become a top dog.  

As soon as I had digested the notion that truth was not a core concern of law, a new challenge 

cropped up in its place: the necessity for bowing down to the professors almighty. That was 

especially hard for me because the way I saw it, our faculty was a bunch of old white men 

steeped in the South and its traditions. I was pretty sure they weren’t happy to see me there and 

equally certain I would not be showing them deference. Quite the opposite, in fact: my hubris 

flourished. How else to explain my decision very early in my first year, to publicly confront a 

faculty kingpin? 
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Colonel Kenneth B. Hughes was a small man with a sliver crew cut and ramrod posture who 

had a reputation as an expert on the rules of Federal Evidence. Unfortunately, I didn’t have him 

for Evidence. Instead, he had us for Remedies at 8 AM, my first class in the morning, an hour at 

which I was in no mood for foolishness. But foolishness poured from his spigot and drowned us 

three times a week. Morning after morning, we sat there, an audience for his pacing and mindless 

banter, filled with tales of…who the hell knew what?!  

Moving like a marionette keeping time to a metronome, class after class, week after week, 

Hughes ripped through a nonstop soliloquy in a stream of consciousness that was utter nonsense. 

And yet, the white guys all around me laughed uproariously at Hughes’ every antic and 

utterance, egging him on, sometimes with shouts and whistles. And every day, I got madder and 

madder.  

We were the elfin erstwhile soldier’s captive audience and he fulminated, literally onstage, 

nonstop. Looking back, I see that his were practical law lessons after all. He was like the judge 

and we were like the lawyers who had to put up with his inane prattle simply because he had all 

the power in the courtroom. 

Outside of class, black students complained bitterly to each other about Hughes’ racist, sexist 

rants. But each morning, we all crept back into class, turned our attentive faces up to him, and 

took prodigious notes, ever mindful of the necessity for feeding back to him the same drivel he 

had spewed out in the first place. 

The morning I decided I’d had enough, I took my regular seat near the back and waited. Five 

minutes into his spiel, I raised my hand. He ignored me. I kept my hand in the air. He kept 

ignoring me. I anchored my right elbow on the desk and used my right hand to support my left 



17 

 

 

arm, still raised, waiting for the Colonel to acknowledge me and my question. Finally, I just 

interrupted him mid-sentence. I had to practically yell to be heard from the back.  

“Excuse me,” I said. Until then, my classmates’ twittering, snickering and outbursts of 

raucous laughter had, as usual, littered Hughes’ soliloquy. But my voice brought sudden, dead 

silence. Hughes paused momentarily, visibly annoyed by my impertinence. Then resumed his 

lecture without even looking in my direction. 

“Excuse me,” I shouted and, without waiting for acknowledgement or giving him a chance to 

resume, I kept going. 

“Professor Hughes, we’ve been coming in here every day for weeks now. And each day we 

come in here, expecting that you will teach us something about Remedies, something that will be 

on your exam, the bar exam, something that we can use when we leave here to go and practice 

law. 

“I can’t speak for the rest of these people, but I can speak for myself. I’m here on scholarship 

which I worked hard to get. You’re getting good money to teach me something. But so far, 

you’ve taught me nothing about anything that’s in this textbook. 

“We sit here every morning listening to you tell tales of your war exploits and sojourns in 

various places around the world. While some of them are interesting, I don’t see the relevance of 

what you tell us, to what we’re supposed to be learning. So I have three questions. 

“One, are you ever going to teach us Remedies? Two, if not, how do you propose we teach it 

to ourselves? And, three, if you’re not going to teach us and we can’t teach ourselves, perhaps 

you can describe a remedy that involves me getting my money back or getting someone else to 

teach me what I need to know.” 
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The little Colonel glared out over the sea of one hundred twenty-five faces. All around us, 

my classmates’ silence screamed, “Don’t blame us! We got nothing to do with that!” All eyes—

mine included—were glued on him. Without a word, he turned and picked up his monologue 

right where he had left off. I packed my things, nosily walked out, letting the door slam loudly. 

I would like to report that I marched straight to the Dean’s office and obtained swift relief. Or 

that I mounted a campaign to get the prancing Colonel booted from the stage, and that, with him 

gone, we established a new standard for empowered student-teacher relations that is the school’s 

imprimatur even now.   

In fact, I don’t recall much of what happened after then except that a few classmates secretly 

congratulated me for my bravery. A lot more, though, were irate that I would jeopardize their 

grades by infuriating the Colonel who might not limit his retribution to me, but might let it slop 

over on to them. Consequently, most of my classmates gave me the wide berth appropriate for a 

pariah. The last place they wanted Hughes to see them was in my presence. 

~   ~  ~ 

My undergraduate experiences had left me highly accomplished at living in the split between 

black and white, but I needed another whole set of skills to compete in The Man’s World that 

was law school. And long before college, I knew a lot about surviving under trying 

circumstances and beating the odds. Doctors diagnosed me with “heart trouble” in 1st grade and 

warned me not to run, jump, skip, skate, or ride a bike. As soon as I was out of my mother’s 

sight, I did all of that and more. 

One day Ma overhead me worrying aloud that I would just keel over dead. She sat me down 

and explained that I wasn’t going anywhere until God was ready for me and nobody knew when 

that was or had any control over it. So until my name was called, I should just “be a child.” That 
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lesson in fatalism freed me. I figured I might as well live life on my own terms until something 

or somebody made me stop. At law school, slapped in the face every day by the inequities of 

gender, race, and place, I used everything at my disposal and I had a few things to work with. 

Tall and model-thin, I stood eye-to-eye or towered over most of my classmates who 

presumed it was their cultural imperative to dominate our environment. Mini-skirts, halter tops, 

and hot pants were the fashion standards of the era and they rounded out my arsenal that was 

already stocked with a big nappy Afro, an acid tongue, and a ready willingness to verbally 

lacerate the men around me. With my back or midriff bared for battle, I staggered from the 

power of my own presence. Four years of exile in a wilderness of whiteness had taught me many 

things; three years of confrontation with one thousand Southern white men would teach me the 

rest. 

 
L-R: Johnny Farmer (resident revolutionary), me, Beauty Bill Brown, and Jim Sherman 

(white ally) taken in the early, early days of our first year of law school. 

 

It took me a while to figure out which brothas I could count as allies and when. When it came 

to women’s rights, most of them either cast their lot with the prevailing male powers or simply 

dismissed the issue altogether. Maybe I shouldn’t have blamed them, but I did. In the early days, 
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I routinely ran into their dialectic about how wrong it was for a sista to be taking up a lecture hall 

seat that should’ve belonged to a brotha. I routinely cussed them out. 

The law center was a single multistory building of red brick, concrete, and tinted glass. A 

large breezeway wrapped itself around the law school at ground level, following the curve of the 

concrete walls, an expanse interrupted at intervals by first floor lecture halls or stairs leading to 

upper-level classrooms and faculty offices. On the northwest end of the plaza, there was a 

concrete bench that became known as The Bench, the space black students claimed merely by 

congregating there.  

Outside the building, towering pines and shrubs anchored in white sand stretched out around 

us, cool, fragrant reminders that we were in the small town south. A few round stone tables and 

benches were scattered beneath the arbor of trees. 

 

L-R: Tom Moore, Jake Rose, Larry Danielly, and me (1972) 
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Directly opposite The Bench, about fifty feet away, a large glass paneled bulletin board 

conveyed late-breaking law school news. A few feet beyond it, a glass-enclosed foyer opened 

into the cushioned always tension-charged air of the law library. We could see everything from 

The Bench. Talking and laughing between classes, at lunch time, and at the end of the day, we 

saw who went to classes and who didn’t, who studied in the library and for how long, who drove 

up in what car, where they parked it, and when. We started, stopped, and sized rumors. We 

fanned the flames of dissent or hammered out compromises. And we did all of this in clear view 

of the comings and goings of the thousand Southern white men who, except for one sweet gay 

and one curious Midwestern male, never dared join us there.  

The first year the sistas were so few—five total—that we vanished like drops of coffee in a 

vat of milk. But whenever we were all together—the brothas and the sistas on The Bench, in 

study groups, or partying—I felt tied to a grander scheme, united in some noble quest, joined to a 

powerful black whole. I was greatly relieved to find that whatever affliction had set me at 

permanent odds with Lawrence’s assorted black folks had been cured. Even though I was 

comfortable competing with the brothas, I still felt protected by their presence.  

But then one day, being black crossed with being a woman, and I was no longer certain who I 

could count on to stand by me. 
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The Battery 

They were night and day. He was muscles and menace; she was pale and soft. He railed and 

flailed, snagged by assorted demons while she sailed right past all his sticking points. Wherever 

she was, he was, more stalker than doting companion. 

The day he allegedly slapped her and drew blood in a public place, a dozen of us had 

congregated on The Bench as usual. Word spread quickly: a brotha went off on a sista in clear 

view of the white folks. Oh, the humiliation. What to do?  

A no-brainer for me. “Call the cops. We all know the muthafucka’s crazy. Throw his violent 

ass in jail.” The men muttered, weighing the alleged crime against possible punishment, present 

actions against future consequences, ignoring my stunned disbelief that they hadn’t immediately, 

unanimously affirmed the truth of my spontaneous utterance. Who was I kidding?  What brotha 

or sista in the fullness of their racial consciousness would deliver up a brotha to The Man?  

Maybe she had made him lose his temper. (Contributory negligence?) Wasn’t law school 

making all of us kinda crazy?  (Temporary insanity?) Plus, jail would not sit well with the 

Florida Bar. 

Finally one of them sussed it out: “C’mon, yall, this ain’t necessarily, you know, a prima 

facie case. Like, who knew the conditions precedent to the punch? I mean, do we know what 

really happened? (Hearsay?) Did she see it coming? (Assault?) Was it an unconsented touching? 

(Battery?)  Maybe she hit him first.” (Self-defense?)  

So there it was. Already hostage to the future we dreamed, we balanced a brotha’s future 

against a sista’s safety at the point where his fist allegedly exploded against her face. And then 

we let it slide. So did she. And The Man was none the wiser. As for the brotha, between 

changing names and dashikis, he kept his rep for beating up women. 
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Life Savers  

 

 There's no such thing as sitting and talking with men folk just for the fun and joy of 

it. Men are not made like that. 8 

 

Ma was wrong. What she said was not true for me.  

I had one boyfriend, very briefly, my senior year of high school. He had spotted me at the 

main branch of the public library when I was prowling the stacks researching a term paper, so 

that was a beginning that had Ma’s approval. By prom time, though, my boyfriend and I were on 

the rocks and I have half a photo from prom night to prove it. It’s the half with me in it, standing 

next to our piano, dressed in a formal, looking angry and sad, certain I had been stood up. Four 

years in college did nothing to fatten my resume as a sexually alluring or otherwise datable 

creature.  

With such an inauspicious history among boys and men, I looked to law school for what I 

had long desired: male approval, mutual respect and admiration, and companionship. My two 

best male friends provided that in abundance—and platonically. Beyond them, the attention I got 

came simply from being a law school novelty, like a peacock in a dog pound.  

Bennie Lee Jones, Jr. was my first best friend. A CLEO graduate like me, we had met during 

the summer and bonded for life. Together, we slogged through the first year thicket of lessons in 

how-to-be-a-successful-law-student. 

Bennie was from Merigold, MS and had spent his previous summers as a Bible book 

salesman, perfecting a gift of gab that would keep him well- and self-employed for the rest of his 

life. He was a fascinating character study because the thing he wanted most to be was what he 

was clearly born to be, something he really already was: a Mississippi Delta country lawyer, 

shrewd, calculating, deceptively self-effacing as he stayed six steps ahead of where he had you 
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believing he was. Those who were not careful often ended up the butt of his jokes especially 

when they thought they were laughing at him. 

A poet, a U. S. Air Force pilot, and a seer, Bennie spoke Spanish fluently and was a Carlos 

Castenada fan. He had been places and had done things, stupid things, like running with the bulls 

in Pamplona. A lifelong learner, he enjoyed exploring the capacity of humans to know things far 

beyond the constraints of the reality we’re taught to observe. Sometimes when we got bored and 

had nothing else to do, Bennie would take a piece of my jewelry and “read” it for me. Sometimes 

chilling, but always thought-provoking, it was a cheap way to pass time. 

My and Bennie’s friendship initially triggered our macho classmates’ rancor. Sometimes 

they ridiculed him for not “hittin’ it,” one of many violence-laced euphemisms for having sex. 

Other times, the same ones who berated him for not pressing his advantage were on my phone or 

front porch trying to make their move. From scornful badgering to outright begging, their 

collective repertoire was quite impressive. Nothing ever worked. Finally they gave up, dubbing 

Bennie “Smokey the Bear” because, they said, “You won’t burn and you won’t let nobody else 

burn either!” 

I was cute enough, smart enough, and could hold a slamming conversation, but that was 

only part of my lure. The early 1970s wave of feminism was still fresh and there were few 

women, fewer black folks, and even fewer black women in law school. It was clear to me that for 

those guys who did pursue me, their interest was mostly about conquest and domination on the 

one hand and accessibility on the other. Law school kept us pretty much together most of the 

time anyway, so sex would’ve been convenient. And  if that worked out, I’d be back where I 

really belonged, which was any position beneath them, literally and figuratively.  
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It was confusing and tiring in the early days as I walked a thin line between feeling 

complimented and affronted. Every sexual proposition, whether delivered jokingly or with a 

straight face, set me off. Among one thousand southern white men, I was a sista with absolutely 

no sense of humor. As time and circumstances ground us down, the novelty of my presence 

faded and, like everyone else, I settled into my individual struggle to hang on however I could 

for the next three years. Gratefully, the gender line between the brothas and me eventually 

disappeared. Bennie’s role in that was key.  

He was the brother I never had, the sieve through which my male-centered law school life 

passed. When it came out on the other side, under Bennie’s tutelage, I learned how to decipher 

what the hell was going on. We shared meals, triumphs, and tribulations. Unlike some of our 

black classmates with scholarships they used to finance late model cars and luxury apartments, 

Bennie and I were transportation-challenged: We rode bikes. Slim, muscled twin pistons bobbing 

up and down all over campus, my borrowed bike had three speeds, but Bennie’s had one—him. 

Bennie was my protector. One night in the wee hours, I traipsed back and forth between my 

apartment and the laundry room. Waiting for the last load to dry, I was lying on the sofa when a 

rustling beneath my open first-floor window made me snatch back the curtains. A white peeping 

Tom’s face was pressed against my screen. My hysterical phone call brought a pistol-packing 

Bennie running. He spent the rest of the night on guard, dozing in a chair.  

The second time I enlisted Bennie’s security assistance involved a different white guy who 

claimed to be visiting my next door neighbor who wasn’t home. My neighbor’s guest asked to 

use my bathroom before he got back on the highway? I ushered him in and handed him a face 

cloth to freshen up. 
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The bathroom door stayed closed so long, I got nervous. Just as I had gotten up nerve to 

knock, suddenly the door flew open and the guy fled without a word. Behind him he left my tiny 

bathroom dripping in piss—on the floor, in the shower stall, upside the walls, in the face bowl, 

everywhere but in the toilet.  

Furious and silent, for most of the clean up, when he finally was speaking to me again, 

Bennie suggested I get my head examined—and that I get my own pistol. 

I blame Bennie for my first food boycott. Hungry but without money for groceries, we 

scrounged around and came up with a meal from the combined contents of our cupboards: 

chicken and dumplings. Relying on our childhood memories, we concocted a huge pot of thick, 

gooey dumplings and ate until we were both ready to throw up. Years passed before dumplings 

passed my lips again. 

But all that changed the next year. Bennie went home and married his college sweetheart 

and I headed for Mexico City to spend the summer in the law school’s comparative law program 

at Escuela Libre de Derecho. Maligned by activist students at City University of Mexico as a 

rightwing law school set up for the pampered children of government officials and other wealthy 

Mexicans, from what I could see, the activists were right. 

On my own in a country where I did not speak the language, Jacob A. Rose stepped in. Like 

Benny, Jake was black, spoke Spanish fluently, was a lightning quick analyst of human behavior, 

and was great fun to hang out with. So Jake soon became my street savvy guide and fellow law 

student accomplice throughout our studies in Mexico. Jake became my translator, protector, and 

constant—platonic—companion.  
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Rice and Peas 

Jake saved my life that summer in Mexico and he should’ve. After all, listening to him is 

what nearly killed me.  

Where Bennie was wiry muscles, yellow, and 5’10’ like me, Jacob was a 6’4” ebony mass of 

Bahamian muscle who, I would later discover, looked a lot like Pelé, the Brazilian soccer 

superstar. Which explains how Jake and I ended up signing autographs one day in Chapultepec 

Park. And that begins with his advice that I took which landed us in the park in the first place. 

~   ~   ~ 

I had arrived in the cacophonous, choking smog that was Mexico City a few days before 

Jacob. I spoke enough Spanish to exchange money, read a map, and buy a bus token. I had done 

no research on my destination, so was clueless about Mexico’s culture, specifically its buttoned-

down Catholicism. Consequently, I lumbered through my first days in my new city like an 

Aardvark in a Tiffany showroom.  

In a metropolis where las senoritas walked arm-in-arm, trailed by ubiquitous old lady 

chaperones wearing layers of lace, ankle-length garments, and head scarves, I pranced the streets 

bareheaded, alone, and in mini-dresses so short, they came with matching panties. Even worse, 

where the national average height seemed to top out at 5’4”, I was nearly six feet. The challenges 

brought on by my heightened visibility popped up my first day in town.  

Mira! Mira! La Negrita mas grande! (Hey, yall! Check out that big black woman!) That was 

introduction to Spanish as it applied to me, a towering Brobdingnagian in a sea of Lilliputians. 

 I had left my hotel to go for a short walk. Hours later, I was still wandering around in a 

panic, trying to look like I knew where I was going. Until I got called out, I had convinced 

myself I was blending in with the other brown people around me who were out for a Sunday 
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stroll. But “Mira! Mira!”ended that fantasy. From then on, it was impossible to ignore people 

who were so stunned to see me, they stopped to stare.  

Exhausted and furious, I fled down a side street, looking for somewhere out of their sight to 

fall apart. I ducked inside the first doorway I saw and stood there trembling. When no tears 

came, I pulled myself together and kept going. A few blocks later, I stumbled upon Paseo de la 

Reforma, the main boulevard that split the city from one end to the other and the street my hotel 

faced. Spying people waiting at a bus stop, I decided to catch a bus and ride until I saw 

something on the street I could find on the map hidden in my purse. 

 Busses roared up, people swarmed, and busses dashed off with passengers clinging to the 

outside, front and back. I pretended not to see passengers on the busses pointing and snickering 

at me like I was a zoo attraction. I had gotten good at not seeing people see me during my four-

year stint in Wisconsin. But this was unnerving in a different way because the Mexican 

onlookers were brown like me and way too enthusiastic. Gradually, I noticed the people standing 

at the bus stop seemed to be looking past me and laughing. I whirled around to see three guys 

lined up behind me in various stages of repose.  

Two leaned at a forty-five degree angle against a building, their heads so twisted, they looked 

like owls tucked in for the night. The third spectator was lying on the sidewalk, propped up on 

his elbow with his head resting in his hand. All of them had the same goal: trying to get a better 

view beneath my thigh high dress. Instead of dressing differently, I got Jacob to teach me the 

worst Spanish cussing he knew. 

Jacob shared a beautiful, sunny, large apartment in a posh neighborhood with two white guys 

who were students in our program. They even had that rarest of Mexican luxuries, un telefono, 
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and a common commodity, a maid who cleaned, cooked, and glared disapprovingly each time 

Jacob (who paid a third of her salary) and I darkened the doorway.  

After purchasing my roundtrip plane ticket and prepaying for my hotel, I was starring in a 

familiar drama with a tiresome plot: I was close to broke because my financial aid could not keep 

track of me. Daily calls back to my University of Florida financial aid counselor met with the 

same assurances: the check for my room and board would soon follow me to Mexico. Until then, 

though, all I had was the money in my pocket. So, all week, Jacob and I searched for living 

quarters in my price range as my days at the hotel ran out. We found nada, nothing. So when 

Sunday rolled around and I checked out of the hotel, I was stranded.  

To this day, I have no recollection of how we found the room for me to rent. In a rundown 

neighborhood on the other side of town from Jacob, I was ecstatic when the landlord said he 

didn’t want a security deposit. Instead, he demanded all of the rent upfront for my three-month 

lease. Jacob protested. He cajoled. He invoked the names of various Catholic saints and martyrs, 

but the landlord remained resolute. School was starting the next day and we knew we had no 

bargaining position. I forked over all of my cash except for a few dollars. In exchange, I got a 

room directly above a mechanics’ bay in an auto repair garage.  

Dismal and windowless, mi cuarto was a gray concrete cubicle barely big enough for the 

narrow cot that was its sole furnishing. A dim bulb hung from a frayed cord in the ceiling. In the 

corner behind a cloth curtain remnant, a toilet and a washbasin rounded out my amenities. I had 

water every day from 7AM to 7PM with no guarantee on the weekend. 

 In a few days, I had grown used to the constant clanging and shouting below that began at 

dawn and accompanied my morning ablutions. So it took a while one morning for me to notice 
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someone yelling the same thing over and over, like a chant, beneath my room. I cracked the door 

and peeked over the railing into the upturned wide-open mouth of my landlord, the mechanic.  

 “Gringa! Gringa! Telefono!” Hey, American (outsider/white woman/in-any-event-not-a-

Mexican), telephone! It was Jacob. 

When I was summoned to the phone, I had been lost in the luxury of brushing my teeth. A 

few days earlier, I had confessed to Jacob that I hadn’t brushed my teeth since taking up 

residence in the auto repair shop because I was afraid to drink the beige water coming from my 

faucet. Untreated water, raw vegetables, fruits without skin, and ice were on a long list of things 

that people and pamphlets had warned me to never let pass my lips in Mexico. To do so was to 

risk spontaneous disembowelment from “Montezuma’s Revenge,” a body-wracking, ass-kicking 

form of amoebic dysentery. But Jacob blew that off.  

“Oh, come now, Bernestine, you can’t be serious! Haven’t you heard? ‘Just swish. Don’t 

swallow.’ As long as you spit it out, no problema.”   

Jacob had also dismissed my concern about not speaking Spanish, assuring me that he spoke 

it well enough for both of us. And he did. Any vocabulary he hadn’t yet mastered, he filled in 

with his elastic face and hilariously inventive pantomimes. My constant companion in and 

outside class, Jacob was my rock.  

Under his tutelage, my vocabulary and my confidence increased exponentially. One of our 

first proud achievements came when, at my request, he taught me to curse convincingly. 

Pindejo! Chinga te, hijo de chingada! Hijo de puta!—all part of a necessary line of defense once 

I took to walking the streets alone again. 

~  ~   ~ 
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Jacob Alloicious Marcellus Addington Rose, Jr.—Jacobo in Mexico—was capable of 

persuading people to do foolish things. I turned out to be one of those people because, despite 

witnessing his awesome talent, I was not impervious to it. And so, our first week in Mexico, 

Jacob, who wore a size 14-EEEE shoe, convinced me to go shopping for sneakers with him. Of 

course, we traipsed all over town, never finding anything that came even close to a size 14, much 

less one with all those E’s. Though he was right about neither the brown water nor the super-

sized footwear, it was the water that did me in.  

It was a good thing nausea had stolen my appetite because I had no money for food. By the 

end of the month, odors from restaurants or from meals homeless people cooked on the street 

folded me over in dry heaves. Waves of vomiting and diarrhea drained me dry day by day. I 

couldn’t concentrate in class and eventually couldn’t even get up to go to class. I stayed curled 

up in bed or curled up next to my filthy toilet.  

More desperate calls to the UF financial aid office looking for my school loan were produced 

nothing. I was literally down to a few pesos and Jacob was as broke as I was. Finally, we agreed 

that we had no choice except to ask a professor for a loan to tide us over. 

The law professor was not home, but his wife was. She was worn out from having spent a 

frustrating day trying to arrange the shipment of thousands of dollars worth of hand-carved 

wooden furniture from Mexico City back to the U. S.. They were furnishing a wing in their 

residence devoted to artifacts accumulated during trips throughout the Third World. Finally, 

Jacob came right out and asked her for a loan. She gave us the change from her coin purse, four 

hundred centavos, about fifty cents in U. S. currency. We held ourselves together until we were 

back down on the street, where we exploded in laughter, humiliated by our ludicrous situation. 

Four hundred pesos wouldn’t even buy us a sandwich. We decided to steal some food.  
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Homeless families set up their makeshift cooking stoves on the streets around my 

neighborhood each evening. Discarded pieces of metal, smoke-blackened cans and lids stacked 

neatly nearby served as their cookware and dishes. Frying cornmeal and sizzling meat of 

indecipherable origin were the targets of our theft. Only a few weeks earlier, I had passed the 

same corners, stepped down off the same curbs, averting my head to avoid witnessing the plight 

of families forced to feed themselves on the street. Now, with hunger trumping nausea, I planned 

to snatch their food and run.  

No such luck. The hungry smell hunger and, having locked in on our scent, the sidewalk 

diners stalked us until they were satisfied they had repelled our threat. 

Jacob and I retreated to fresh fruit and vegetable stands, where we circled them, furtive and 

longing. Hulking black gringo vultures, waiting for a distracted vendor, praying for a chance to 

grab some fruit and flee. Our prayers went unanswered. 

Despondent and discouraged, we settled for a legitimate purchase that depleted our recently 

acquired loan: a roll of French peanuts and a pack of cheese and crackers, split equally, piece by 

piece, between the two of us. 

Our Mexico studies were nearly over. Then, two weeks before we left, Flora, Jacob’s fiancée, 

sent him some money. We leapt and clowned in the street like we had hit the lottery and then 

went grocery shopping near Jacob’s apartment. He figured out down to the centavo how to get as 

much food as we could for his money. Although I was too sick and weak to help, I dragged along 

behind him, anticipating our feast. Back at his place, I sat at the table, often with my head 

between my knees to fight off waves of nausea, and watched him cook rice and peas, beans and 

franks, cabbage, potato soup, and toast. 
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The last two items were a nod to my seriously deteriorated condition. Jacob had finally 

harangued me into going to see a doctor once I learned even tourists could receive free medical 

attention under Mexico’s national health insurance plan. His diagnosis was quick: amoebic 

dysentery. He advised me to immediately go to the hospital or go back to the U. S. for medical 

treatment. Then he gave me some fat white pills and prescribed a diet of potato soup, toast and 

tea. I left his office determined to stay in Mexico until I finished what I came to do. 

With my cheek flat against the coolness of Jacob’s kitchen table, I popped one of my fat 

white pills as he prepared the meal made possible through Flora’s generosity. That summer, we 

had both begun our second year of law school, I was twenty-three, extremely ill, and, until that 

moment, I had been starving in a foreign land. I felt like bawling, but I had neither the strength 

nor the bodily fluids required to cry. 

After Jacob served our plates, we said our blessings and, for the first few moments, wolfed 

down our food in silence. Jacob dished up seconds, explaining that his servings were bigger than 

mine because he was physically bigger and therefore required more nourishment. Apparently 

revived by my first helping, I rallied sufficiently to argue for an equal share. When it was clear 

that wasn’t working, I threatened to kick his ass if he served himself one more bean, one more 

gain of rice, one more chunk of frankfurter than he served me.  

So what if it was his money, sent by his fiancée, cooked and served by him in his own 

kitchen? I was starving, I argued, not stupid. And I was willing to pit my scarecrow self against 

his nearly two hundred pounds of pure muscle to prove my point. Deferring to my hunger-

induced dementia, Jacob relented and patiently apportioned the various foodstuffs, counting off 

each piece of meat, spooning a slice of frank onto his plate then one onto mine and so on until 

there was nothing left. 
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When the meal was over, we vowed, tearfully, to always remember what it felt like to be 

destitute and hungry, to honor that life’s lesson by eating that same meal every year on the same 

date, regardless of where in the world we were, forever after. 

My illness had left me pale, frail, and needing sun. Cooped up in my hotel room by severe 

diarrhea and vomiting, I had lost twenty pounds in thirty days and was still shedding weight. One 

Sunday afternoon, Jacob came by and coaxed me out for a walk in the park.  

Chapultepec Park was Mexico City’s Central Park, filled with families frolicking on a lovely 

late summer afternoon. When we stopped to rest, a crowd of people began milling around us, 

smiling, chattering, and growing increasingly excited. I turned to Jacob.  

“What’s the matter with these people? Why are they all up on us?” 

“Pelé,” he responded without looking at me. The grin he turned on the throng ate most of the 

lower half of his face. Bodies pressed into us from all sides, jostling me back and forth.  

“What’s a pay-lay?”  

“Oh, come now, Bernestine, don’t tell me you don’t know who Pelé is!” Pelé sprang forth in 

italics, causing the crowd to twitter and surge in response.  

“I don’t know who Pelé is.” 

“I believe one could safely describe him as the greatest soccer player in the world.” 

“Okay. So that has what to do with all of these rude people?” 

“Apparently, they think I’m Pelé and they want my autograph.” Jacob continued bathing the 

crowd with his high wattage smile, his eyes sweeping left to right, as he signed pieces of paper 

being pressed on him. 

“Well, tell them you’re not so they’ll back off.”  
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“And disappoint all of these fine Mexican families on their Sunday outing? Come now, 

Bernestine. Wouldn’t that be cruel? Look how thrilled they are to touch a star. It’s harmless, eh? 

What’s a few forgeries when you can make so many people so happy for so little effort? After all 

the hospitality they’ve extended to us throughout our stay here, it just wouldn’t be right to deny 

them this.” 

“Well, you can stay, but I’m leaving.” I began pushing past outstretched arms and rapturous 

faces. 

“Bernestine, wait! Listen! They want you, too!” Jacob reached above the throng and grabbed 

my shoulder to pull me back.   

“Yeah, right.”  

“No, listen to them: On-hay-lah-dah-vees! On-hay-lah-dah-vees! Si, es verdad! Es Angela 

Davis!” Yes, it’s true. This is Angela Davis. Jacob waved them closer. 

So there I was, with my big Afro, wire rim glasses, a micro-mini barely covering my 

emaciated butt—“Angela Davis” back-to-back with “Pelé,” signing autographs in the park.  

Back in the U. S. a week later, my diagnosis was confirmed and I finished out the summer in 

bed.  

Jacob had been wrong about the sneakers and wrong about the water. It had nearly killed me 

to take his advice, but he had also taught me a language and saved my life. Perhaps, most 

importantly, both Bennie Jones and Jacob Rose taught me that not only could men and women 

be friends, but we could also share a love as deep, lasting, and mutually nourishing as any I 

shared with my women friends.  

For Jacob and me, there was one more lesson, a hard, hard one, we would learn together. 

Before that one, though, there was one I had to learn by myself.     
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I returned to Gainesville in the fall to resume my second year of law school, which I had 

actually begun with my studies in Mexico. To understand what happened to me next, though, 

requires that we suspend my story here and go back to 1949.  

1949 was the year I was born and it also happened to be the year Virgil Darnell Hawkins 

applied for admission to law school at the University of Florida. By all accounts he was more 

than qualified except for one thing: he wasn’t white.  

To understand what happened to me between the summer of 1972 and the summer of 1973, 

one has to first know the story of Virgil Hawkins. 
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Virgil D. Hawkins 

Not too long ago, if you were born black and Southern, by the time you reached a certain 

age, you understood that if you dared to also be brave, the South—if it acknowledged you at 

all—loved you best when you were dead.9 Once upon a time, that was the only lesson I took 

from the story of Virgil Darnell Hawkins.  

In the countless rewrites of this chapter, however, a deeper awareness has emerged. Now I 

understand it would be shameful to allow such a constrained perspective to be the final frame for 

viewing the full significance of Mr. Hawkins’ awesome legacy.  

Virgil Hawkins established an endless prism of possibilities for every law student of color 

who has ever or will ever apply to, attend, or graduate from the University of Florida law school. 

So far his legacy has endured for more than half a century. And as long as there is a University 

of Florida law school and as long as these “Hawkins’ lawyers”—products of the University of 

Florida—ply their trade anywhere on the planet, there, too—indeed, there first—is Virgil Darnell 

Hawkins. 

~ ~ ~ 

When Virgil Hawkins, a black Florida college graduate with a master’s degree, applied for 

admission to the University of Florida law school in April 1949, he had no idea the price he 

would pay to win for others what he would ultimately be forced to give up for himself.  

Writing in 2004, St. Petersburg Times columnist Martin Dyckman described the Florida 

Supreme Court that propped up the decade-long conspiracy between white supremacist lower 

court judges, lawyers, legislators, and university officials who succeeded in crushing Hawkins’ 

dream and driving him from the state: “It is doubtful that any institution in the South was more 

resolutely racist. No Southern court fought desegregation longer or harder.”10  
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A college administrator and civil rights activist with impeccable credentials, Hawkins had a 

good idea of what he was up against. Yet, against all odds, he believed justice would prevail and 

that he would win in the end. After all, his lawyer was Charles Hamilton Houston, a fiercely 

brilliant legal strategist who had come looking for him. 

~ ~ ~ 

Charles Hamilton Houston 

By the time Charles Hamilton Houston took over Hawkins’ case, Houston had been 

executing his desegregation strategy for more than twenty years. And while outstanding 

performance had become Houston’s hallmark, he did not work alone. Training new, young black 

lawyers and teaming with experienced ones across the U. S., Houston ensured an enduring 

capacity, as deep as it was wide, for successful, aggressive civil rights litigation. When he 

arrived in Gainesville, Houston’s carefully cultivated, nationwide network of black civil rights 

lawyers was quietly but steadily, case by case, laying the groundwork for what would eventually 

become the most famous case in U. S. history—Brown  v. Board of Education.  

  Houtson’s life of excellence had begun early. He graduated from high school at fifteen; he 

was the only black student in Amherst College’s class of 1915 where he was one of six 

valedictorians; he won a spot in the first black military officers training school during WWI; 

following his military service, he entered Harvard Law School where he became the first black 

member of the Harvard Law Review editorial board and then capped his law studies by earning a 

doctorate of law—the highest degree possible—from Harvard Law School a year later. In 1924 

Houston joined the Howard Law School faculty and five years later, he became Vice Dean.11  

While still a law professor, Houston began handling cases for the National Association for 

the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP). Then, in 1935 at age 40, he became special 
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counsel to the NAACP and began his odyssey to overturn the U. S. Supreme Court’s 1895 

“separate but equal” decision in Plessy v. Ferguson, which, ironically, had been decided the year 

he was born.12 

Plessy permitted states to maintain racially segregated public facilities as long as they 

provided comparable—i.e., “separate but equal”—facilities for colored citizens.13 Houston’s first 

line of attack was against segregated graduate and professional schools of state universities. His 

goal was simple: to show that their separate facilities were not equal. He targeted graduate 

schools because he believed there would be less resistance in higher education since fewer 

students would be interested in or able to afford graduate study.  He also believed white judges 

understood the importance of an educated ruling elite—as they certainly considered themselves 

to be—and would, therefore, be sympathetic to similar aspirations in overachieving black role 

models.  

Houston used the NAACP’s local branches to find black plaintiffs in states where he had 

determined they had the best chances for winning lawsuits. Then patiently and methodically, he 

began filing cases across the country on behalf of those plaintiffs, qualified black applicants to 

white graduate schools that had refused to admit them. The U. S. Supreme Court’s decision in 

favor of his client in State of Missouri ex rel. Gaines v. Canada was one of Houston’s early, 

major victories.14   

~ ~ ~ 

Lloyd Gaines 

In 1935 Lloyd Gaines graduated from Lincoln University, a college the State of Missouri had 

proudly claimed, made it “the only State in the Union which has established a separate university 

for negroes [sic] on the same basis as the state university for white students.”15
 But Gaines 
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wanted to go on to law school and Missouri didn’t have one for Negroes. So, Gaines applied to  

the segregated University of Missouri. Except for his race, Gaines was qualified for admission to 

law school based on his work and credits from Lincoln University.16   

Gaines’ lawyers argued that because the state furnished a legal education for its white 

students, the Equal Protection clause of the U. S. Constitution required the state to provide 

Gaines with a “substantially equal” opportunity for studying law. The trial court disagreed. 

Instead, in deciding against Gaines, the court said that the state had satisfied its obligation to him 

by merely declaring +its intent to establish a law school for Negroes at Lincoln University as 

soon as there were enough Negro law students to justify it;17 and, in the meantime, by offering to 

pay Gaines’ tuition at any law school in adjacent states. 18  The appellate court and the Missouri 

Supreme Court agreed with the trial court, so Gaines appealed to the U. S. Supreme Court.  

The U. S. Supreme Court overturned the lower courts’ decisions and sent the Gaines case all 

the way back down to the trial court for a rehearing. The Court also sent along instructions about 

the law the trial court was to follow in making its decision: “a mere declaration” of the state’s 

intent to someday establish a law school at Lincoln was not enough to provide Gaines the Equal 

Protection guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment.19 Until there was a bricks-and-mortar law 

school, the Court said, the Missouri legislature’s statement of intent and its offer to pay to ship 

Gaines off to another state’s law school were irrelevant. Unless Missouri produced a Negro law 

school that was “substantially equal” to the white one at the University o f Missouri, the 

university would be forced to admit Gaines.  

The Gaines legal team was euphoric. Among those celebrating the landmark decision 

alongside Houston was his former Howard University law student turned protégé, Thurgood 

Marshall. Just two years earlier, in 1936, Houston had talked Marshall into joining him at the 
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NAACP as Assistant Special Counsel to help handle the surge in litigation, lectures, and 

administrative matters occasioned by Houston’s legal successes. The Gaines win fueled their 

winning trajectory. Within months, however, the person at the center of the case, was missing. 

To this day, Lloyd Gaines has never been found.  

He mysteriously vanished in the spring of 1939. Without Gaines the Gaines case had to be 

dismissed. Speculation ran rampant about the circumstances of his disappearance. Some claimed 

he had been bribed—or even murdered—by white supremacists determined to end his litigation 

one way or another. Others claimed Gaines had started life anew under an assumed identity in 

another country. Still others surmised that he had committed suicide. Just as Gaines’ 

whereabouts were left in doubt, so, too, was the issue of exactly what a Negro law school looked 

like when it was “substantially equal” to a segregated white one.   

Recruiting Marshall proved prophetic, ultimately reverberating across history in ways neither 

he nor Houston is likely to have ever imagined. When Houston’s declining health increasingly 

sidelined him over the next decade, Marshall and a still growing cadre of black civil rights 

lawyers kept aggressively building upon Houston’s platform. Specifically, they remained 

focused on universities, targeting eighteen other states whose “separate but equal” policies 

barred blacks from professional schools. And they kept an eye out for other plaintiffs who, like 

Gaines, were eligible for admission to graduate school but for their race. In Oklahoma, Ada Lois 

Sipuel was the perfect plaintiff. 

Ada Lois Sipuel 

When Ada Lois Sipuel, a black woman, was denied admission to the University of Oklahoma 

School of Law, her Oklahoma team of NAACP lawyers turned to Thurgood Marshall, who was 

by then at the helm of the NAACP Legal Defense Fund (LDF). Marshall appealed Sipuel’s case 
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through the state courts up to the U. S. Supreme Court where he argued it in 1948.20 Only four 

days after oral argument, the Supreme Court sided with Marshall in a unanimous, one-page 

decision remarkable for its brevity and straightforwardness. Relying solely on Gaines as 

precedence, the Court in Sipuel v. Board of Regents of the University of Oklahoma declared not 

only that Sipuel was entitled to be admitted to law school, but also that she should be admitted 

without delay.21 “It was the Sipuel decision that pronounced that states were constitutionally 

obligated to provide graduate studies to African Americans at the same time they were offered to 

white citizens.” (Emphasis original.)22 

Sipuel gave birth to a succession of landmark decisions in lawsuits Houston and Marshall had 

begun shepherding through state courts, some as many as fifteen years earlier. Meanwhile, the 

Legal Defense Fund had begun quietly extending its reach into the previously forbidden territory 

of elementary and high schools. Together, these cases struck down segregation in public 

education from first grade through graduate school and represented Charles Hamilton Houston’s 

astonishing foresight, his legacy fulfilled: McLaurin v. Board of Regents of the University of 

Oklahoma,23 Sweatt v. Painter in Texas,24 Briggs v. Elliott in South Carolina,25 Brown v. the 

Board of Education in Kansas,26 Davis et al. v. School Board of Prince Edward County in 

Virginia,27 and Bolling v. Sharp in the District of Columbia.28  

Energized by their string of successes, Marshall and his team turned their attention towards 

tougher, even more hostile territory: the deep South. When they chose Florida as the beachhead 

for penetrating that citadel of segregation, they chose Virgil Darnell Hawkins’ case as their point 

of entry.29 

~   ~    ~ 
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The summer I was born, 39-year old Virgil Hawkins applied to the University of Florida 

College of Law. Like Lloyd Gaines and Ada Lois Sipuel, Hawkins was a model plaintiff as were 

the six other black Floridians the NAACP chose to apply to various UF graduate schools at the 

same time. A well-educated, former high school teacher, Hawkins was, again like the others, an 

upstanding citizen willing to jeopardize his life and his future to become one of the names and 

faces—and a target of wrath—in a desegregation lawsuit. The Florida Board of Control denied 

admission to all of them.30  

The Board did not stop there, however. It offered Hawkins two choices: they would pay for 

his law education anywhere but Florida or he could wait and go to the Negro law school they 

were eventually planning to build.31 The Board’s offer was neither new nor creative as it was the 

same one NAACP lawyers had defeated ten years earlier in the Gaines case. Hawkins rejected it 

and eventually appealed to the Florida Supreme Court for an order directing his admission to the 

University of Florida law school. As he awaited the Florida high court’s decision, Hawkins’ 

fortune seemed to have turned when the U. S. Supreme Court decided two cases that should have 

made Hawkins’ case a slam-dunk. 

In the dozen years since the Gaines decision, legal teams headed by Charles Houston and 

Thurgood Marshall had created a stream of litigation that wound through lower courts in 

strategic jurisdictions across the country and ended in the U. S. Supreme Court. While the 

Florida Supreme Court was still deliberating in Hawkins, the U. S. Supreme Court decided 

Sweatt v. Painter 32 and McLaurin v. Oklahoma State Regents.33  

Herman Sweatt and G. W. McLaurin 

Herman Marion Sweatt, a black postal worker, mounted a two-pronged challenge in Sweatt. 

He argued that it was a violation of the Equal Protection clause to refuse to admit him to 
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University of Texas Law School and to insist that he enroll instead at a brand new—and, 

therefore, clearly inferior—law school for Negroes.34  

Meanwhile, in neighboring Oklahoma, G. W. McLaurin targeted the University of Oklahoma 

School of Education. In McLaurin v. Oklahoma State Regents, McLaurin, a 60-year old black 

student, filed suit to contest the “separate but equal” accommodations the university had 

provided for him. After the courts forced the university to admit McLaurin, the university 

retaliated by sitting him at a desk in a hallway just outside the classroom, eat alone in the 

cafeteria, and study at a  eat in the cafeteria when no white students were present, and study only 

at a designated desk on the mezzanine floor of the library.35  

Writing for a unanimous Court, Chief Justice Vinson declared neither Texas nor Oklahoma 

offered its Negro citizens the kind of educations Gaines required—i.e., educations “substantially 

equal” to those available to white students attending segregated state universities. In McLaurin v. 

Regents of the University of Oklahoma, the Supreme Court gave further notice that states with 

segregated universities could no longer force their black residents across state lines for graduate 

education.36 Consequently, the Court held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment required the University of Texas to admit Sweatt and that it required the University 

of Oklahoma to remove the barriers it had erected to prevent McLaurin from full participation 

like every other student. 37  

And so it was that Sweatt v. Painter and McLaurin v. Regents of the University of Oklahoma, 

decided on the same day, marked the end of the separate but equal doctrine of Plessy v. 

Ferguson in graduate and professional education. Three weeks later, the University of Missouri 

finally opened its doors to its first black students.38 Despite being thwarted more than a decade 
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earlier by Lloyd Gaines’ disappearance, Charles Hamilton Houston’s vision had finally come to 

pass. This time, however, Houston was the one missing from the celebration.  

Following a second heart attack two months before the Supreme Court handed down its 

decisions in Sweatt and McLaurin, Charles Hamilton Houston had died, at fifty-four, on April 

22, 1950.39  

~   ~   ~ 

Sweatt and McLaurin were still cause for jubilation. Their one-two combination punch to the 

gut of white supremacy should have sent the racial Goliaths staggering. After all, the Supreme 

Court had rejected outright the signature tactics of states determined to beat back desegregation. 

No more sprouting black graduate schools overnight, no more banishing blacks to other states for 

the crime of desiring a graduate degree, and no more cordoning them off just outside classroom 

doors.40  

Florida segregationists had suffered an additional blow because of the brief the State of 

Florida had filed supporting Texas’ position in Sweatt. Consequently, when the Supreme Court 

threw out Texas’ arguments in June 1950, it trashed as well Florida’s anti-integration 

arguments.41  

Yet, despite all of that, two months later, on August 1, 1950, the Florida Supreme Court 

affirmed the Board of Control’s decision denying Hawkins admission. At the time of their 

decision, any twenty-one-year old male with a college degree was qualified for admission to the 

University of Florida law school. That he also had to be white was so obvious it did not require 

stating. To make certain that everyone understood nothing had changed as far as they were 

concerned, however, the Florida Supreme Court noted specifically that although Hawkins 

possessed “all the scholastic, moral and other qualifications” for admission, it was his “race and 



46 

 

 

color” that made him unfit to study law at their segregated state law school. 42 The necessity of 

whiteness was made plain on the page in an act of open, lawless defiance of the United States 

Supreme Court. 

And still the Florida Supreme Court hadn’t finished. Rather, to impress the litigants with the 

full measure of its disregard for the U. S. Supreme Court’s rulings, the Florida high court 

presented Hawkins with precisely those choices outlawed months earlier in Sweatt and 

McLaurin: the state would pay for his education anywhere but Florida or he could hold tight until 

he was admitted to the black law school yet to be constructed.43 The way the Florida jurists saw 

it, their plan satisfied the Equal Protection Clause and it should have satisfied Hawkins too. 44  

Hawkins still refused to surrender. For that, he had to be punished further. In a clever 

procedural manipulation of the law, the Florida Supreme Court refused to make its ruling final 

and thereby blocked Hawkins from appealing the decision to the U. S. Supreme Court.45 Virgil 

Hawkins was out of luck and out of justice. Clearly, the Florida Supreme Court was also 

counting on Hawkins, at age forty, running out of time.  

For a while, that strategy worked, effectively snagging Hawkins in legal limbo. After two 

years and more appeals to the same hostile judges, Hawkins wrangled the final decision from 

them that allowed him to appeal his case to the U. S. Supreme Court in June 1952. 46   

While Florida courts were in step with national judicial sentiment—the necessity for 

whiteness kept popping up on the pages of court decisions in state a fter state—what set the 

Florida judiciary apart was its willful, open defiance of the U. S. Supreme Court. Like Hawkins, 

they refused to surrender, insisting that mere blackness ruined folks for all sorts of endeavors 

save grueling work, dirt poor wages, deference to all things white, and a bottomless capacity for 

longsuffering. 
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Hawkins’ legal team had decades of experience arguing civil rights cases against bellicose 

belligerents in racially antagonistic courtrooms across the nation. But Florida showed the m a 

different face: virulent, entrenched racism propped up by lawless courts. Constance Baker 

Motley, a young member of the Hawkins team of lawyers who would eventually become the first 

black woman appointed a federal judge, recalled her first impressions of Florida law. It was, she 

said, “our first brush with massive resistance.”47 

Houston had initially targeted graduate schools because he believed they would be the least 

resistant to integration. He also believed black applicants seeking admission to graduate schools 

had two advantages: one, most whites never even thought about education at that level, so 

wouldn’t be paying enough attention to pick a fight; and two, white judges understood the 

importance of an educated ruling elite—as they certainly considered themselves to be—and 

were, therefore, more likely to be sympathetic to such overachieving black role models.  

When he assumed leadership of the NAACP Legal Defense and Education Fund (LDF), 

Thurgood Marshall’s goal was to finish what Houston had started. Determined to desegregate the 

rest of the public schools in the U. S., Marshall’s lawyers swarmed the country, seeking 

desegregation cases in cities and towns to which they added LDF’s legal muscle. Together LDF 

and local civil rights lawyers aggressively pushed cases forward. 

Targeting segregated primary and secondary public school systems meant the lawyers had 

finally worked their way to the very heart of resistance and they had come prepared with a 

meticulously trained convoy of successful litigators who still drew on Houston’s legacy of 

brilliant strategy and bulldog determination. They had configured themselves into teams best 

suited to mow down any defense the opposition could muster.  
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The astonishing effectiveness of their legal shape-shifting is best illustrated by a partial 

listing of the attorneys of record in school desegregation cases argued before the U. S. Supreme 

Court in the early 1950s. Among them were Constance Baker Motley, Robert L. Carter, 

Spottswood W. Robinson, III, James M. Nabrit, Jr., Amos T. Hall, Oliver W. Hill, W. J. Durham, 

George E. C. Hayes, George M. Johnson, William R. Ming, Jr., Frank D. Reeves, and Arthur D. 

Shores.  

In 1952 Spottswood Robinson, Robert Carter, Thurgood Marshall, and Arthur Shores 

represented the appellants before the U. S. Supreme Court in the South Carolina case of Briggs v. 

Elliott.48 Carter and Marshall teamed up again in 1954 to represent Linda Brown of Kansas in 

Brown v. Board of Education.49 From Delaware came Louis L. Redding in Francis B. Gebhart, 

et al. v. Ethel Louise Belton et al.50
  

Over in Washington, DC, seven lawyers joined Carter, Marshall, and Robinson to round out 

the nine-member team in Bolling et al. v. C. Melvin Sharpes, et al. in 1954.51 They were George 

E. C. Hayes, George M. Johnson, William R. Ming, Jr., James M. Nabrit, Jr., Frank D. Reeves, 

and Oliver W. Hill. Finally, further down the east coast, Spottswood Robinson shepherded the 

Virginia case of Dorothy E. Davis v. County School Board of Prince Edward County to the U. S. 

Supreme Court.52  

Again, they were plowing familiar terrain. As far back as 1938 Amos T. Hall had joined 

Marshall and Carter in Missouri’s McLaurin case and in Oklahoma’s Sipuel litigation in 1949. 

And a few months earlier, W. J. Durham had joined with them in the 1950 Texas case of Sweatt 

v. Painter.  
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Thurgood Marshall emerged as the leader of this experienced, successful cadre of lawyers 

who made real the fullness of Charles Hamilton Houston’s vision: a case-by-case assault on 

segregated public educational institutions from first grade through graduate studies.   

So when Robert L. Carter53 and Marshall stood before the U. S. Supreme Court in December 

1952 and December 1953 to argue on behalf of Linda Brown and Virgil Hawkins, they stood 

firmly in history on a solid foundation of legal victories linked s mentors and protégés. Their 

presence was the culmination of a twenty-year sweep that had begun in 1935 in State of Missouri 

ex rel. Gaines v. Canada54 in a vision ignited by their friend and teacher, Charles Hamilton 

Houston. 

The list is much longer of those who fought alongside these noted lawyers but who are never 

mentioned. It includes the lawyers who performed research and otherwise toiled in the 

background, but who never signed pleadings they drafted and who never once appeared in court 

on cases they had arduously prepared. It includes many thousands of people who were not 

lawyers, but whose work was nevertheless indispensable in moving the cases forward. 

Perpetually absent as well are the women, lawyers or not. Unmentioned, too, are the families and 

others whose lives and relationships were shattered by the spirit-crushing work of toppling white 

supremacy.  

Volumes of crucial details are lost in the arid language of law. Ordinary people turned fierce 

freedom fighters are buried in Supreme Court opinions labeling them “petitioners,” 

“respondents,” “appellants,” and “appellees.” Their last names have become their only names, as 

in the case of seven-year old Linda Brown of Kansas, the “Brown” in the legendary Brown v. 

Board of Education.55  
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As it is for the clients, so it is even more for their lawyers, consigned to anonymity except 

when their identities are occasionally ferreted out to celebrate a decade or a century of time 

passing. Charles Hamilton Houston’s peers and protégés were the faces, voices, and minds of the 

most significant civil rights victories in world history. Yet, more than half a century later, even 

though their accomplishments remain unsurpassed, their names remain largely unknown even 

among lawyers. Despite being shunted to the shadows as individuals, however, the magnitude of 

their collective contributions have yet to be matched.  

~   ~  ~ 

 Beyond merely surviving his death, Charles Hamilton Houston’s master plan for 

demolishing “separate but equal” flourished. Four years after his death, in the spring of 1954, 

decades of persistence by Marshall and his battalion of legal strategists bore fruit in Brown v. 

Board of Education. In that case, the U. S. Supreme Court struck down state laws requiring 

public school segregation even though the physical facilities and other "tangible" factors of the 

schools might be equal.56 “We conclude that in the field of public education the doctrine of 

'separate but equal' has no place. Separate educational facilities are inherently unequal.”57 By 

placing offending school districts under control of federal judges, the Supreme Court left no 

room for white supremacist school boards to escape.  

Despite the best efforts of the vindictive Florida Supreme Court, in 1953 Florida ex rel. 

Hawkins v. Board of Control had finally made its way to the U. S. Supreme Court where it 

shared the docket with Brown. There as well were three other cases, all five of which the court 

referred to collectively as “the Segregation Cases.”58 One week after Brown, on May 24, 1954, 

the Supreme Court decided Hawkins: It sent the Virgil Hawkins’ case back down to the Florida 
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state court with instructions that the lower court review Hawkins’ claims in light of the decisions 

the U. S. Supreme Court had just issued in the Segregation Cases.59  

Hawkins lawyers had at least three reasons to be enormously hopeful as three U. S. Supreme 

Court decisions stood solidly in Hawkins’ favor.  

Sipuel v. Board of Regents of the University of Oklahoma, decided sixteen years earlier, 

required states to admit Negroes to the state’s only public law school and to admit them as soon 

as it admitted any other students; Sweatt v. Painter rejected the notion that a segregated, new law 

school for blacks could provide them with educational opportunities equal to a white, established 

one; and McLaurin v. Oklahoma State Regents required white universities that admitted black 

graduate students to treat them like all other students.  

Perhaps McLaurin and Sweatt had been so new and sweeping as to be incomprehensible to 

the Florida Supreme Court justices when they completely ignored them in their 1950 Hawkins’ 

ruling. After four years on the books, though, the two cases were now established law as clearly 

stated by the highest court in the land. 

Five years had passed since the University of Florida law school first barred Hawkins’ 

admission, five years that suggested a victorious end for Hawkins was finally in sight. 60 Armed 

with the U. S. Supreme Court’s decision firmly on his side, a triumphant Hawkins returned to 

Florida in 1954 to face the same justices who denied him admission over and over. This time, 

however, he came with the U. S. Supreme Court’s unequivocal instruction: Admit him. 

With Hawkins back in its grip, the Florida Supreme Court picked up where it had left off in 

1950. Ignoring the clear edict of the U. S. Supreme Court, the Florida justices chastised the 

lawyers to consider the “grave and serious problems affecting the welfare of all students and the 

institutions themselves” that desegregation would cause.61
 And to record their judicial legacy in 
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writing, they turned to B. K. Roberts, the same white supremacist who had earlier ignored the U. 

S. Supreme Court’s Sweatt decision, a case which should have settled Virgil Hawkins claims, in 

his favor, once and for all in 1950.  

“Sound judicial discretion,” Roberts intoned, required the court to refuse to do what the U. S. 

Supreme Court had ordered it to do—for the time being.62 They would eventually get there, of 

course, but it the journey would “require numerous adjustments and changes at the institutions of 

higher learning.”63 To “expedite” matters, the court would appoint a special commissioner who 

would have at least four months to gather evidence from concerned parties about the impending 

disaster.64 Then “all questions as to time and manner of establishing the new order” would have 

to go back up to the U. S. Supreme Court for their perusal and “further consideration.”  

After all of that was done, then the Florida Supreme Court would be in a position to consider 

whether or not facilities at the new colored law school to be housed at all-black Florida A&M 

College were equal to the all-white Florida law school.65 Once again, Florida judges issued an 

opinion that pretended the U. S. Supreme Court had not already disposed of these identical issues 

four years earlier in Sweatt. 

Writing the majority opinion for the Florida Supreme Court, B. K. Roberts thumbed his nose 

at the U. S. Supreme Court as he hammered home Florida’s message again: You can’t tell us 

what to do.66  

~   ~   ~ 

Florida courts dragged Hawkins and Hawkins through another three years of blatantly 

illegal maneuvers. Finally, in 1957, the U. S. Supreme Court issued its second unequivocal 

decision ordering the university to admit Virgil Hawkins to law school: 
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As this case involves the admission of a Negro to a graduate professional school, 

there is no reason for delay. He is entitled to prompt admission under the rules and 

regulations applicable to other qualified candidates.67 

 

The Florida Supreme Court still refused to budge. To ensure that the U. S. Supreme Court 

understood the Florida jurists were intentionally maintaining their lawless stand, Justice Terrell 

wrote: 

Some anthropologists and historians…point out that segregation is as old as the 

hills. The Egyptians practiced it on the Israelites; the Greeks did likewise for the 

barbarians;…segregation is said to have produced the caste system in India and Hitler 

practiced it in his Germany, but no one ever discovered it was a violation of due 

process until recently and to do so some of the same historians point out that the 

Supreme Court abandoned the Constitution, precedent and common sense and fortified 

its decision solely with the writings of Gunner Myrdal, a Scandinavian sociologist. 

What he knew about constitutional law we are not told nor have we been able to 

learn.68 

 

The resolutely racist Florida Supreme Court gave backbone to the massive resistance 

confounding Hawkins and his legal team. The judges, proud of their track records as fierce 

segregationists, made it clear that no matter what, until the entire panoply of white 

supremacists—politicians, lawyers, judges, and the University of Florida system they 

controlled—decided to admit Virgil Hawkins, nothing and no one could force them to do 

otherwise. 69  

Beyond that, however, what marked the Florida courts as the worst of the worst among 

diehard segregationists was their relentless, personal commitment to wiping out every black 

renegade who dared rise up against them. Consequently, what they perceived as Hawkins’ hubris 

permanently marked him as a target for their judicial destruction.  

Not simply his lawyer aspirations, but Hawkins the man was a personal affront to their mouth 

twitching, nose flicking meanness. These men, who called themselves Florida crackers, were 

first-cousin familiar to Hawkins and every other black Southerner who grew up with racis m’s 
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cleats lodged in their psyche. To preserve the culture of riches built on such seamless oppression, 

Hawkins’ resolve had to be crushed powder fine, every trace of his victories swept clean from 

Florida history. As a warning to all who dared think of Hawkins as a beacon for overcoming, if 

the Florida courts could not destroy Hawkins the man—make his disappear like Lloyd Gaines a 

decade earlier—they would not stop until they destroyed his dream. They got the chance they 

were looking for in 1958. 

By then on their third appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, venomous, white supremacist 

vampires forced Hawkins into a settlement: In exchange for a court order desegregating the 

University of Florida graduate and professional schools, Hawkins agreed that he would be 

forever banned from admission to the law school.  

  Virgil Darnell Hawkins won for others what he could never have. Daring to stand up for 

himself had finally allowed his pursuers to cut him down. His sacrifice soon led to the 

desegregation of the entire Florida state university system. And it was his sacrifice, about to be 

revealed, that foreshadowed my introduction to Florida politics. 

 

Past as Prologue 

Virgil Hawkins’ sacrifice was my gain when I entered UF law school thirteen years later. 

Yet, as a first year student studying Constitutional Law, I saw only the tip of Hawkins’ ordeal as 

it revealed itself in the few facts selected for inclusion in our law textbook. Virgil D. Hawkins v. 

the Board of Regents challenged the University of Florida’s right to remain a racially segregated 

taxpayer-supported institution. It was a case every first year law student studied in Constitutional 

Law I. Consequently,  Hawkins—the case and the man—was lost in a larger panoply of 

Constitutional Law cases, given short shrift as an aberration, another silly Southern ruse where a 
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lone, lawless Southern institution gave the finger to the law it was sworn to uphold. It was way 

more than that. 

In fact, Hawkins was a concerted move by Florida citizens, lawyers, judges, legislators, and 

their institutions, all of whom joined forces to beat back every move its black citizens made to 

exercise their full rights of citizenship. The diehard resistance arrayed to crush Virgil Hawkins, 

with minor differences, played out not only throughout the Deep South, but all across the U. S. 

This was the Florida swamp I plunged into headfirst when John Henry Wheeler, editor of the law 

school newspaper The Verdict, asked me to find Mr. Hawkins and interview him. I accepted the 

assignment with no idea what the story would turn into.  

Hawkins had applied to the University of Florida College of Law three months before I was 

born, so by the time I hit the road to Leesburg, nearly a quarter of a century had passed. Though 

Hawkins had paved the path for all of us, this time, my good friend James Michael Haygood 

paved mine. A black UF law student a year behind me, Haygood was the perfect Hawkins 

connection:  a Leesburg native, Mr. Hawkins’ neighbor, and a former student of Ida Hawkins, 

Virgil Hawkins’ wife. Following a few phone calls Haygood made on my behalf, I hopped in a 

rented Chevette and headed south on US Highway 441. January 1973 found me seated across 

from Mr. Hawkins in his living room. 

Stripped of his dream of studying law at the University of Florida, Mr. Hawkins faced hard 

choices in 1958 for the coming fall. He could remain with his family and resign himself to being 

vanquished by white supremacists; or he could set off alone to work and study law more than a 

thousand miles from home. He and his wife were already pretending to be separated and then 

divorced to save her teaching job, a ruse which had her visiting him at night in a neighboring 

town.70 Threats leveled against the other plaintiffs seeking UF admission, their family members, 
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and even their lawyers had finally driven them from the lawsuit, which made Hawkins the last 

one standing.71 He took a train to Boston.  

Nearly knee-to-knee with the living legend, the burden and the blessing that marked my 

presence before him bore down on me in early 1973. I was where I was because he had given up 

his right to be there: I was finishing my 2d year of law school and in the middle of a campaign 

for Student Government Association Vice President. The next month when I won, I would 

become the first black VP in the university’s history to hold that office. At graduation, I would 

join a growing, but still tiny cadre of black lawyers. My anticipated triumphs juxtaposed against 

Mr. Hawkins’ visible defeat had me shivering with gratitude. Yet, at the core of my blessing was 

his abyss of loss.  

Even earning his degree from New England College of Law in 1964 did not abate the abuse 

the State of Florida functionaries heaped on Mr. Hawkins. His return to Leesburg, Florida merely 

positioned him for more harassment and humiliation. Most notably, his application to sit for the 

Florida Bar examination was refused because New England School of Law was not accredi ted by 

the American Bar Association until several years after Hawkins graduated.72 

 Finally, he resigned himself to yet another crushing reality: Just as he had never been 

allowed to attend the University of Florida, he would also never be able to win admission to the 

Florida Bar, would never able to practice law. When I interviewed him, he was an investigator 

reviewing discrimination complaints for the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission. He 

described his work without rancor or bitterness. 

We talked throughout the morning and into the January afternoon. As he continued 

recounting his journey, sometimes Mr. Hawkins zoomed in tight, tearful, and emotional. Then, 
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as suddenly, he would retreat to a distanced, almost journalistic stance. After one long pause, he 

blew his nose, and sat quietly, shaking his head from side to side. Then he resumed.  

“You’re the first black child who’s ever come to hear my story. I didn’t even know they still 

talked about my case at all. I figured wasn’t nobody studying me.”  

In the “Author’s Note” that accompanied the Verdict article published in February 1973, I 

wrote: 

Virgil D. Hawkins is alive. And by reason of that fact alone, he is worth more 

than a wry smile at the rebellious antics of the Florida Supreme Court in ignoring a 

U. S. Supreme Court mandate and worth far more than a disgusted nod of the head 

at the sleek racism employed by a group of not-so-bumbling idiots. 

Perhaps it would have been easier for me to write this article had he been a 

cantankerous, bitter old codger because that I could well understand. But he is not. Mr. 

Hawkins is neither bitter nor defeated, and he is still fighting. But this time, he is 

moving for all persons, regardless of race, being preyed upon by a system that 

continues to use its best tools to try and crush him. And that is why I am enraged. 

“Don’t look for glory,” he said as we were ending our visit. “You’re the first 

person from the law school who has ever come down to ask me anything. You’re the 

first black child to ever talk to me about any of this. I just assumed that the other blacks 

who had gone there didn’t know of me, hadn’t heard of me, or of what I tried to do.”73 

 

 I didn’t have to go far to find the other star of this tragedy, Stephen O’Connell. 

O’Connell had joined the Florida Supreme Court in 1955 just in time to add his vote to those of 

the other white supremacists who twice defied the U. S. Supreme Court’s order directing that 

Hawkins be admitted to UF law school.74 A month before he was tapped to become UF President 

in 1967, O’Connell had risen to Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court. Consequently, 

where Mr. Hawkins’ decades of civil rights wars had landed him in a modest life and a dead end 

job, O’Connell’s recalcitrant racism had plunked him down in a catbird seat cushioned by the 

lopsided wealth and privilege of racism and patriarchy. 
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By the time my path crossed O’Connell’s, he had been raking in the sweet rewards of the UF 

presidency for four years with one hand while dishing out swift, ham-fisted retribution with the 

other.  

A few months prior to my June arrival on campus, O’Connell had demonstrated his staunch 

allegiance to the ubiquitous oppression Gator Nation held so dear when he orchestrated the mass 

arrest and the subsequent expulsion of 72 black students who dared demand that their taxpayer-

supported university’s faculty, staff, student body, and curricula reflect them. Enraged 

students—black, white, and 1000-strong—responded to O’Connell’s outrageousness by taking to 

the streets of Gainesville. Days later more than 120 black UF students and faculty withdrew from 

the university en masse.75  

Despite all of that, it never occurred to me that I—“a first black”—would not be able to 

obtain an audience with O’Connell. After all, he and I were members of the same law 

school/SGA club. Plus, I was eager to discuss the Florida Supreme Court opinion in which he 

had concurred to stop Mr. Hawkins from exercising rights Hawkins mistakenly assumed 

belonged to him just because he was a taxpaying U. S. citizen.  

I wanted to know whose idea it was to build Mr. Hawkins his own law school, apparently to 

help cure him of his tendency toward constitutional misinterpretation. I was curious to hear 

O’Connell, portrayed as a law-abiding icon of civic responsibility, discuss when it was  

appropriate to ignore the law, exactly how he chose which laws to follow, and, most importantly, 

if he thought black folks had the same right to choose that he did. 

Alas, I could never get an appointment with him. So, bereft of his valuable insight, I was 

forced to conclude my 1973 Verdict article by circling back to my original compare-and-contrast 

inquiry: 
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Mr. Hawkins is not a member of the Florida Bar. He cannot and does not practice law 

in Florida.  

 

In 1959, Stephen C. O’Connell sat as a Florida Supreme Court Justice during the final 

hearing of the Hawkins case. He concurred in the amazing opinion rendered there. 

Since that time, he has been set up in Tigert Hall as President of the University of 

Florida. On February 14, 1973, while the rest of Florida shivered under historically 

inclement weather, O’Connell and his wife traveled in South America, pursuing 

University Interests. 

 

Home for the O’Connells is the President’s Mansion in Gainesville. Mr. O’Connell is a 

member of the Florida Bar. He may practice law in Florida. Perhaps one may argue 

that he did so in 1959. Virgil D. Hawkins might not agree. 

 

Why?76 

 

~   ~   ~ 

 

If he were nursing plans to revive his fight to join the Florida Bar, Mr. Hawkins never even 

hinted of such during the day we spent together talking in early 1973. In fact, what he said 

suggested exactly the opposite. He was, he said, resigned to what fate had dealt him And so I 

claim a hand in what happened next.  

I believe seeing me, the living, breathing beneficiary of his struggle, made real for Mr. 

Hawkins’ his larger triumph. I believe that in giving voice once again to his brutal journey, the 

tired warrior’s own words sparked an ember that caught flame and ignited anew his dream that 

somehow he might still have a shot at becoming a Florida lawyer. I believe that’s why, when 

powerful white men’s self-dealing created an opening in the most unlikely of circumstances, a 

vigilant Virgil Hawkins was poised to seize an opportunity he had earned long, long before.77 

The story of what created that opening is classic Florida—and American—history.78 Harley S. 

Herman, a 1977 UF law alum, has exhaustively, poignantly chronicled that story. 

After flunking the bar examination four times, Ben Ervin, brother of Florida Supreme Court 

Justice Richard Ervin, decided to gain admission another way. He asked the Florida Supreme 
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Court, where his brother then sat, to order that he be admitted to the Florida Bar without 

requiring that he take the examination. “The pretext was that but for the Korean War, Ervin 

would have attended the University of Florida law school in time to be automatically licensed 

under what was called a ‘diploma privilege.’”79 In 1974, the Florida Supreme Court granted its 

colleague’s brother’s wish.80  

Justice Richard Ervin, himself a 1928 UF law graduate, had become Florida Attorney 

General by 1949. From that position, which he held until 1964, Ervin aggressively defended the 

state’s refusal to grant Virgil Hawkins’ right to the same education Ervin himself had enjoyed. It 

was Ervin who helped lead the segregationist lawyers and judges in defying—not once but 

twice—the U. S. Supreme Court’s orders to admit Virgil Hawkins to the UF law school. His 

reward was his appointment to the Florida Supreme Court in 1964 to replace the 

unapologetically racist retiring judge Glen Terrell. Perhaps it was Ervin’s alleged change of 

heart, at a time not specified, that prompted the St. Petersburg Times to sanitize his obituary in 

August 2004 to read:  

As attorney general from 1949 to 1964, Mr. Ervin took a leading role in responding to 

U.S. Supreme Court school desegregation decisions. 

Later, he expressed regret for some of his pro-segregation positions, including a 

resolution denying the federal government's authority in issues such as segregation.81 

(Emphasis added.) 

Once his brother Ben was admitted to the Florida Bar in 1974 by order of the Florida Supreme 

Court, Richard Ervin left the bench the next year.82 

Surely, it must have seemed that Ben Ervin’s Florida Bar admission heralded Hawkins’ 

salvation. After all, compared to the letter from a local politician that Ben had used to support his 

diploma privilege claim,  
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Hawkins had thousands of pages of documents filed in and opinions rendered by five 

Florida Supreme Court cases, two United States Supreme Court cases, and his Federal 

District Court and Federal Circuit Court cases as evidence of his intent to go to law 

school while the diploma privilege was in effect.83 

 

Yet, despite having waived the bar examination on such frivolous “evidence” from Ben Ervin, 

the majority of the Florida Supreme Court justices were not inclined to do the same for 

Hawkins.84 Fortunately, Justice Joseph Hatchett, the first African American Justice on the 

Florida Supreme Court, forced them to do exactly that.  

In Anatomy of a Bar Resignation: The Virgil Hawkins’ Story, Harley Herman describes the 

scathing dissents Justice Hatchett wrote responding to each of the Court’s three draft decisions as 

it tried repeatedly to avoid awarding Hawkins the same relief it had so readily handed to Ben 

Ervin.85 Justice Hatchett eventually recited twelve pages detailing the Court’s sorry history of 

white supremacy and vigilante justice in the Hawkins cases. It was a courageous move for 

Hatchett since B. K. Roberts, who was Chief Justice and author of the Court’s majority opinion 

in the original Hawkins case, was only a few arms’ lengths away as he was still a sitting member 

of Court.  86 Beyond courageous, it was also the right thing to do and the legally consistent course 

to take because it meant the Court was honoring the diploma privilege precedent it had just 

created.  

Although he was the lone dissenter throughout the process, Justice Hatchett’s strategy finally 

worked. He forced his colleagues’ collective hand when they realized his dissenting opinion 

would enshrine the Court’s racist, lawless behavior in a permanent written record they would not 

be able to expunge, rewrite, or otherwise conceal. Consequently, in 1976, the Florida Supreme 

Court held that “the bar examination and the law school graduation requirements of our bar 

admission rules are waived for Mr. Hawkins.”87 As Harley Herman reveals in his article, the real 

story is significantly more complicated and it did not wind up in the final opinion.  
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After a quarter century of being stomped for refusing to relinquish his lifelong desire to be a 

Florida lawyer, on February 9, 1977, Mr. Hawkins finally beat the odds when, at age seventy, he 

was admitted to the Florida Bar.88  

Spurred by his own odyssey, Hawkins announced his intention to be the lawyer for people 

caught in a trap that severed the rights of millions and millions of working class Americans of 

every ethnicity: not poor enough to qualify for legal aid, but too poor to pay a lawyer. It was a 

short-lived victory. After nearly a decade of struggling to live out his dream, Mr. Hawkins found 

himself before the Florida Bar again, this time on ethics charges. His label as a troublemaker in 

Florida race relations began dogging him again. 

Recapturing the heartbreaking end of Hawkins’ half-century sojourn, Harley Herman wrote: 

The Bar accepted the resignation from a worn, weary and disgraced Hawkins. Although 

his low and no fee services had aided over a thousand clients, the inadvertent or inept 

mistakes of his practice would snowball from minor and insignificant, to serious. His 

efforts to cover up and recover up and recover from his errors culminated in the final 

act of financial desperation which, rather than curing prior simpler errors, made his 

resignation the only course to save him from disbarment. On April 17, 1985, Hawkins 

closed his office in Leesburg, Florida.89  

 

Mr. Hawkins died three years later at eighty-one. And still, his story was not over because 

soon after Mr. Hawkins’ death, Harley Herman, who is white, successfully petitioned the 

Florida Bar to reinstate Hawkins’ bar membership.90  

In 2006 I wondered why a successful white lawyer and UF law alumnus would do what 

Harley Herman had done. Especially given the ultimate outcome for Mr. Hawkins and the price I 

discovered Herman had paid, I wondered if Mr. Hawkins’ relentless advocate had any regrets. So 

I tracked him down and asked him. Herman’s bottom line was this:  

For reasons that defy explanation, but which I've come to understand were the hand of 

God reaching out and grabbing hold of my life, I sat down with my wife, and told her I 

knew what was going to happen, but I had no choice, This could not be the final chapter 

of the story of Virgil Hawkins. I would never be able to wake up in the morning and 
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look at myself in the mirror, if I didn't seek Hawkins redemption through a petition to 

the Florida Supreme Court.   

 

Florida’s centurions of justice and other officers of the court responded predictably by taking 

an axe to Herman’s thriving Lake County law practice.  

The effort did destroy my practice in Leesburg. For years after the effort, I could not 

represent clients in trial matters. The Judges would never give me timely hearings, and 

when the cases were heard, they always exercised their discretion by ruling against my 

clients.   

 

I finally had to tell people, that I couldn't represent them, because despite the merits of 

their cases, if I was their attorney, they would lose, because of who I was.91 

 

It is said that there have been only two posthumous bar reinstatements, Mahatma Ghandi and 

Virgil Darnell Hawkins.92 If that is so, Hawkins’ trajectory seems hardly well-served by the 

saccharine slogan that became both epitaph and documentary title, “a lawyer made in heaven.” 

That was the tag that stuck in 1988 when the Florida Supreme Court reinstated Mr. Hawkins’ bar 

membership and declared him an attorney before the “Bar of Heaven.”93 There is no question 

Virgil Hawkins and, decades later, Harley Herman went through hell and back to get Hawkins 

there. 

The following year, Herman’s decade-long effort paid off again when the University of 

Florida renamed its civil Legal Aid clinics the Virgil Darnell Hawkins Civil Legal Clinics.94 

Then, at the end of a racially tumultuous 2000-2001 year, by unanimous consent of the Faculty 

Senate and Board of Regents, UF awarded its first posthumous honorary degree in its 150-year 

history to Virgil Darnel Hawkins.95 

So it was that more than half a century after he first sought it, Virgil Hawkins got his UF law 

degree and he managed to do it without ever stepping foot inside a UF law school classroom. 
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When the University of Florida finally relinquished Hawkins’ law degree, it did so over his—

and, ironically, over Stephen O’Connell’s—dead body.96 

In the spring of 1973, however, all three of us were still alive. Mr. Hawkins was defeated in 

Leesburg. O’Connell was triumphantly hanging out in the UF President’s mansion. And  I had 

just made Florida history by winning a seat as the first black Vice President of the University of 

Florida Student Government Association (SGA).  
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The Setup 

 

“Singley, a senior law student and the only black woman ever elected UF student 

body vice president, told the senate Tuesday night that she had accepted a fellowship to 

work for an Atlanta law firm during the summer.”97  
 

It seemed a reasonable enough thing to do, something many law students were in fact trying 

damn hard to do: Get the best-paying summer job I could find to pay for my food, rent, books, 

and other expenses in my final year of law school. So, I took the job and started a war.  

I had run for Vice President alongside Tyrie Boyer, a law school classmate who headed our 

ticket as the Presidential candidate for the Future Changes party. A visual duo calculated to 

reinforce our party’s name, Tyrie and I beat three other law student-dominated slates to win a 

tight race.  

Winning a Student Government Association (SGA) seat was a stepping stone for anyone 

serious about a future in Florida politics which had established a long tradition of the politically 

ambitious first proving their mettle as SGA leaders. Consequently, Florida lawmakers were often 

UF grads with an SGA past. Because Florida was one of the few states in the nation where 

lawyers had to run for office to become judges, SGA was a political training camp with a unique 

seal of approval. While I certainly wasn’t planning a future in Florida politics, I was used to 

being part of the crew that ran things and I looked for opportunities to go where others like me 

had never been. Becoming an SGA officer fit the bill on both those counts.  

Tyrie was over six feet tall and husky. Hair framing the crown of his sizable head stopped 

well above his shirt collar in back; in front, bangs brushed his brow. His chin was hairless. I was 

slim and stood about two inches shorter than Tyrie. My big Afro formed a kinky mass extending 

about six inches from my head. Wire rim glasses and hoop earrings completed my earnest 

Angela Davis98 imitation. I already had a reputation for being smart, opinionated, and fearless 
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verbally and in writing. The Verdict, the law school newspaper, was one of my weapons of 

choice. If Tyrie had a reputation, I wasn’t aware of it. 

He and I were strange slate mates from the start, so early on we developed a strategy for 

handling controversial issues about which we disagreed. One such controversy centered on 

Florida Blue Key, a racially segregated white male “leadership” organization with an office in 

the student union basement. Women and black students were demanding that Blue Key be 

kicked off campus and stripped of its UF affiliation. Tyrie, a Blue Key member, was loath to lose 

votes by confronting the issue during our campaign. I was all for pressing Blue Key to integrate 

by race and gender and kicking them off campus until they complied.  

Our compromise was an early version of “don’t ask-don’t tell”: I would try to avoid 

addressing controversial issues, but if forced to because someone asked me directly, I would 

state my personal beliefs, making it clear that I was not speaking on behalf of the Future Changes 

platform, but just as my contrarian self. I intended to use the campaign to see if I could move 

away from my role as a lifelong maverick and becom*e a loyal team player. I thought it was time 

to bend my individual preferences to fit the collective will, to do whatever it took to win.  

I muzzled myself.  No one forced me to do it. I freely acquiesced, realizing that few were 

interested in what I thought anyway. I was the black female face with a head of freshly 

straightened hair in the photo on the campaign literature. Beyond the assumptions invited by me 

at Tyrie’s side, what more did anyone need to know about the Future Changes Party?  

Julie Huston, Richard Cole, Tyrie and I were an all-law student slate in a sea of candidates. 

Watergate had recently revealed Richard Nixon’s administration as the lying, law-breaking, 

corrupt cabal it was and the resulting national cynicism had trickled down to locally slime us 
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with its sludge. One party very astutely seized the tenor of the moment and ran on a platform 

with a single plank: abolish SGA. 

Most of the other SGA candidates were our law school classmates, interspersed with a 

smattering of other graduate students because SGA elections were not a field where 

undergraduates were free to play.99 Yet, despite low voter turnout, it was a hard-fought campaign 

during which, for once, I was able to keep my mouth shut.  

We won. And as soon as we did, radio came calling and my muzzle came off. I had 

underestimated the toll it would take to be a silent brown face amidst the white talking heads, a 

true team player. The radio interview was my first shot at ripping off the mask of grinning 

mascot I felt like I had worn on the campaign trail. The reporter’s question was my chance to 

blow and blow I did.  

“How does it feel,” he asked, “to be the first black woman Vice President of the Student 

Government Association?” I answered his question with a question.  

“How could thousands of these stupid assholes vote for someone they don’t even know? I 

never opened my mouth during this campaign. No one knows what I think about a damn thing. 

They have no fucking idea who I am.”  

I rode my torrent of self-righteous disdain right past the fact that I was the one who had 

concocted, starred in, and orchestrated the deception. I had been the necessary gimmick, 

completely complicit in exploiting my silent black face to win. Who even knew what my or his 

actual vote-pulling power had been, if my skit has been necessary or even productive?  Unlike 

every other position on our ticket where each candidate had to win on their own, every vote for 

Tyrie had automatically been a vote for me and every one for me was a vote for him since the 

President/VP vote couldn’t be split.  
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Even so, for the next twenty-four hours after we declared victory, that which had been 

previously dammed continued bursting forth. Radio news reports with my sound bites were 

barely intelligible because they were so riddled with bleeped out expletives. So there I was, the 

newest Member of the Club no longer silent and clearly not grateful. Instead, I was an angry 

black woman, in full rant, shot through with invective, working from a much bigger platform.  

A flurry of post-election celebrations kicked off a skin-and-grin circuit that was de rigueur 

for SGA victors. Widely feted at receptions, dinners, and other gatherings, we were expected to 

rub shoulders and slide palms with university administrators and others who would be 

instrumental in appropriately molding us, the next generation of Florida movers and shakers. The 

pinnacle of all these events was hosted by UF President Stephen C. O’Connell—unfortunately, 

the same O’Connell I had skewered several weeks earlier in my two-part series in The Verdict. 

The headline for my lead article in The Verdict was “Visions of a Dream Deferred.” I 

compared the diverging paths of UF President Stephen O’Connell and plaintiff Virgil B. 

Hawkins after the Florida Supreme Court’s decision in Hawkins v. Board of Regents. O’Connell, 

a white supremacist Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court at the time, had concurred in the 

1949 majority Hawkins opinion, declaring no black person would ever be eligible to attend the 

University of Florida College of Law.100  

Pointing out that racism had been very, very good to O’Connell, eventually landing him in 

his cushy job in the UF Presidential mansion, I contrasted Hawkins’ dilemma: Despite having 

been forced to leave home to earn a law degree from New England School of Law, he had never 

been able to gain admission to the Florida Bar even after multiple tries. That was, of course, 

understandable since the requirements for bar admission were like those for admission to the 

University of Florida College of Law: white, male, 21 or older, with a college degree. Forty-two, 
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with two Master’s degrees, a decade of teaching high school history, and a law degree from up 

north, clearly Hawkins was more than twice as qualified on all counts except for being black, of 

course. 

Part II of “Visions of a Dream Deferred” in the next edition of The Verdict was a verbatim 

account of a portion of my interview with Mr. Hawkins. I ended it with a reminder that good 

guys don’t always win, and that, in fact, often in the Dirty South, evil and ignorance trumped 

hope. The most compelling evidence of that, I wrote, was O’Connell in the UF President’s 

mansion.  

So, three months later, there I sat, the newly-elected SGA Vice President, staring at my 

engraved invitation to O’Connell’s gala at his mansion where he would formally welcome the 

new officers into the winner’s circle. Unfortunately, my invitation had arrived addressed to “Mr. 

Berni Singley.” Convinced the gender switch was an intentional affront, I hit back.  

Maybe it was being addressed as “Gentlemen” first thing in the morning, morning after 

morning, or sitting through endless lectures peppered with sexist, racist jokes, or reading case 

after case of racist, sexist, class-biased opinions that filled our textbooks. Or maybe it was just 

that time of the month, that month of the year, that moment in my life. Whatever. Using a red felt 

tip marker, I scrawled corrections to my name on the envelope and added a postscript at the 

bottom of the RSVP card.  

I could not imagine, I wrote, under what circumstances I would be willing to cross the 

threshold of such an unrepentant racist and sexist as Stephen C. O’Connell. He should, therefore, 

remove my name from his list of invitees for anything forever after. I dropped the card in the 

envelope and sent it back through campus mail the same way it had come to me. I never received 

another invitation or anything else acknowledging my ascension to the SGA throne. And so it 
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was that my victor’s glow faded quickly, snuffed out by my swift slide down the slope of Tyrie’s 

gratitude.  

 Tyrie’s attacks—never direct and never face-to-face—escalated swiftly, behind the scenes in 

concert with his raft of advisers. In contrast, my mouth and my pen kept public matters public 

while I kept my own counsel. Tyrie was searching for some way out of the mess occasioned by 

our loss of collegiality when he apparently thought he had found it. In a national competition, I 

had won a summer law clerkship I had with a well-known Atlanta civil rights firm. That’s when 

Tyrie decided to put his foot down by announcing that I could not accept the clerkship. A volatile 

situation erupted into a full-scale conflagration. 

Tyrie’s position was clear and silly: I could not take the Atlanta job, he said, because my 

duties as SGA Vice President were so staggering that they required my presence full -time on 

campus for the entire summer. So, the way he saw it, I had no choice but to hang around campus 

all summer, earning the $300 lump sum payment that was the SGA vice-president’s “salary” 

instead of taking a prestigious clerkship that paid five times as much. 

The Alligator immediately caught wind of our situation: “Singley said Tuesday that she was 

under pressure to resign because of political reasons.”101 But Tyrie disagreed, claiming, “This is 

not a political question but simply a question of what is [sic] for the student body.” 102  By then, I 

had made my decision, which was a front page headline: “Singley, a senior law student and the 

only black woman ever elected UF student body vice president, told the senate Tuesday night 

that she had accepted a fellowship to work for an Atlanta law firm during the summer.” 103  

Tyrie refused to see the light. “Boyer said Singley ‘can either stay in Gainesville and fulfill 

her Student Government responsibilities, or she can take the job in Atlanta.’” 104 Notwithstanding 

his deeply flawed assessment of the rigors of my SGA duties, Tyrie still imagined he had the 
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power to dictate how, when, and where I could earn wages. We continued careening towards a 

confrontation that, on its face, made absolutely no sense. And I still fantasized there was a 

chance we could negotiate a win-win.105  

On Thursday, May 31, 1973, the previous day’s downpour still fell, turning the weather into 

a rain-soaked prophecy on our brand new SGA administration: Like wet cardboard, the Boyer-

Singley team had crumpled. The headline below the banner of that day’s Independent Florida 

Alligator blared the news: “Boyer May Ask VP to Quit.”106  Boyer had locked into a zero-sum 

game that meant for him to win, I had to lose. His first attack came cloaked as an interpretation 

of the eligibility requirements for SGA officers. It was another stupid—and transparent—move.  

According to Tyrie, the SGA Constitutional requirement that the president, vice president 

and treasurer be “enrolled as students” meant we had to be enrolled as full-time students twelve 

months of the year. That was a ridiculous interpretation given the universally recognized nine-

month school-year calendar that to this day governs the U. S. education system from 

kindergarten through post-doctoral studies.  

No matter. Boyer was emboldened by the direction he was getting from many quarters, most 

notably the University’s chief lawyer, who affirmed—and who likely drafted—the utterly 

nonsensical “12-month” interpretation. Which raises the question: Why would the University of 

Florida’s top legal authorities—the law school dean and the University’s general counsel—insert 

themselves into the middle of a situation that, on its face, was one SGA leaders were empowered 

to handle and were in fact handling. Apparently, because the student leaders—with law students 

heading the pack—simply couldn’t figure out how to take their prey—i.e., me. So, UF law 

school dean Joseph R. “Dick” Julin asked the university’s General Counsel for a legal opinion to 

finish me off.  
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The university attorney entered the fray with a legal opinion that followed this line of 

reasoning: (1) only “full-time students” could hold office in student government; (2) “full-time” 

did not include time off in the summer; (3) therefore, any student who was not enrolled in school 

full-time in the summer was ineligible to hold an SGA office; (4) Berni Singley was not enrolled 

as a full-time law student during the summer, having had the temerity to accept a law clerkship 

for $1500 over a $300 SGA “job”; (5) therefore, Berni Singley was no longer eligible for the 

SGA Vice Presidency to which she had recently been elected.  

I was stunned by the dean’s and the university General Counsel’s total lack of subtlety. Until 

then, the whole brouhaha hadn’t been that big a deal for me and I was ready to just walk away 

and get on with hanging out with my friends and learning tons on my great job in Atlanta. If they 

wanted my Vice President seat bad enough to look that stupid trying to steal it, I would just let 

them have it. I had intentionally lain down with dogs and now that they were biting me in the 

butt, it was time to move on.  

Until the university and our law school dean—the big guns—showed up, I simply saw the 

fracas as me playing tug-of-war with a passel of big-headed bully boys who would fall 

backwards on their asses in the dirt when I just let go. But when Dean Julin and the university 

lawyer brought their muscle to the foolishness, they might as well have been waving a can of 

sardines in front of a feral cat.  

By now, too, interest in the SGA debacle had spread far beyond the campus and I was about 

to learn a harsh lesson about the law school’s critical role in shaping Florida’s lawyers, judges, 

statesmen, and other pillars of power.  
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“That nigger bitch.” 

Some of law school’s largest donors, including state legislators and other influential persons 

around the state, were weighing in on “the Berni Singley matter.” Many of these men, all of them 

white, had cut their political teeth wheeling and dealing as SGA officers. Now full-grown fat 

cats, they were livid that after they had let me pull up to the table, as one so eloquently put it, 

now I was “pissing in the soup.” Other, equally genteel law school alumni phoned in threats 

about withdrawing funds unless the law school “got rid of that nigger bitch.” 107 

The university’s idiotic definition of “full-time” student was the best response it could muster 

under all that pressure. Unfortunately, their desperate move wiped “walking away” from my 

realm of possibilities. After that, there was no way in hell I was backing down.   

“Singley said she would enroll as a full time UF student and pay full tuition for the summer 

quarter. She said she would not resign from office but would not accept her $300 per quarter 

salary for summer quarter.”108 Tyrie was not satisfied, so dug in deeper. “Boyer said…that 

although Singley ‘can technically fulfill the constitutional requirements for vice president as an 

enrolled student,” her absence would violate the ‘spirit of the law.’”109  

Huh? In the entire history of SGA, no one had ever heard of a requirement that SGA officers 

attend school twelve months a year. And what fool wouldn’t choose a $1500 job over a $300 

one?  Tyrie needed more ammunition. So, already bending beneath the weight of his six-week 

old tenure, he pitched for sympathy. “There’s too much for me to do in Student Government to 

do by myself—I need a vice president.”110  

What were these administrative burdens that Tyrie couldn’t face alone? The ones that 

demanded I refuse a lucrative fellowship and forego working side-by-side with three of the 
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nation’s best-known civil rights lawyers so I could spend the summer hanging around SGA 

offices, waiting for opportunities to shore up Tyrie’s confessed inadequacies?  

“Boyer said the vice president is required to sit on many important committees.”111 Sitting 

was not the issue. It was the begging, lying down, and rolling over that created the problem. I 

had assumed winning the election meant the glad-handing was over and we would finally get 

down to the business of reforming SGA. Instead, I had simply been bumped up to a more intense 

level of silly power plays, fawning before college administrators, and other business as usual—

i.e., “sitting on important committees.”  

I had decided SGA, like law school, was just another set of “white boy games” and I would 

simply refuse to play. Sure, I had grabbed the grail, but I wasn’t about to sit round the table with 

the boys swilling the ale. The whole point of winning for me was to position myself tro change 

the rules, not be controlled by them. Consequently, those who had only recently been my team 

mates had now become my opposition. Tyrie’s plot thickened when he announced to the press 

that he would prepare a letter formally requesting my resignation within a few days. 112 If I dared 

leave town without acquiescing, he warned, I would be on my own.  

Further, if the Student Senate did attempt to impeach me, Tyrie declared “he would remain 

‘neutral.’”113 If they did not move for impeachment, however, he would ask the senate “to pass 

legislation appointing a temporary replacement” to fill my post for the summer.114 

Two words in a boldface headline summed up the Alligator’s take on the situation: “SG 

Mess…” Indeed. Parroting Boyer, the paper’s editorial staff declared,  

[Singley’s] plans don’t violate the letter of the law…but they certainly violate 

the spirit and intent of the law…Singley is going to have to make a decision, and it’s 

going to have to be either resign the fellowship or resign the student body vice 

presidency. It’s one of the other. Singley can’t have her cake and eat it too. And if she 

doesn’t choose, the Student Senate should take whatever actions are necessary to make 

sure we have a vice president this summer.115 (Emphasis added.)  
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I did not resign. Instead, I did exactly what I said I would and enrolled for fifteen credit 

hours—a full load of law school classes—for the summer term. Then, I packed my bags and 

moved to Atlanta. Alas, my pursuers did not desist. One by one, their herd expanded. 

Bob Rosenberg. Chief among the self-righteously indignant was Bob Rosenberg whose gaze 

was so fervently fixed on the mote in my eye that he was blinded to the beam in his own. Too 

bad for him that the Alligator staff’s vision was not equally impaired because, digging through 

the Pandora’s box thrown open by Rosenberg and his cohorts’ attacks on me, the newspaper  

soon uncovered a secret that pinned Rosenberg up against the wall. 

“Former UF student body president and Student Senate president Bob Rosenberg, who is 

now a student senator, has not maintained a 2.0 grade point average, one of the requirements of 

senate office,” the Alligator trumpeted.116 That meant Rosenberg’s sorry academic performance 

made him in fact what he claimed I was in theory: ineligible to keep his SGA seat. When 

confronted, Rosenberg pleaded ignorance. “I understood it to mean that I had to have a 2.0 to be 

a candidate, but not to maintain that average in office,” he explained.117   

Refusing to bend to his journalistic beating, Rosenberg argued that he had not been “any less 

competent or any less dedicated to [his] responsibilities in the Student Senate.” 118 It was 

precisely this devotion to student government that “probably affected” his grades, Rosenberg 

explained.119 Bob had, indeed, been a busy boy. Presumably, pursuing me was probably partly 

what had landed him face down in the bad grades ditch.  

 Rosenberg’s diligent witch hunt might have cost him his grade point average, but it had not 

impaired his political maneuvering. Indeed, he had been sufficiently focused to orchestrate his 

transfer “from the Budget and Finance Committee to the Information and Investigations 

Committee, where he [would] pass on the qualifications and desirability of Boyer’s cabinet 
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appointees.”120 Alligator editors attempted to help focus him even more, noting, “Precisely what 

we’re asking Bob Rosenberg right now [is]: Will he politely step down, or must the Student 

Senate and/or Honor Court take action?”121  

As one who had not all that long ago faced up to the humiliation of not maintaining a “C” 

average in college, I might have found a jot or tittle of compassion for the beleaguered 

Rosenberg had he been at all contrite when the Alligator exposed him. Unlike Rosenberg, I had 

chosen to face the music of my own predicament back then instead of fumbling around for an 

excuse about how my student government activities—which I had actually had—had led to my 

sorry GPA. But he wasn’t sorry, so I wasn’t sorry for him, a conductor on the impeachment 

steamroller who had bounced off the bumper and was now stretched prostrate in the road.  

Bill Rubin. Bobby Rosenberg was still wallowing in excuses when one of his fellow 

impeachment proponents—another law school classmate—reached down and stood him back up. 

“Present Student Senate President Bill Rubin said he wouldn’t ask for Rosenberg’s resignation” 

read the headline.122 Go figure. 

Back to Boyer. Rosenberg wasn’t the only one who couldn’t successfully juggle his 

schoolwork and student government responsibilities. Turns out Boyer was only weeks into his 

tenure when he confessed that he too was hard up and looking for help. Unlike Rosenberg, 

however, Boyer was savvy enough to get the drop on the situation before the situation dropped 

him. Apparently, as soon as we won the SGA election, President Tyrie withdrew from law 

school and enrolled as a part-time student in less rigorous “business administration” classes. This 

was not something he or anyone else ever discussed with me, of course. I only discovered it 

thirty years later while examining SGA records in UF archives in 2004.  
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When Boyer quietly dropped out of law school and became a part-time student taking 

“business administration” classes, he made himself ineligible for office under the brand new full-

time-student-year-round “requirement” that he, the university, and the law school dean were 

using to drive me from office. It is a mystery how all those lawyers, university administrators, 

law students, student journalists, and student legislators managed to mosey right past that fact.  

Like Rosenberg, Boyer was already proving far more adept at power plays than he let on: 

Both understood the first rule of power was to exempt themselves and their buddies from the 

rules that they relished using to hog-tie everyone else. 

 Rosenberg and Boyer were also just the latest in a string of SGA officers suffering the strain 

of brains drained by multi-tasking. And the Alligator was on the case when it alluded to “a 

similar problem with student body officials on a larger scale winter quarter.” 123  

Taylor, Gloeckner, and Rutledge. Sure enough, several months before my and Boyer’s 

election, SGA’s three top officers had resigned in disgrace when the Alligator reported that all 

three had fallen afoul of requirements for holding office:  SGA President Samuel Taylor had 

never registered as a student for winter quarter in the first place; SGA Vice President Linda 

Gloeckner had not been a student during part of her term in office; and Student Senate President 

Gary Rutledge had secretly withdrawn from school while he was still in office.124  

Until then, it seems, no one had ever given any thought to the connection between student 

status—or continuing student status—of SGA officers and their office-holding eligibility. 

Perhaps it was purely coincidence that shining a spotlight on Sam Taylor, the first African 

American SGA President, caught the other malfeasant SGA officers in its glare. Who knew that 

toppling Taylor would take down Gloeckner and Rutledge, making them unforeseeable collateral 

damage? 
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As far as the Alligator was concerned, there was no difference between me taking a summer 

law clerkship and the shenanigans of the other three non-enrolled SGA miscreants; no difference 

between Rosenberg whose substandard GPA automatically disqualified him for office and me 

whose GPA found me in good standing. 

 Within two days of the paper’s winter quarter expose of Taylor, Gloeckner, and Rutledge, all 

three of them had resigned from office.125 Apparently, many supposed I would—or certainly 

thought I should—go down the same way. So, when the Alligator ripped the covers from an 

unrepentant Rosenberg’s duplicity, it re-ignited the furor that had run Taylor, Gloeckner, and 

Rutledge from office and it threw another log on the impeachment fire freshly lit beneath me.  

Given the growing roster of academically deficient SGA officers or leaders who had trouble 

knowing whether or not they were enrolled or even ones, like Tyrie, who were enrolled but 

overwhelmed by being a student and an SGA officer, one might have thought my strong GPA 

and continuous full-time enrollment would have been cause for celebration instead of calumny. 

Alas, not. Somehow I—enrolled as a full-time law student who possesse a prestigious clerkship 

and a solid GPA—remained on the wrong side of the Alligator, SGA, the university lawyer, and 

the law school dean because I refused to swap a $1500 summer job for a $300 one.  

Perhaps it really was hard—not to mention embarrassing and probably even insulting—for a 

bunch of white guys to face that what was so hard for them could be so easy for a black woman. 

Certainly if they, the leaders of the white boy pack, were struggling, there was no way I—black, 

female, and therefore intrinsically less smart, less capable, just less than they however it was 

measured—could do any better. If they couldn’t cut it, how dare I?  

Perhaps my impudence—the antics of an uppity “nigger bitch” who was “pissing in the 

soup”126—landed like a roundhouse kick to their collective white male ego. I can only guess 
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because, by then I had already left the scene. Even if I couldn’t catch a break, though, the good-

ol-boys-in-training brotherhood was still taking care of its own. 

Bill Rubin Redux. Poor Bill Rubin. Refusing to ask for his friend Bob Rosenberg’s 

resignation despite his clear ineligibility for his Senate seat, had created a big problem for Rubin. 

And on the eve of Independence Day 1973, Student Senate President Rubin—another of my law 

school classmates—had to figure out how he could screw me and make it look legitimate without 

screwing his buddy Rosenberg. Because it was legitimate—by rules and longstanding practice—

for  SGA officers to take the summer off, Rubin needed to figure out how to not only turn that 

practice into some kind of SGA violation, but also how to make it apply retroactively so it could 

loop back and rope me.  

Rubin wasn’t about to give me the special dispensation he had bestowed on Rosenberg so I, 

like Rosenberg, could keep my SGA seat. Instead, Rubin appointed a troika of Student Senators 

to map out my impeachment. In less than three months, SGA had raced from embracing to trying 

desperately to erase its first black SGA vice president for taking a summer law job.127 

Meanwhile, to assist the troika in their deliberations, law students Rubin and Boyer outlined 

three alternatives for “handling the Singley situation”: 1)they could do nothing; 2) they could 

“pass legislation to define a temporary SG vacancy and determine the procedure to fill [it];”or 3) 

they could impeach me.128 

Boyer was against “doing nothing” for fear it would seem that SGA was sanctioning my 

behavior “and therefore setting a precedent for future SG officers.”129 Rubin agreed and had 

already proposed a Senate bill declaring “a temporary vacancy” if any Student Government 

officer was not enrolled as a full-time student in residence.130 If passed, it was a maneuver that 
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might work for SGA officers elected from that point forward, but it didn’t help them with me 

since I was already in office.  

Though neither Boyer, Rubin, nor any of the other decision makers were bothered by the 

clearly unconstitutional act of creating a rule and applying it backwards, Boyer was bedeviled by 

the term “in residence.” He thought the term was too ambiguous and so preferred the clarity of 

“physically present and able to carry out the job.”131 The irony of his clarification escaped him, 

an officer who was physically present, but had already publicly confessed his inability to carry 

out his job, which was his sole premise for why he needed me physically present and able to do it 

for him.  

Acknowledging that he would be “overstepping his bounds by asking the Honor Court to 

issue a writ of mandamus” commanding my return,132 Boyer decided to stick to his vow to be 

“neutral.” Instead of openly advocating the overthrow of his own VP, he deemed it a more 

prudent course to keep coming up with dumb ideas for how someone else might do it.  

Whatever, chortled the Alligator. “[Boyer] does not have the legislative ability to impeach, 

but the senate can and has begun action.”133  

For all the Alligator’s fevered coverage of our SGA duel, it did not mirror the larger student 

population whose interest ranged from “Who gives a shit?” to “What the hell is SGA anyway?” 

But state-wide interest more than compensated for what was missing at the local level. UF law 

alumni, like generous donors and Florida legislators, were ballistic. Howls of outrage reached 

Dean Julin, demanding that he get me in hand. And even though the strange obsession of grown 

men with UF student government had not completely escaped me, my attitude was still, “They 

have got to be kidding!” In fact, they were extremely serious.  
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I had no idea how many resumes of successful Florida businessmen, legislators, lawyers, and 

judges showed SGA as a way station on their path to power. O’Connell’s ascendancy was as 

good an example as any of how the system worked: he had been SGA President from 1938-39 

while he was a law student headed for his historic role of stalwart white supremacist a mere 

decade later in Hawkins v. Board of Regents. In the spring of 1973, our orbits collided: he as a 

rightwing UF President and I as an alleged renegade SGA officer and a law student calling him 

out in the law school newspaper.134  From where he and his cohorts sat, I must have looked like a 

dancer in kerosene-soaked panties, prancing round a roaring bonfire on a windy day.  

It is fitting that aggressive efforts to topple my SGA vice presidency came in the waning days 

of Stephen O’Connell’s UF presidency.135 I like to think he was as profoundly antagonized by 

the thought of me as I was by the reality of him and the racist, sexist towers of power that had 

heaped enormous unearned benefits on him his entire life. Gratefully, there were other forces 

assaulting the bedrock beneath O’Connell’s legacy.  
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At War with Tradition 

 

The UF College of Law was under fire for a cheating problem so endemic even the 

administration couldn’t credibly deny it. Consequently, Richard “Dick” Julin, the new law 

school dean, was forced to address it as soon as he arrived. He did so in an open letter to law 

students in the fall of 1971. And although Julin would go on to become the dean known for not 

keeping certain law school records in the law school’s early days of desegregation, the cheating 

epidemic was a situation even Julin couldn’t figure out how to hide.136 In hindsight, his first 

newsletter was an uncharacteristically direct communication from the dean whose tenure began 

with my entering class, the Class of 1974.  

Whether orchestrating bogus impeachments, setting up kangaroo courts that blatantly 

violated due process, or simply sitting for exams, many UF law students were already exhibiting 

that most revered and reviled lawyer trait: unrestrained eagerness to do in an opponent by any 

means necessary. There was no low below which they were not willing to go to win. 

To curb the highly publicized law school cheating disgrace, the Student Senate began 

considering legislation they hoped would help. A key element would place law students not only 

under the Honor Code that applied to all UF students, but also under a special law school Code 

of Professional Responsibility. Reviving irony, Bill Rubin, Student Senate President and fellow 

law student, had already demonstrated his willingness to bend rules to accommodate his friends 
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and to suit the occasion, so his code of honor and professional responsibility track record were a 

matter of public record. The debate among law students quickly grew loud and ugly over the 

Student Senate resolution proposing the creation of “a seven-man judicial review board at the 

law school [to] enforce the Code of Professional Responsibility.”137 (Emphasis added) 

When the dust settled, law students—future officers of the court—who fought against being 

held to a slightly higher standard of scrutiny won a major concession: Law students violating the 

Honor Code could not be convicted unless the review board returned a unanimous vote.138  

Meanwhile, the cabal still determined to impeach me—Tyrie, Bill Rubin, hastily constructed 

committees, senators, and their university and law school advisors—had muddled deeper into the 

quandary they created. Their motion to impeach me had stalled the bill they had designed to 

define my absence as a “temporary vacancy.” In their fervor to dump me permanently, they were 

working at cross purposes to the bill they were pushing to allow them to temporarily fill my seat. 

To extricate themselves, they decided to let go of the interim temporary solution and to throw all 

their weight into impeaching me. That way, they could avoid the increasingly murky marsh of 

language and legislation.139 To kick things back in gear, Rubin appointed his troika of student 

senators and sent them off to figure out how to get the deed done.  

Hoffman- Cardwell-Kelly Triumvirate. Bruce Hoffmann, David Cardwell, and Carolyn Kelly 

worked fast. Within a week, they had completed their assignment. Word went out: On Tuesday, 

17 July 1973, at 7:30PM, Berni Singley would at long last be impeached. 140 Any student senators 

not present for the vote were threatened with being removed from office.141  

“In the 43-year history of SG on the UF campus,” the Alligator intoned, “no impeachment 

proceedings have been attempted or carried out against an officer.”142 As had been the case since 

I first stepped foot on UF’s campus, I was making history again. 
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According to the troika’s plan, the Senate would first introduce a resolution requesting a 

grand jury to investigate my impeachment.143 To facilitate this process, Rubin would appoint a 

chief prosecutor and a chief defense counsel. Of course. If he had appointed the folks who 

created the process, why wouldn’t he also appoint the person who would prosecute and the one 

who would defend me?  

My trial would then follow “simple court procedure:” three-fourths of the total Senate 

membership would have to vote “yes” to “convict” me and remove me from office.144 Mandatory 

attendance would guarantee sufficient votes, a result that had to be enforced by threatening to 

remove from office any senator who might be thinking about not showing up for the charade. 

For those who might have been concerned or at least confused by the increasingly incestuous 

relationship among the main players, the Alligator explained that the Hoffmann-Cardwell- Kelly 

triumvirate was “not functioning as a prosecution against Singley.” 145 Rather, though they were 

all appointed by Bill Rubin, they were “serv[ing] the best interest of the student body” and 

safeguarding me by ensuring prompt action and minimizing conflicts of interest.146  

Having plotted the path to my ouster, the senate moved to its other business, a bill authored 

by Alligator editor Tim Condon and introduced by Student Senator Bill Watson. Aiming for a 

spot on the ballot for the upcoming fall election, the bill provided shimmering insight into the 

editorial stance driving the newspaper’s impeachment coverage. It was exquisitely 

straightforward: “Student Government should be abolished and the $4 mandatory fee presently 

allocated should be returned to the individual student.”147  

Boyer and his cronies had not been idle. Boyer had helped redraft the proposal the 

academically-challenged Rosenberg had originally submitted to restructure Student Government; 

he had also appointed a six-person committee to write a new constitution to accompany the 
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proposal.148 Among the six members of the committee?  “Bob Rosenberg, a former student 

senator,”149 the Alligator reported with not even a shred of irony or further comment.  

Tyrie had chosen the week before my scheduled impeachment to propose his SGA 

reorganization.150 The new plan would abolish the student senate along with the executive and 

legislative powers of Student Government and replace it all with an elected 15-person Student 

Council. Once again, though, Boyer and crew faced a major obstacle: a constitutional 

amendment required twenty-five per cent of the entire UF student body to vote and two-thirds of 

those voting had to approve the amendment. Apathy and disgust with SGA was so rampant, there 

was little likelihood of drawing more than 5,000 students voters even if somebody paid them.  

On Tuesday, 17 July, the showdown did not go down.  By then, however, Bill “I Give My 

Friends Preferential Treatment” Rubin had appointed Jim Harrison, yet another of our law school 

classmates, to be the prosecutor for my impeachment. Harrison immediately separated himself 

from Tyrie and the rest of the impeachment horde, however, and established himself as a much 

smarter law student than our classmates who were so eager to build a case for my impeachment 

that they were falling all over themselves and each other.  

Harrison warned them that they were possibly sabotaging their goal by denying me due 

process and, consequently, a fair trial. We had all studied the same constitutional law textbooks, 

but apparently Harrison took seriously the fundamental requirement that I have “time to prepare 

a defense after being formally notified of the charges.” 151 If they pushed ahead with my 

impeachment, he advised, they would give me “substantial grounds for appeal to the Honor 

Court.”152  

But even Harrison had limits to how long he was willing to mess around with all of that due 

process stuff. So to make things right, he “arbitrarily chose three weeks as sufficient time” for 
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me to prepare my defense.153 The Student Senate heeded toed Harrison’s line and postponed its 

Kangaroo court for the requisite three weeks.  

The mentally taxing SGA responsibilities that they drove Boyer from law school as soon as 

we won the election could have also created the strain that blinded him to the messy details of a 

fair trial. It was, after all, his father—not he—who was the Jacksonville judge and a UF law 

school alumnus at the time. Perhaps Boyer le fils was too pressed for time to check with Boyer le 

pere for a refresher course on how justice worked in textbooks and in the real world. Fortunately 

for the junior Boyer, Prosecutor Harrison remembered—even if only for three weeks.  

But once Harrison joined in lockstep with his cohorts, they became a posse of turkeys 

determined to reach liftoff. Harrison, too, began making up rules—and applying them 

backwards—as he moved along. In the rooster-fight-turning-kangaroo court, Harrison announced 

he would “rule on procedural points,” but would not present any witnesses because he didn’t 

“think it would clarify anything.”154 And still, the prosecutor—who ruled on procedural points 

for the prosecution and the defense, who did not want witnesses creating confusion, and had 

done his best to make a case against me—that prosecutor was forced to admit that I had done 

nothing illegal and so was unimpeachable.  

“Harrison told the senate that according to the written student body Constitution the senate 

had no legal grounds for impeaching Singley. The Constitution requires [SGA officers] to be 

enrolled as students, which entails completion of registration and payment of the enrollment fee. 

Singley has fulfilled these requirements.”155  

Still, they just couldn’t stop. I had thumbed my nose at them by enrolling for a full course 

load, thereby shredding the new full-time student requirement they had custom-made to do me 

in. A provoked prosecutor, Harrison was pushed to parse the issue more finely.  
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Now, he said, the question was whether the Constitutional provision requiring the Vice 

President to assist the SGA President meant “active assistance and in-house presence or passive 

assistance.”156  If I were only required to “passively” assist Boyer, then, Harrison said, my 

absence had “not violated the law.”157  

What to do? Harrison knew: ask the Board of Masters of the Honor Court for i ts ruling.158 

They had nothing to lose, Harrison advised, because, “according to the Constitution, they could 

impeach Singley even without legal grounds.”159 Even if the Board of Masters ruled in my favor 

by deciding that  “passive assistance” was all that was required, Harrison assured Boyer and 

others that the senate could still impeach me “on moral and ethical grounds.” 160  

Finally the game plan revealed: no matter what I did or didn’t do, no matter whether legal 

grounds existed or not, no matter the requirements of a fair trial, trap doors with hair triggers 

stretched out in every direction. If all else failed, “moral and ethical grounds” would be the 

weapon of last resort of those whose own conduct was morally and ethically reprehensible. 

These future Florida powerbrokers were showing their fitness to assume the mantle and bear 

witness thirty years later to their state’s grand theft of a Presidential election. And still, I didn’t 

have enough sense to go down and stay down. 

My impeachment shared the agenda on 17 July 1973 with the referendum to abolish SGA. In 

the upcoming fall election for student senators, all 23,000 UF students would have a chance to 

weigh in on the future of SG by answering a question on the ballot: “Which of the following do 

you favor: 1) restructure SG; 2) keep same SG; 3) abolish SG.”161   

A week later, Brian Donnerly, an Independent Florida Alligator columnist, dedicated his 

entire column to me. Entitled “In Defense of Singley,” Donnerly’s summation of the 

impeachment debacle deserves a full airing:  
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 There are two things that bother me about Student Government (SG) officials. 
 FIRST, they are generally here at UF bothering us with petty laws and regulations. 

 Second, they collect salaries from money which is extracted from students without their 

consent. 

 At present, there is one SG official who is too far away to bother us and is not collecting 

her salary. That is Berni Singley. 

 Therefore, temporarily at least, she is my favorite SG official. 
 THIS VIEW is not shared by the members of the student senate. In fact, many of them 

view Singley’s absence as grounds for impeachment. 

 It is interesting to speculate on the motivations involved in such an attempt. 

 Of course, it will be said that she is being impeached because she is not fulfilling the 

obligations of her office. 

 This is patently absurd. We have had vice-presidents that do nothing for quarters on end. 

And they collected their salaries.  
 OF COURSE, we have never had a veep who did nothing as spectacularly as Berni 

Singley. 

 This gets us a little closer to the truth. SG can put up with a little quiet laziness or 

incompetence. That’s no problem. 

 But when you take off to Atlanta for the summer, you’re making it a bit obvious. This is 

striking at the image of SG as a bunch of dedicated, selfless, hardworking public officials. 

 Of course, the people in SG have no such image. But don’t tell them that. They think they 

do. 

 And they will go to considerable lengths to protect that image. They will even sacrifice 

one of their own on the altar of public opinion. 
 THE IMAGE of Student Government is, after all, not what it used to be. Even the 

members of the senate can see that.  

 Berni Singley just picked the wrong time for her little escapade. A year or so ago, this 

would have gone almost unnoticed.  

 But a lot has happened in the last year. 

 For one thing, The Alligator is no longer SG’s house organ. For another, the Taylor-

Gloeckner-Rutledge affair showed us that SG officials only attend this university when they can 

fit it into their busy schedules. 
 ON TOP of all that, they held an election this spring and practically nobody showed up.  

 So Student Government has to rebuild the credibility it mistakenly thinks it once had. And 

the means toward that end is the impeachment of Berni Singley. The whole thing is a cynical 

public relations job and Singley is an innocent bystander.  

Lest anyone think that this is an unqualified defense of our vice-president, I would like it 

noted that I think there is one legitimate reason for impeaching her. That is the fact that she will 

return in the fall, complete her term as vice-president and collect her salary. 
YOU CAN BET that is one reason the student senate won’t consider.162 

 

My “escapade” was a summer job, a bread and butter issue of working to pay for tuition, 

books, and food. For all its incessant “independent” Alligator coverage, apparently not once did 
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it occur to any reporter to ask, “Why is this woman working a summer job really creating such a 

fuss?”  

As Donnerly’s column noted, the Alligator had, indeed, recently parted ways with SGA and 

changed its name to The Independent Florida Alligator163 to reflect its new status. Any whisper 

of remaining doubt should have been swept clean away by an appeal positioned below his 

column:  

 For those who have knowledge of the fraud known as Student Government, the time has 

come to dismantle it. Organize now so when the students return in the fall they will be made 

aware and vote to ABOLISH STUDENT GOVERNMENT.164 



90 

 

 

Cake Eater 
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 It was a miracle that I even had a summer job considering how I showed up for my 

interview. I had flown into Atlanta wearing a hot pink floral cotton mini-dress with a halter top 

that tied at the neck, leaving my back exposed down to my waist in a long, lean, glorious 

expanse of pecan tan. A pair of thong sandals completed my outfit.  

I was not completely witless. In a nationwide competition, I had made the short list of law 

students to be interviewed for the Peter E. Rindskopf clerkship, so the firm of Moore, Alexander, 

and Rindskopf had sent me a roundtrip ticket to come for an interview. A young, Jewish Yale 

law student who had gone South to do civil rights work for the summer, Peter survived that 

experience, but in 1971 he drowned in a puddle of water after he was thrown from the car in an 

automobile accident. His partners had set up a fellowship in his name to recruit law students who 

shared Peter’s commitment to civil rights. Having been short-listed for an interview, I figured it 

was important for my prospective employers to see exactly who they were hiring.  

More than two-thirds of the way through law school, I still had one approach to all 

situations: flaunting convention and confrontation. It didn’t matter what convention or who else 
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observed it. If I could determine that there was a standard way to proceed, I felt compelled to do 

the opposite. That attitude partially explained why I was under SGA. A knee-jerk contrarian, it 

would take many years of reflection and a few of therapy to understand that constantly saying no 

or being in opposition to something is not the same as choosing freely.  

There were many things to stand in opposition to back then and when I opened the door to 

the law office, I saw two more—the secretarial sentries. Immediately, I knew their type:  black 

middle class strivers with “good jobs,” cackling their disapproval as they looked down their 

noses at others. Young sistas like me were often the object of their disdain. So the first time I 

walked into their domain, they were visibly horrified. I was thrilled. There they were running the 

office in designer suits, stylish heels, and expensive perfume. And there I was in sandals and a 

backless mini. I was a kid standing in a tub of water with a fork in my hand and they, black 

matrons of middle-class convention, were a two-pronged electrical outlet. I strode up to them and 

jammed my fork in their socket. 

Despite the threshold debacle with the disapproving dowagers and my mini-dress and 

sandals, however, I won one of the two summer clerkships. So as the SGA tumult grew 

around me and my summer job, I reported for work in Atlanta. There I joined Robert (Bob) H. 

Stroup, a white University of Pennsylvania law student who had won the other Rindskopf 

internship. At the end of that summer, Bob and I would both be in our last stretch of law 

school.  

As the SGA nits continued nipping at my heels and preening for their future as cogs in 

Florida’s big wheel, I began my first taste of the other side of the legal career beckoning me. 

Daily entering the doors of the august Moore, Alexander, and Rindskopf, I watched Howard 

Moore, John Myer, and Elizabeth Rindskopf use join passion to brilliance as they beat back 
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the mighty forces of Southern white supremacist oppression. Meanwhile, Bob Stroup, my 

fellow intern, was a startling respite from the Southern white boys and the Midwesterners I 

had come to despise. Bob was smart, feminist, and funny, not like any guy—white or 

otherwise—I had ever met. Plus, he got extra points for his beautiful girlfriend, a law student 

whom the secretarial matrons and I thought might be black. We knew she wasn’t straight up 

white, but she also didn’t look like the typical admixture born of black and white parentage. 

Neither the biddies nor I had the nerve to ask Bob what was his olive-skinned girlfriend with 

the full lips and pert round nose.  

It had been less than a year since Howard Moore—the “Moore” on the firm’s door—had 

been Chief Counsel for the defense team of Angela Y. Davis in her notoriously worldwide, 

high-profile criminal trial. Davis, a revolutionary activist, feminist, philosopher, and member 

of the U. S. Communist Party, was also closely allied with the Black Panther Party. In August 

1970, she became the third woman ever on the FBI’s Most Wanted Fugitives List after she 

was charged with kidnapping, murder, and conspiracy for allegedly purchasing weapons used 

in a Marin County Courthouse escape attempt during the Soledad Brothers trial. The botched 

escape left four people dead, including a judge.  

Davis was refused bail and remained in jail for over a year, awaiting trial. She became an 

international cause celebre, igniting the “Free Angela” movement. Eventually released on 

bail, she obtained permission to join her 12-member defense team as co-counsel. Howard 

Moore, one of my new bosses, had headed the legal team that won Davis an acquittal  by an 

all-white jury on June 4, 1972 after only thirteen hours of deliberation.165 



93 

 

 

Consequently, when UF rumors began circulating about my alleged 

Communist/anarchist/revolutionary leanings, those responsible for the smear campaign did 

not have to go beyond my summer job to breathe life into the connections they imagined. 

The “Alexander” in the firm was William H. Alexander, an attorney who was also one of 

the first black members of the Georgia Assembly (1966-1975).   

Elizabeth Rindskopf, a white lawyer not yet 30 when I met her, was Peter’s widow. Like 

Peter, she had gone south that same summer in the late 1960s to work with the Law Students 

Civil Rights Research Council. She and Peter had married and moved to Atlanta where they 

were civil rights lawyers in the firm when he was killed in an accident two years earlier. 

By the time I arrived in Atlanta and moved in with her and her preschooler daughter 

Amy, Elizabeth had already distinguished herself by winning two cases before the U. S. 

Supreme Court. Over the next three decades, Elizabeth’s trajectory would take her from civil 

rights lawyer in the South, to Director of New Haven Legal Services, to General Counsel for 

the National Security Administration during Oliver North’s renegade days. Following a stint 

as counsel for the Securities Exchange Commission, she became General Counsel for the CIA 

under George H. Bush. Today, as Dean of McGeorge Law School at University of the Pacific, 

Elizabeth lectures as an international expert on terrorism. 

 John R. Myer, a white, brilliant, and profoundly morose legal strategist had moved to 

Atlanta to be a civil rights lawyer with his best friend, Peter Rindskopf. After Peter’s death, 

Myer continued practicing law at Moore, Alexander, and Rindskopf where he and Elizabeth 

still deeply grieved Peter’s death. 

Believing myself impervious to the shenanigans underway a six-hour drive south of me 

in Gainesville, I wrapped myself in a cocoon of fantastic possibilities modeled Howard, John, 
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and Elizabeth. The language of law lay easy on my tongue and like a starving kitten plopped 

down before a saucer of warm milk, I hungrily lapped it up. A steady stream of civil rights 

lawyers and law students passed through the firm, the youngest ones often joining us for 

meals at Elizabeth’s house where we sat around the table, eating, drinking, and arguing late 

into the night, racing from one topic to another. I was arrogant and on fire, confident we could 

change the world and wouldn’t have to die trying.  

While my fellow UF law students were busy honing their election-stealing skills and 

otherwise being baptized in the religion of grabbing and keeping power, I was being dunked in 

criminal defense work. Loping along beside—or usually behind—Howard Moore, I learned from 

a master. Which explains why I was my twenty-fourth birthday found me sitting at defense 

counsel’s table in what black Georgians referred to as “Nigga-Don’t-Let-the-Sun-Set-on-Yo-

Black-Ass-Cobb-County,” Georgia. Between Moore and me was our client, Thomas Robert 

Payne, a black Atlanta Hawks basketball star on trial as a serial rapist of white women.  

It was a tiny, hot courtroom. The 7’2” tall black defendant sat silently watching white 

women take the witness stand to tell judge and jury how Payne had raped them. I was young and 

naïve and believed our client was innocent. Then time came for him to speak.  

Georgia courts granted special dispensation, at the end of a trial, to defendants facing capital 

punishment, which was a highly likely sentence for a black man convicted of raping one white 

woman and was virtually guaranteed where multiple white female victims were involved. After 

all of the evidence was in, the defendant had a final chance to tell judge and jury whatever he 

wanted to. 

“I didn’t do it,” Payne began, tears rolling down his cheeks. “I wasn’t nowhere around them. 

I never seen them in my life. But if I did, God has forgive me.” Moments later, he was convicted 
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of two counts of rape and one count of aggravated sodomy. If God had forgiven him, apparently 

the Cobb County jurors decided to correct the error.166 

Working in a law firm forced me to confront the messy complexities of guilt and innocence, 

right and wrong in real life, the layered but seamless domination of the powerful over the weak. I 

had arrived at law school with a world view that was literally all black and white. Two years 

later, hairline fractures racing through my consciousness continued turning things muddled and 

gray. Two experiences wreaked havoc with the precise borders I had drawn around “allies” and 

“enemies.” One involved a 14-year old named Annie Mae Henson. The other occurred when the 

places where I lived crossed paths with the place where I wanted to live. 

Annie Mae was referred to our office by a legal services organization. Her claim was that, at 

14, she had undergone a tubal ligation at Atlanta’s Grady Hospital without her consent. 

Unconsented sterilizations of poor, black Southern women had become epidemic, so Annie’s 

story was not unique. Among the most notorious was an Alabama case that seized national 

headlines just as I was finishing up Annie’s file. Minnie Lee Relf, 14, and her 12-year old sister, 

Mary Alice, were supposed to be injected with Depo-Provera, a temporary carcinogenic 

contraceptive still being tested, but to which their illiterate mother had consented. Instead, the 

sisters had been permanently surgically sterilized.  

When their story captured headlines across the nation, other involuntary sterilization victims 

like Minnie, Mary, and Annie—young, black, Southern, poor, poorly educated girls receiving 

welfare benefits—began speaking up.   

On July 17, 1973, the Southern Poverty Law Center filed Relf v. Weinberger on behalf of the 

Relf sisters, exposing the federal government’s decades old practice of sterilizing 100,000 to 

150,000 poor people annually. Such wide-spread abuse forced “countless others” to be sterilized 
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or lose their welfare benefits.167 It was the same kind of trap welfare workers had set for me and 

my family nearly fifteen years earlier in Charlotte, NC. Back then, however, it was not 

sterilization but open heart surgery and I was supposed to be the guinea pig. 

Annie rode the bus from the projects where she lived to our offices downtown. When she 

couldn’t find a babysitter, she brought one, two, or all three of her babies to our appointments. 

The youngest was a newborn and the oldest was two. She and her babies—amazingly still and 

quiet—were always immaculate. She was always early or on time.  

The first time she showed up, the bourgeois biddy secretaries spun off into a hissy fit. “What 

in hell is that child doing dragging around all those babies?” After typing and filing my copious 

notes, of course, they had their answer. That knowledge turned the black biddies contemptuous.   

“Huh, I really don’t see what the problem is,” one of them announced one day just as I 

returned from seeing Annie to the elevator. “She ought to be thanking them for doing her a favor. 

If anything, she should be suing them for not doing it after she had that first one.”  

“You got that right,” the other chimed in. “Maybe somebody needs to find something else to 

do if they’ve got time to waste running around behind some little fast-ass girl trying to figure out 

how somebody did her wrong. Guess just because they gave you a degree don’t mean you got 

common sense, huh?” She erupted in hoarse laughter, which quickly spiraled into the rattling 

convulsions of a chain smoker. I passed their conjoined desks as though I were deaf, but 

perversely pleased by the sound of the cougher choking on her phlegm.  

Annie and I worked hard, spending hours together recording the details of her story. We 

traipsed the city tracking down her medical records that would independently corroborate what 

she remembered. I assembled her short life like a puzzle, matching records to pieces of her story, 

connecting one piece of evidence to another. When I finished, I presented my findings to the 
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John and Elizabeth for their decision on whether we had enough evidence to take Annie’s case to 

court. 

Annie’s case was clear and convincing or so I thought. The complete set of hospital and 

doctor’s records began with her first prenatal visit when she was pregnant with her first child and 

ended with doctors’ notes following the tubal ligation after she gave birth to her third child. 

Except for her age, from the beginning, Annie did not present as an unusual patient. In fact, file 

notes indicated she was alert, pleasant, and of average intelligence. By the time she delivered her 

third child, however, the file notes had reduced her to “educable mentally retarded,” a condition 

a panel of doctors and others felt justified her sterilization.  

I grew suspicious of the sequence of the conveniently deteriorating assessments as well as 

the composition of the panel that adjudged Annie unfit to give birth. After all, if Annie were so 

mentally incompetent that she needed to be sterilized for her own good, then wouldn’t that mean 

she was incapable of understanding the surgery they claimed she agreed to and, consequently, 

that she was incapable of giving informed consent? 

Whether or not Annie’s case ever made it to court, I will never know. Our firm decided it 

could not represent her because of a potential conflict of interest with a member of the hospital 

panel that approved Annie’s sterilization who was already our client. Because Annie had been 

sent to us as a last resort for legal representation, we had nowhere else to send her. She took the 

news with such grace that I offered her a ride home to soften the blow. 

Annie was traveling alone that day and settled back in the seat as she checked out my car 

interior. She looked forward to getting a car herself, she said, so she wouldn’t have to keep 

lugging her babies around on the bus. Then she opened her purse, tapped a cigarette loose from 

its pack, and fumbled for a lighter. I touched her arm and pointed to a sign, four inches tall and 
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eight inches wide, taped to the glove compartment directly in front of her. Three-inch high bright 

red letters on a white background read, “THANK YOU FOR NOT SMOKING.”  

“Girl, can’t you read?” I joked. She squinted in the direction I pointed, her lips moving 

soundlessly. Then she slowly moved closer to the sign until her nose was only inches away. 

“I can’t hardly see that. They said I need glasses, but I don’t want them. I don’t think I’ll 

like the way I look in them.” 

“So you can’t see that big-assed sign right there?” 

“Not really.” 

“Girl, you’re as blind as I am. I’ve been wearing glasses since second grade. How long have 

you not been able to see?” 

“About two years. I used to see real good. I heard people say babies take your eyesight.” 

“Babies take your eyesight?!” 

“Yeah, you know, you have a baby and then you don’t see so good afterwards. I think that’s 

what happened to me.” 

Can’t see…can’t read…two years…educable mentally retarded. The contents of her medical 

records flashed by in a new light. Just then, a garbage truck stopped in front of us. A man 

hanging from the side waved us around. Annie craned to get a better look at him as we passed.  

“Wait! Can you back up a little bit? That’s Henry. He’s been trying to take me out. Here he 

comes. This won’t take long.” Annie hopped out of the car and walked back to greet the man 

jogging towards her. Soon she returned to the car, grinning. 

“He’s been trying to get with me for a long time. I told him he could come over tonight and 

we could talk.” 

“Yeah, right. Okey-dokey.” 
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“No, I’m serious. I ain’t studying that man. We’ll just talk, that’s all. Turn left into that 

parking lot. You can park anywhere. Come in and see my place.”  

Her apartment was like her and her children: immaculate. “Aaron’s daddy bought me that 

living room suit and this matching bedroom suit,” she announced, proudly pointing to a sofa, two 

chairs, and a footstool of white French Provincial furniture, etched in gold with plump red velvet 

seating. The kitchen, too, was done in red and white with a chrome and glass-top table and 

matching chairs with chrome frames and shiny red plastic seats. Aaron was her oldest child. 

“Well, how is Aaron’s daddy going to like another man sitting on the furniture he bought? 

Girl, you’d better be careful.” 

“Huh, don’t nobody own me. Don’t no man tell me what I can and cannot do where I pay 

the rent. I’m the only one up in here who got the say-so about who come and go. Anyway,” she 

nodded toward the window through which we could see the men on the curb slinging garbage 

cans up onto the truck. “He a good man. He go to my Aintee’s church and he can cut hair. He 

real nice.” 

Fourteen…mother of three…reads people…understands circumstances…in  control.  

A few weeks later, after church, I was looking for an apartment. Patricia and I drove around 

East Point and College Park, Atlanta suburbs. Brand new apartment complexes had sprouted up 

right outside the city where land was cheap and plentiful. The new properties were already full of 

rednecks and other hostile white folks who could only afford to run so far in their attempt to 

escape desegregated Atlanta. We hadn’t been cruising the new white settlements for long before 

flashing blue lights appeared in my rear view mirror. I pulled over to the curb, fished my license 

from my purse, got out, and stood beside my car. 
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Both cops got out of the cruiser and headed for us. One stopped behind the car so he could 

see the passenger side. The other walked directly up to me.  

“What’re you girls doing out here?” he asked. 

“We’re not girls. We’re women. Women out looking at apartments.”  

“I noticed you’ve circled this block a couple of times.” Silence. 

 “You looking for something out here?” 

“I just told you I’m looking for an apartment.”  

“What address you looking for?” 

“I’m not looking for an address. I’m looking for a place to live.” 

Patricia lowered her glasses and leaned over, glaring at me. “Alright now, don’t play the 

fool, girl,” she muttered, barely audible. “You’d better act like you got some sense so we can get 

out of here alive.” She had been my best friend since high school, so she knew I needed to be 

warned.  

“Y’all don’t have a place to live now?” 

“Actually, we do.” 

“Where?” I gave him our address on the solidly black side of Atlanta.  

“Whose car you driving?” 

“Mine.” 

“Your car?” 

“My car.” 

“You a dealer?” 

“Excuse me?” 

“You a dealer?” 
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“A dealer?” 

Dealer. Car dealer. You sell cars”? 

“No, I don’t sell cars.” About a head taller than he was, I gave him my short man stare-

down. 

“License and proof of ownership.” 

“Here’s my license. My other papers are in the glove compartment. May I get them?”  

“That’s what I asked for, ain’t it?”  

I handed over more—the bill of sale for the car as well as a fistful of identification—hoping 

the extra information might change his mind about the menace he apparently believed we 

presented. He examined my offering and then leaned down to peer inside the car. Upright again, 

he held the plastic IDs fanned out like they were his hand in a card game.  

“How do you explain this? A driver’s license from NC. A dealer tag from Wisconsin. ID 

from Florida. And you live here, but you say you need a place to live.” 

“I’m from North Carolina. I bought my car in Wisconsin. I go to law school in Florida. I 

work in Atlanta. I’m looking for an apartment somewhere around here.” I rattled off my answer 

in monotone, staring down at the space between his eyes.  

“Wait right here.” Leaning inside his car parked behind us, he spoke into a transmitter, and 

returned a few minutes later. After copying information from my driver’s license, he paused. 

“How tall are you?” 

“Five feet-ten inches in my stocking feet, but I rarely walk around in public barefoot, so 

usually about six-one. About a half a foot taller than you.” He continued scribbling on his pad, 

then ripped off the top sheet, and handed it to me.  
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“You need to git on home and git that car offa the street,” he advised. In my hand was a 

ticket for driving an “improperly registered vehicle.”  

Monday morning, I mentioned the previous day’s incident to my law colleagues. They 

didn’t seem particularly interested in or disturbed by the encounter. And just like that, I was 

angry with them and the cops. I was still pouting when my court date arrived and left the office 

without telling anyone where I was going. I figured if they weren’t interested, I’d handle my 

business myself. Anyway, my license plates had arrived by mail the week before which meant I 

was in compliance.  

As each defendant approached the bench, I was comforted by the pattern that emerged: 

The middle-aged, balding white judge seemed fair, even lenient. The white girl whose case 

was called immediately before mine was 16. Her father was with her and stood beside her as 

she answered the judge’s questions. 

Yes, it was true she had been caught driving 45mph in a 15mph school zone. Yes, she 

only had a learner’s permit. Yes, her 16-year old girlfriend had been with her. No, her 

girlfriend did not have a driver’s license. No, there had been no adult with a license in the car 

with them as the law required. After briefly admonishing her about the danger of tearing 

through a school zone, the judge received her father’s assurance that it would not happen 

again. 

“Six months probation. Next!” They called my name. What luck! Compared to the girl 

speeding through a school zone without a license, my charge was nothing. Mine wasn’t even a 

moving violation, but a registration violation. I strode confidently up to the bench, my 

briefcase in one hand, my license plates held abreast in plain view in the other.  
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The bailiff read the charge. “How do you plead?” the judge barked. I jumped, startled by 

the suddenly raised volume of his voice that was also now hostile.  

“Your Honor, I have my tags. They just came in the mail and…” 

“Guilty or not guilty?” he shouted. 

“Your honor, if I can explain…I had just bought my car, so when the officer stopped 

me…” 

“Do you understand English, miss? Enter your plea: GUILTY OR NOT GUILTY?!” 

“Ah, well, your honor, I…”  

“I don’t want to hear some song and dance. No discussion until after you enter your plea. 

GUILTY OR NOT GUILTY?”  

I had sworn on the Bible to tell the truth, so I couldn’t lie. It was true: I did have dealer’s 

plates on my car when the cop stopped me. Technically, I was guilty. But I was also standing 

there with my new license plates in my hand, so even if I agreed to the charge, I could explain 

what had happened and everything would be fine.  

“Guilty, your honor, but I…”  

Bam! “Seventy-five dollars. Pay the clerk. Next!”  

“But, your honor, I…” The bailiff touched my elbow and ushered me out of the way of 

the next defendant to whom the judge was already talking. Disbelief, then a torrent of 

humiliation propelled me to the desk where the other defendants who had been fined had lined 

up to pay. The white girl and her daddy were nowhere in sight. They had understood the game 

that I, nearly a 3rd year law student, was too stupid to play: No matter the facts, never, ever 

plead guilty.   
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So what if the teenager’s had been a moving violating that endangered the lives of school 

children? Seduced by law school that us to read casebooks, but not how to practice, law, I had 

actually thought the same standard of justice that applied to the reckless white girl applied to 

responsible me. My ignorance had cost me a conviction and seventy-five dollars.  

“Seventy-five dollars. Cash or money order,” the clerk at the table intoned, eyeing the open 

checkbook in my hand. His hands rested on the folder lying open in front of him, my case 

number scrawled across the top. 

“But I don’t have seventy-five dollars cash with me. Just these checks.” 

“Then you need to take this folder and step in there.” He pointed to a smaller room behind 

me. I followed his directions and stopped at another desk just inside the door where a policeman 

balanced himself on the back legs of his chair. Hands clasped behind his head and wriggling a 

toothpick in the corner of his mouth, he eyed me silently.    

“Take off all belts, watches, earrings, jewelry and keys and place ‘em on the desk in front of 

you,” he ordered. 

“Excuse me?”  

“Take off all belts, watches, earrings, jewelry and keys and place ‘em on the desk in front of 

you along with any other personal belongings you’re in possession of.”  

“Why?” I asked in my meekest, I’m-only-asking-because-I-really-don’t-know voice. 

“Why? Because you can’t pay your fine, you going to jail.” Tears welled. Ten feet away and 

off to my left, a brown metal door swung open long enough for a policeman and his handcuffed 

charge to pass through. When it clanked shut, I watched them through a small window at eye-

level on the door. Wire crisscrossed itself between two thick sheets of glass, an overlay on the 

cop and his shuffling captive. My knees knocked. 
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“Officer, may I please use that phone to call my law firm and tell them where I am so they 

can come and bring me money?” 

“You a lawyer?” Grinning.  

“No, sir, just a law clerk for Howard Moore—Moore, Alexander, and Rindskopf.” 

“Howard Moore?”  The jailer’s chair dropped down on all fours. “Wait here.” Holding 

the door ajar, he whispered something to the clerk who had sent me to him, then returned.  

“Okay, have a seat over there. Use that phone.” Sitting at the desk, my briefcase in my 

lap, I tried not to look at the other unfortunates headed to lock-up. Each time the door 

slammed shut behind them, it set off a tiny quake in my stomach and drove me deeper into 

humiliation. There I was, with only two terms left in law school and yet too stupid to keep my 

own ass out of jail. I was still sitting there an hour later when John Myer appeared, paid my 

fine, and set me free. 

By the time I parked my car at the office, John was nearing the end of his report on my 

law slap down. What on earth had possessed me to think I could represent myself in a Cobb 

County court, they all wanted to know? And why hadn’t I at least pleaded not guilty? I took 

out all the notes I had taken of the charges and the sentences of the defendants who preceded 

me in court that day, white defendants who had received lesser sentences for more serious 

crimes, I maintained. Too bad, John explained, barely able to keep a straight face. Didn’t I 

understand that a defendant can’t appeal after entering a guilty plea? Case closed. They were 

kind enough to leave the big fat question unasked: How could somebody who was supposed 

to be so smart—the Peter E. Rindskopf fellow, for Chrissakes—do something so dumb?  

“You know what they say,” someone offered from the conference room. “She who has 

herself for a client has a fool for a lawyer.” I was in no position to argue. 
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It seemed I was constantly running afoul of, misconstruing, or misunderstanding the spirit 

and the letter of the law in Georgia just as I was continuing to do in Florida. An Alligator 

editorial had insisted that I couldn’t have my cake and eat it, too, that I had to either give up 

my fellowship or give up my SGA seat.168 My response, made louder by my silence, never 

changed: Make me. 

Had I asked for their help, any one of the lawyers around me could have easily coached 

me through a winning defense against the bogus SGA impeachment proceedings. Yet, just 

like I did with the traffic ticket, I kept it all to myself. As far as my life in Atlanta was 

concerned, Gainesville was Planet Pluto and I had no plans for intergalactic travel until Fall.  
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Forced Removal 

Back on Pluto, they declared me missing. Tyrie reported that he hadn’t seen me for nearly 

three weeks,169 leading an unnamed Alligator reporter to conclude, “Apparently no one in UF 

Student Government (SG) knows for sure where Student Body Vice President Bernie [sic] 

Singley is…[A]ll that is known for sure is that Singley has not resigned.”170 

The Alligator continued trying me in the court of public opinion. “Singley, presently working 

for a law firm in Atlanta, stated before she left for the summer that… if the senate tried to 

impeach her, she would see that it was abolished.”171 I could hardly take credit for the notion.  

Abolishing SGA had been the main platform of the We Party, one of the three law school-

dominated slates opposing us during the SGA election. The idea had gained great favor 

following the precipitous demise of the infamous Taylor-Gloeckener-Rutledge trio, the SGA 

President, Vice President, and Student Senate President, respectively, who had become ineligible 

for office while still holding office.    

There were those who speculated that this had been my plan all along—to infiltrate SGA and, 

through guile and sabotage, mastermind its implosion from afar. Was my law clerkship simply 

an artfully crafted subterfuge, abetted by outside agitators—possibly even Commie 

sympathizers—unfolding according to a master plan?  

All I was trying to do was enjoy my job and the fact that I was anywhere but Gainesville. 

Meanwhile, my responses to Tyrie’s antics kept pushing him and his crew to more preposterous 

positions. The final straw came when, at Dean Julin’s request, UF’s general counsel invented a 

definition of a “full-time student.” According to UF’s top lawyer, to maintain my eligibility as 

SGA VP, I had to be enrolled as a full-time student, year-round. (Apparently, this rule did not 

apply to the SGA President, who was then enrolled part-time and taking some “business 
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administration” classes.) When I registered for a full law course load for the summer and left 

town, I flummoxed the university’s lawyer and the dean. They went into overdrive. 

Saved by a venerable tradition. Class attendance had never been a UF law school 

requirement. Anyone who could pass a class without ever stepping foot inside the classroom was 

free to do so. Yet, there was one law school tradition I had never heard of until someone 

mentioned it to me as way to meet the newly-concocted eligibility requirement and keep my 

Atlanta job. I could do like my law school classmates who had signed up for summer classes and 

then left to travel abroad, work, or just take a plain old vacation.  

Every summer for years, as many as fifteen or twenty law students enrolled in classes where 

professors, who had lost interest centuries earlier in both subject matter and students, could be 

counted on to use lecture notes that never changed year after year. We all knew who those 

professors were because their lecture notes were always for sale. I just hadn’t known that the 

lazy bastards had spawned a whole subset of students who could afford both summer tuition and 

three months of travel, work, or relaxing. Armed with lecture notes carved in stone, savvy 

students took off and returned in time for exams.  

Had it not been for the general counsel and Dean Julin’s determination to box me into a 

corner, I would have graduated without ever uncovering this esteemed and elitist tradition.   

When I first heard of the practice, at first I was indignant that while I had to work a summer 

job, my rich classmates were somewhere having fun and still earning credit for a full term. But 

my ire quickly quelled when I realized that was the answer to my dilemma. After I enrolled for 

classes, I went to work in Atlanta. Like everyone else, I planned to return to Gainesville at the 

end of the semester and sit for our final exams, no questions asked, no explanations needed.  
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Once more my naysayers could not be appeased. Instead of applauding my hard work and 

tenacity—I was after all a full-time law student and hold down a full-time job and living in two 

different states—some UF boosters insisted on interpreting my industriousness as a slap in their 

face. White men who had cut their political baby teeth wheeling and dealing as SGA officers had 

become full-grown fat cats threatening to withdraw financial support unless the law school “got 

rid of that nigger bitch.”172  

Prof. Walter Weyrauch, my faculty advisor and a brilliant analyst recognized as an expert on 

formal and informal systems of law worldwide, tried in vain to warn me. He explained that I was 

grossly underestimating both the seriousness of the war being waged and the depths to which my 

opponents would sink to preserve their system and to punish me for violating a whole range of 

taboos. What I considered a battle of wits, he explained, was viewed by the forces arrayed 

against me as a full-scale assault on traditions that stitched together their power, prestige, and 

white male supremacist sense of entitlement. I was headed for extremely treacherous territory, he 

warned, wading in water where SGA, the law school, and the university would do their best to 

drown me.    

“Neutralizing you won’t be enough. They have to annihilate you to send a message to anyone 

else who might try to emulate what they see as your disgraceful behavior.”I laughed at 

Weyrauch’s hyperbole. Brushing aside his concern, I pointed out that by enrolling as a full-time 

student, in the chess game the Dean and the General Counsel were playing, I had moved myself 

out of check. If they still wanted to get me, they would have to come up with a whole new 

strategy. 

“The Berni Singley Rule.” They came up with a whole new strategy. 
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Once word spread that I was now a full-time student but working in Atlanta, all hell broke 

loose. Dean Julin, a superficially mild-mannered Midwestern transplant, was reportedly shaken 

by the racist vitriol spewed by callers in the ensuing weeks. The rich and powerful UF law 

alumni were apoplectic and had no intention of sitting quietly by watching “that nigger bitch 

thumb her nose at what we worked so hard to create.” 

Cooler heads devised a clever response. Among themselves, they referred to it as “the Berni 

Singley rule” and it marked a historic change in the law school routine. “The Berni Singley rule” 

established a new law school policy that required professors to begin taking roll daily. Any 

student who was not present to answer when their name was called for three consecutive classes 

was summarily struck from the class roll.  

“The Berni Singley rule” was a perfect example of an ex post facto rule. Latin for “after 

the fact,” ex post facto describes the clearly illegal impact of a law that extends backward in 

time to make an action illegal after it has happened even though it wasn’t a violation when 

the act first occurred. It was a result so repugnant to the framers of the U. S. Constitution 

that they forbid such laws in unequivocal language stating neither Congress nor a state shal l 

pass an ex post facto law.173  

This was another concept so fundamental to the American justice system that every law 

student had this drilled into her during the first term of first year in Contracts and 

Constitutional Law classes.  

But Dean Julin, his law school administrative staff, and the UF General Counsel drilled 

us in a different lesson the summer of 1973. What we learned was just because a policy was 

blatantly illegal would not keep “the Berni Singley Rule” from becoming the new law 

school reality. It was a grinding lesson on the chasm between words on the page and the real 



111 

 

 

life exercise of power and control. It was a throwback to the racist renegade days of Stephen 

O’Connell and the Florida courts using their Hawkins decisions to thumb their judicial nose 

at the highest court of law of the land. And it was a harbinger of things to come on the 

national stage when, decades later, some of those same UF actors would revive their tactics 

to coach a new generation in election theft.   

As artful as I was, I couldn’t show up for work every day in Atlanta and answer roll call 

in Gainesville each morning. The university had made its move: Checkmate.  

Unlike the two who got nailed along with Sam Taylor, allegedly twenty of my classmates 

ended up getting snagged in the dragnet that snared me. Although I am told the law school 

attempted to notify them wherever they were scattered worldwide, the dean’s office never saw fit 

to notify me six hours up the road. No matter. I’d had plenty of time to see it coming, thanks to 

my fast, thorough, and reliable information about what the Dean knew, often only moments after 

the Dean knew it.  

“I think you need to come back and challenge them. You can’t let these bastards get away 

with this.” Prof. Fletcher Baldwin’s voice was cajoling over the phone. “Some of your 

classmates are even talking about organizing a Berni Singley Defense Fund.” He might as well 

have been trying to add a face to Mt. Rushmore with a nail file. I couldn’t hear him. “Fuck the 

Berni Singley Defense Fund!“ I yelled. “I haven’t done anything that needs defending.” 

History Writing Itself. I knew being railroaded from my seat as Vice President of a 26,000-

strong white student governing body was historically significant. And for the briefest moment, I 

considered fighting on. Then I faced my truth: being Vice President was not nearly as big a deal 

to me as being elected Vice President had been. Although I had been willing to give it a shot, I 

had never really trusted the white boys around me and they had turned out to be exactly who I 
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had always been trained they were. I had imagined I was the noble black exception to their 

treachery and had even believed I could outsmart them with one hand tied behind my back. But 

if I kept fighting, what difference would it make? If I won a challenge—which I thought was 

highly unlikely given the political environment—what would I have really won? I had a future to 

create, one that would have no part of Florida in it.  

My work in Atlanta kept me busy, researching and writing briefs, interviewing potential 

clients, investigating their claims, and otherwise assisting the lawyers in preparing their cases.  I 

was so far removed from the SGA hubbub that when my temporary reprieve came, I didn’t even 

know it. Gratefully, it came from yet another group of my classmates, who proved that not all of 

them were venal, conniving dunderheads.  

Julie Huston Kuntz, the Honor Court Chancellor, and John D. Milton, Jr. together formed the 

Board of Masters. The Board was the only entity with authority to issue the writ of mandamus 

Jim Harrison sought to order me back to Gainesville to fulfill my “duties.”174 Because Julie had 

won her office as part of175 our “Future Changes” ticket, she became one more law student—my 

friend who was also a new bride—swept up in the rush to impeachment. 

The Board agreed that the UF SGA Constitution required me to perform Tyrie’s job in his 

absence,but, they said, Harrison’s petition had not specified any powers that required “the 

immediate attention of the vice president.”176 Further, as the Board instructed, just because Tyrie 

and I were off campus at the same time did not automatically make my absence a violation of the 

Constitution. To make my absence a violation, our simultaneous absences must cause 

“irreparable harm or suffering” before the Board would order me back to Gainesville. Otherwise, 

if the SGA/administration arguments were correct, the Board reasoned, Tyrie and I would never 

be able to attend out-of-town meetings or conferences together. The Board refused Harrison’s 
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request because he couldn’t come up with any reasons good enough to convince them to grant 

it.177  

Using the Board’s refusal as his guide, Harrison corrected his errors and redrafted the 

Articles of Impeachment to make them specific: I was accused of not standing in for Tyrie while 

he was absent from his duties as student body president from July 6-July 23. Finally, it became 

clear what the whole saga was really about.  

 Like George W. Bush and Dan Quayle, Tyrie was a white Southern male of enlistment age 

with connections. The son of a sitting Florida judge, Tyrie was also, like Bush and Quayle, in the 

National Guard. And to make sure he kept himself out of harm’s way in Vietnam, Tyrie needed 

to report for National Guard reserve duty. Finally, the Keystone Kops had stumbled upon a 

linchpin in their case for my impeachment: the one week that Tyrie had been away on reserve 

duty, my absence had apparently caused “irreparable harm and suffering.”178 The specifics of the 

damage wrought remain an unsolved mystery to this day. 

Meanwhile, the Board of Masters had gained two new members: Mark Grayson, Honor 

Court Vice Chancellor, and Larry Matthews, another law student. Clearly, the university’s 

decision a few years earlier to build the new law school on the edge of campus to get law 

students out of the middle of Student Government had not worked. 179 As the paper reported,  

Now that a full Board of Masters has been established it will be able to rule on the 

interpretation of the UF Student Body Constitution concerning the duties of the vice 

president of the student body in order to give the senate an idea of what charges they 

might bring against Berni Singley.180 

 

So, as this jury of my peers took their judgment seats to decide my fate, the hotly 

contested Law School Code of Responsibility, aimed at corralling a posse of cheating law 

students, worked its way back to the Student Senate. John Wilcox, President of the student 
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affiliate of the Florida bar, explained that, “the students needed and wanted something to 

curb the cheating and dishonesty that is a problem in the law school.”181 It was the 

“problem” Dean Julin had been forced to confront his first days on the job—the law school’s 

culture of dishonesty. Proving himself a quick study, Julin had shown he could learn to fit in 

fast when he orchestrated and finally handed down “the Berni Singley Rule.”He and the 

university General Counsel had concocted a swirl of legal interpretations that defied logic 

and that violated the most fundamental customs and traditions of law. They had resorted to a 

meat axe when a scalpel couldn’t get them and their not-too-smart law student SGA officers 

out of the mess they had created together. It was their desperate, last ditch effort to do 

illegally what they could not do legally: remove me from the SGA seat I had won through a 

valid student body election.  

 Julin and his law students became each other’s reflecting pools, glittering mirror images 

of the cultural values that defined his administration, values that law students brought with 

them when they came and took with them when they left.  

On 2 August 1973, the Florida Alligator trumpeted, “SINGLEY NO LONGER VICE 

PRESIDENT.” 

“There is no vice president of the student body today. The vacancy of the office 

comes after now-former vice president Berni Singley’s registration as a student was 

cancelled Tuesday. The Office of Student Affairs notified UF Student Body President 

Tyrie Boyer Wednesday afternoon that Singley could no longer serve as vice 

president because of her non student status, and declared the vice presidency 

vacant.182  

 

Not everyone was crowing. Astonishingly, Bill Rubin was among those having second 

thoughts even though he had been one of the earliest and most devoted of those who railroaded 

me. 
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“Whether Berni Singley was guilty or not, I don’t believe that she got fair treatment 

from the Law School administration,” Student Senate President Bill Rubin commented. 183 

Rubin believed the law school had failed to give me “fair warning” of what might happen if 

I didn’t attend classes. He was right, of course, but his professed concern was too little and 

way too late.  

Rubin knew as we all knew—Dean Julin, Asst. Dean Roy Hunt, the university general 

counsel, SGA members, Tyrie, the Honor Court, the Board of Masters, my law classmates—

the inescapable disgrace of their  “victory.” Changing the rules on attendance after students 

had enrolled, paid our tuition, and classes had started, allowed the law school to punish us 

for violating a policy that they hadn’t even thought of at the time we were supposed to have 

violated it.  

Despite the rampant racism and virulent sexism that was law school routine, early on I 

had forced myself to believe there was a baseline of conduct I could expect, the law school 

equivalent of honor among thieves. Integral to that belief was the expectation that if I 

behaved as other law students, except for racist professors grading me lower (something I 

was resigned to), I would be treated the same as other law students. Certainly, when I 

followed well-established law school traditions, I did not expect to end up a public sacrifice.  

There was no reason for me to believe I wouldn’t do what I’d been doing since I arrived 

at UF: pass my exams, earn my credits, and enroll for the next quarter just everyone else. So, 

like the nineteen other law students who were doing the same thing as I in the summer of 

1973, that was what I expected.  On 2 August 1973, the Alligator made it clear that would 

not happen. 
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“UF assistant registrar J. W. Jones said Tuesday the law school notified the registrar’s 

office that Singley had not been attending classes and therefore her registration in the law 

school had been cancelled.”184 What was not reported, however, was critical piece of the 

story: that none of it would have been possible if not for the creation of “the Berni Singley 

rule.” 

Even after all of that, there was one more move to make before the ruse could finally end 

the game. Careful this time to tie up loose ends, Jones, the assistant registrar, explained that 

where my summer enrollment was concerned, “the cancellation will be effective as of June 

15.” In other words, in August, they were backdating the cancellation of my enrollment by 

two months to make it fit with the date when “the Berni Singley rule” was created. Now, the 

game was over. 

What happened to the other nineteen law students’ registrations that would have had to 

be cancelled along with mine in order to make mine look legitimate? Did they protest? Were 

they reinstated after Dean Julin got rid of me? If not, did they get their tuition refunded? Did 

I? Some students were so out of reach that they would not have known things had changed 

until they returned to take their exams or write papers or do whatever else was required to 

earn their course credits. What was their recourse? 

As for me, the administration left no loose ends. Jones, the assistant registrar, explained, 

“the cancellation will be effective as of June 15.” In other words, they were backdating by 

two months the cancellation of my registration. Consequently, they law school cancelled my 

enrollment for violating a policy that did not exist at the time of cancellation and then used 

that cancellation as the basis for their SGA coup.  
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Once I was axed, Tyrie grew nearly sanguine about our relative positions, opining that I 

should have made a choice between my Atlanta job and the vice presidency instead of trying 

to do both.185 Despite believing that I had exercised “poor judgment” in choosing to earn 

$1500 in Atlanta instead of $300 for the SGA summer job, Tyrie acknowledged that I was 

“a brilliant person capable of being an extremely good vice-president.”186  

When the Infamous Three—Taylor, Gloeckner, and Rutledge—resigned, they had 

deprived the Honor Court from ruling on the legality of their positions. Now that missed 

opportunity returned to haunt me. And even though the Alligator determinedly overlooked 

the glaring and critical distinctions between what I did and what those three did not do, they 

were distinctions that made a difference.  

All of my decisions were publicly announced and totally disclosed. When I took the 

summer job, there was no pattern or practice that required SGA officers to be on campus 

twelve months of the year.   

When the law school changed its rules, even though I believed them to be illegal, 

nevertheless, I fully complied: I enrolled as a full-time student, paid my tuition, and planned 

to return to take the exams. Everything I did was in full public view and in keeping with a 

time-honored law school tradition.  

No one changed the rules on Taylor, Gloeckner, or Rutledge. The policies they violated 

were in place when they took office.187 No one changed the rules to make it possible to 

cancel their valid registrations. No one made the cancellations retroactive. It is possible, 

however, that if the administration not been gunning for Taylor, the first black SGA 

president, perhaps Gloeckner and Rutledge would not have become collateral damage. 



118 

 

 

It is unlikely that Taylor, Gloeckner, or Rutledge was called a “Commie” sympathizer. 

Unlikely that law school alumni, including members of the Florida legislature, called their 

dean’s office, screaming racial epithets and threatening to withhold funding if the law school 

kept “letting that nigger bitch get away with this.”188 

Tyrie’s nod to my “brilliance” was, perhaps, the closest anyone involved in the brouhaha 

ever came to describing my real crime: I had clearly demonstrated my capacity to do what 

he and others were incapable of doing: work and go to law school. In my first year, I had 

“booked”—earned the highest A in the class—Constitutional Law I and Constitutional Law 

II; my second year, I booked Family Law. Law School academics had not proven to be the 

insurmountable barrier the white folks around us had predicted they would be—or certainly 

they hadn’t been for me, a lesser black being.  

“COLE REPLACES SINGLEY” read the headline above the fold in the 9 August 1973 

Alligator.189 This time, though, it was my slate-mate, Richard Cole, also a senior law 

student, who put us there. Tyrie had nominated three potential replacements for my seat: the 

conscience-stricken Bill Rubin, who declined the nomination; Cole who was Chief Justice of 

Traffic Court; and Susan Lord, an associate justice of the Traffic Court with Cole.  

Cole was Tyrie’s close friend. Lord was also former secretary of the Honor Court. They 

were all insiders passing jobs around among themselves, learning the power of patronage. 

Among some senators, this also made Cole’s and Lord’s nominations suspect and fueled 

speculation that they might simply be “rubber stamps” for Tyrie who had given them their 

start in SGA by appointing them to their positions.190 Consequently, seventeen Senators 

abstained from voting on either Cole or Lord.191 
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As soon as Richard Cole was illegally handed my job, he immediately signaled his 

intention to be different from me. He promised to increase Student Government accessibility 

by “attending SG concerts, visiting the dorms and holding informal picnics,”192 prompting 

Tyrie to anoint him as “an extremely good choice, probably the best choice on campus.”193  

And yet the question lingered: Has Berni Singley been axed for good? Was I “legally out 

of office” or might I rise, ashen and wrathful, demanding my vice presidency when I 

returned to law school in the fall?194 Bill Rubin, the belatedly contrite Student Senate 

President who declined consideration for my seat, advised the worried that I had but one 

appeal route: to the same law school and university administrators who had conspired to 

orchestrate my forced removal.195 It was a safe bet that it was a route I would not be taking.  

Finally, the Board of Masters ordered the senate to halt its illegal impeachment 

proceedings against me. As Chief Justice Julie Kuntz’s decision explained, “Since the senate 

originated, investigated and would try the charges against Singley and would appoint the 

defense and prosecution, she had not been given due process.”196 By then it was, literally, a 

moot point.  

Nearly thirty years later, however, this early lesson on how to undo an election arguably 

proved instructive. When Florida became the watershed for the grand theft of the 2000 

Presidential election, a member of the law school staff who helped plot and execute my 

demise in north Florida reportedly found a new use for his skills in south Florida.  

Gratefully, my hard work found reward in other quarters the summer of 1973. As 

appreciation for my outstanding performance, the law partners presented me with an all-expense 

paid trip to the NAACP Legal Defense and Education Fund’s Airlie Conference in Warrenton, 

Virginia just before I returned to law school. An annual gathering for civil rights lawyers and 
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other activists, Airlie was the place where the fiercest minds gathered to hammer out a collective 

agenda and develop strategies for maintaining pressure to keep pushing the Movement forward. 

Everybody who was anybody connected to civil rights litigation was there, including Professor 

Derrick A. Bell, Jr. Bell, the first—and only—black law professor Harvard had managed to hire 

after more than 150 years in existence.  

When Professor Bell and I met, the university and the law school were putting the finishing 

touches on my SGA ouster. Despite their efforts and the efforts of people like them, though, I 

had cause for celebration: I was still a law student and civil rights was still more than a concept 

as the folks at Airlie proved.  

Professor Bell was sharing his wisdom as a conference lecturer. I was waiting my turn to 

mouth off at the elders, some of whom I was extremely dismayed to learn were unabashedly 

racist, sexist, and patronizing. All fired up, I rose before the group to have my say. After the 

session, Professor Bell introduced himself to me and immediately began praising law teaching as 

a career choice. Until then, it had never crossed my mind. Only later did I discover that Bell 

aggressively recruited blacks, other people of color, and women and shepherded them into law 

teaching.  

A few weeks later, I returned to law school without an SGA spot to hiss in. 
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Sour Milk 

 

Our greeting at the Miami Four Seasons was neither warm nor welcoming. But we were the 

Talented One Percent, black keepers of a Dream then only slightly tattered and we had no 

intention of being sidetracked by a desk clerk with Cuba still so thick on his tongue that his 

English was unintelligible. His demeanor, however, required no translation.  

Upon hearing we had reservations, he thumbed through a small box of files, drummed his 

fingers on the counter top, turned his back on us to speak Spanish to a colleague while waving 

his arms and shrugging his shoulders. We waited as white guests walked up to cheerful 

greetings, checked in effortlessly, got room assignments and keys and disappeared. When we 

were the only ones left, the desk clerk faced us with the bad news: We had no reservations and 

the hotel was full.  

I asked for the manager and explained our dilemma: We were third year law students in town 

to talk to partners of some of Miami’s most powerful law firms and we had confirmed 

reservations. Instead of adding that we were from the Black Law Students Association soliciting 

contributions for the Martin Luther King, Jr. Scholarship Fund, I surmised that the big-time 

lawyers expecting us probably would not like hearing their guests had been treated so poorly. 

"Lawsuit" floated up from the conversation my three traveling partners were having within 

earshot behind me. The manager returned to the registration desk and our reservations popped 

up. 

Undaunted, the clerk warned us as he dropped our room keys on the counter: Any complaints 

about us partying, making noise, or otherwise disturbing other guests and we would promptly be 

kicked out. The elevator doors closed on us, our baggage, and our indignation.  
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We passed the night without getting evicted and assembled early the next morning,   sharply 

turned out renditions of our best Sunday selves. We paired off and made our rounds of wealthy 

UF law alums, starting with the most politically moderate firm first. We hoped the moderates 

would give us the boost we’d need to work our way down the list to their least enlightened 

colleagues. At the end of a long day, our performances over, we went back to the hotel and 

turned in.  

The next morning, we decided to eat before we hit the road for the six-hour drive north. I will 

never know why Jacob insisted we dine at Sambo’s. I still cannot fathom why we agreed. As 

legendary as Jacob’s persuasive powers already were even then, we all knew better. We were all 

Southern born and bred, so the restaurant name alone—Sambo’s—should have been sufficient 

deterrent.  

Maybe it was because we had spent the previous day skinning and grinning and asking the 

white folks with the money and the power to, please, oh please, give us some for the black ones 

we hoped would be coming along behind us. See what good little niggers we are turning out to 

be? See? Invest in others like us, buffers against the unwashed and improperly socialized colored 

masses. Maybe shuffling through the previous day’s work had swallowed our swagger and we 

needed to do something—even something stupid—to get back our juice. If we were spoiling for 

a fight, we picked the right spot. If we were looking for a cheap meal, we ended up paying a 

ransom. 

A few customers were scattered about when we entered. Service was slow, but uneventful. 

The waitress finally appeared with steaming stacks of pancakes, eggs, grits, sausage, bacon, and 

ham which we promptly dug into, talking and laughing until most of the food was gone. Among 
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the breakfast litter was my sweating glass of milk. I always saved my liquids for last, so I 

grabbed it and took a big gulp.  

It tasted funny. I sniffed. It smelled funny. Holding the glass up to the sunlight pouring 

through the window behind Freemon and Johnnie, clabber was easily visible where it ringed the 

inside rim of the glass and floated lazily atop the white liquid. 

"Yiich! This milk is sour! Taste it." I offered it to Jacob. We passed the glass from hand to 

hand and reached quick consensus: sour milk.  

We summoned the waitress who eventually sidled over. I asked for the bill and told her the 

milk was sour. Without a word, she marched to the cash register, stomped back over to us, 

slapped our check on the table, and walked off. I summoned her again. "We’re ready to pay the 

bill, but we need to have this charge for the milk taken off because it’s sour." I held the glass up 

for her inspection. She wheeled around and marched off again. We watched her confer with a 

white guy who appeared to be a supervisor. Then she was back to announce their verdict. "Ain’t 

nuthin wrong with the milk.” 

"Maybe there’s nothing wrong with your milk," I began slowly, "but this glass of milk is 

sour." She stomped back over to the counter and returned with the manager. “Ain’t nuthin wrong 

with the milk," he repeated as though his saying it settled it.   

"Okay, here, you taste it." I lifted the glass up to them. Johnnie stared straight ahead as 

Freemon studied his hands, both of which rested on the table. Jacob took turns gazing intently at 

the waitress, then the manager, feigning fascination. Unnerved by his attention, the waitress 

looked around for more backup and spotted a Florida State Trooper. I had seen him enter the 

restaurant moments earlier, had noticed him standing off to the side, eavesdropping on our 

conversation. I tried again. "Look, all we want you to do is take the milk off the bill so we can 
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pay and get out of here." The trooper stepped up next to the manager and waitress. "There a 

problem?" His right hand fondled his thigh near the gun in his holster. "Nope. But even if there 

were one, it’d have nothing to do with you since your jurisdiction ended when you turned off the 

highway into that parking lot,” I advised.  

"Officer, I done tol them ain’t nuthin wrong with that milk," the manager piped up. The 

trooper tapped the table. "I think yall better pay this bill and git."   

"Okay, here, you taste it and tell me if it’s sour." I pushed the glass towards him. "Like I 

said,…" he began again. I interrupted him.  

"Like I said, we’re not paying for sour milk. We’ll pay for everything except that. Anyway, 

why are you even in this conversation? What’s going on in here has nothing to do with what’s 

going on out there, which is probably where you need to be." I waved my hand towards the 

ribbon of highway that stretched out beyond the window. Just then, a knee pressed mine under 

the table. When I followed the others’ gazes, I saw them: eight uniformed, beefy white men lined 

up along the back wall. They had entered so quietly, I didn’t even know they were there, between 

us and the exit. 

"Aw, fuck" Johnnie whispered. "The Metro Squad." I had never heard of a metro squad, but 

their presence was its own explanation. "Let’s go," I said, leaning sideways against Jacob to push 

him out of the booth. Standing, I realized we were the only customers left in the restaurant as i t 

did not appear that the beefy goons had dropped in for a meal. We headed for the exit on the 

opposite side of the restaurant. As we walked, I kept talking. "Just give us the bill without the 

milk on it so we can pay and go." 
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Someone tapped me on my shoulder from behind. I turned to face two black Miami 

policemen who had joined the scene. One beckoned me with his finger. "Can I have a word with 

you over here, young lady?" It was more a command than a request.  

"Where y’all from anyway?" His eyes worked me over as I answered: Down from law school 

in Gainesville to raise money for the Martin Luther King Scholarship Fund. We wanted to pay 

for our breakfast, but not the sour milk, so we could get back on the road. Relieved we had found 

a sympathetic ear, the knot in my gut loosened.   

The cop cut me off. "Just what egg-zackly are you tryin’ to prove? Don’t you know what it’s 

gonna look like if yall get dragged off to jail? Dr. King didn’t run around stirring up mess, 

starting trouble for other people. You say you’re trying to help other Negro students. How is you 

getting arrested gonna help them? All you gonna do is make sure none of ‘em get the same 

chance you got right now just because you down here starting trouble. You gonna give those 

folks up in Gainesville exactly what they need—an excuse to put you out of a place they never 

wanted you in, in the first place.”  

"But the milk is sour..."   

"Shaddup and listen to what I’m trying to tell you cuz you and your friends here are fixin to 

get seriously hurt." Suddenly, he stepped back, reached behind his back, whipped out a twenty-

dollar bill, and shoved it in my hand. "Just pay the damn bill and get the hell outta here,” he 

hissed. “Just pay the Goddamn bill!" 

Hot, furious tears rolled down my cheeks and met under my chin. I dropped the money on 

the floor and stuck my wet face close enough for him to hear my whisper. "Fuck you! Why 

should we pay for sour milk?! Why? We’re talking eighty-six cents for a fucking glass of milk. 

No. We ain't payin' for it. I’ll die before I pay these crackers for their sour milk."  
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I stumbled over to the guys who stood huddled off to the side, quiet, watching. I told them 

what the cop had said. Johnnie was the only one of us who had actually been jailed and beaten in 

student demonstrations not all that long ago. He was painfully familiar with the men still lined up 

between us and freedom. He spoke first.  

“Those fuckas over there, they’re Miami Metro, man, what they call the tactical division of 

the Miami police. They’re the crackers specially trained to kick ass, you know, to fuck you up. If 

we go to jail, they’re definitely gone beat the shit out of us.  

"And after that, we still gotta call somebody to come and bail us out. And then we still hafta 

get back home because there’s no telling what they’ll do to Freemon’s car. And they’re known 

for planting stuff on you to get some charges they can make stick." 

So there we were: 3Ls in the last stretch, already undergoing the most thorough investigation 

of our personal lives we would probably ever experience, compliments of the Florida Bar. An 

arrest—not to mention getting stomped by the Metro Squad—could permanently mess us up. We 

could face trumped up criminal records that would keep us from ever becoming lawyers and 

follow us the rest of our lives. Or we could pay the bill.  

Outside in the bright, hot day, we piled into the car and drove off. Once we were certain we 

were not being followed, Freemon pulled off the highway onto a grassy shoulder and leaned 

forward until his forehead rested on the steering wheel. The sound of our weeping filled the car. 

We never mentioned that day to each other again. 
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God’s Little Trust Fund 

Back on campus, we never again mentioned our run-in with milk in Miami. Instead, we 

continued to discuss likely donors to the Martin Luther King Scholarship Fund. One with great 

potential was Peter Ward, a law professor who was rumored to be loaded because, as the story 

went, he had been born into a family that had amassed great wealth, which he had increased.  

But it wasn’t just Peter’s money that made him a likely prospect. Peter was also a Jesus 

freak. Bald, grizzled, and small, he strutted around in his own teaching uniform of blue jeans and 

t-shirts proclaiming Jesus’ love. With dead presidents in his back pocket and Christ in his heart, 

Peter was so damned cool, so down with the program, that he insisted that students call him by 

his first name. As far as I was concerned, then, it wasn’t a question of whether Peter would 

contribute to the MLK Scholarship Fund. It was simply a question of how much. I did not, 

however, want to be the one to make the pitch. 

I had never liked the man. I thought he was full of shit from jump. Many black law students 

did not agree with me, especially the younger ones who had arrived on campus the same year 

Peter showed up.  

Hadn’t he paid tuition for this one or bought that one’s books? Hadn’t he even paid for major 

reconstructive surgery for still another one? And didn’t he do all of this without asking for 

anything in return except their unquestioning love and incessant public genuflection?  

It was a miracle I was still speaking to Jacob, all things considered. Yet, there he was…again. 

This time he argued that I was the best one to hit up Peter for a contribution because I had not 

been the recipient of his largesse, had not taken any classes from him, and had clearly chosen to 

have no other contact with him. In fact, Jacob maintained, the fact that Peter knew I didn’t like 

him would work in my favor. So a few days after being done in by sour milk in Miami, I left 
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Peter’s office with a $500 check drawn on “God’s Little Trust Fund, Inc.” All he asked for in 

return was a receipt. I promptly passed on his check and his request for a receipt to the faculty 

advisor responsible for handling both. 

A day or two later, I noticed that Peter was not chirping in delight as he usually was when a 

black student was within range. A few more days passed, but Peter’s strained countenance 

remained. By the week’s end, Peter was not speaking at all. I didn’t know what occasioned his 

sulking and since I already had his money, I didn’t care. 

It was the end of the term. Classes were over and everyone was in various stages of distress 

mostly occasioned by upcoming exams. After spending the morning studying in the library, I 

stood up and walked outside to stretch and find something to eat. I stopped at the kiosk just 

outside the door to read the notices about exam schedules, due dates for final class assignments, 

bar review courses, and other end-of-the-term matters.  

I noticed Peter was standing at the kiosk, too, seemingly lost in thought, clad in his counter-

culture garb. His faded green t-shirt proclaimed, “Jesus loves you.” I took it as a sign and 

sauntered over to him. 

“Oh, I guess you don’t speak anymore, huh?” I said. He whirled around, eyes blazing with 

something other than the love of God, his face contorted in fury.  

“That’s what’s wrong with you people,” he spat out. “You’re always looking for somebody 

to do something for you, but you don’t ever do what you’re supposed to do.” 

You people. Those two words stuffed themselves down one ear while the other ear strained to 

stay open for what would follow. I stepped back and turned to look behind me, intrigued to see 

just who it was that could draw such outrage from one of Jesus’ self-proclaimed gentle spirits. 

There was no one there. I turned back around. He was talking to me. 
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“All I asked for is a receipt!” he screamed. “A damn receipt and you can’t even handle that! 

How do you expect to get money from people, to get them to try to help you if you can’t even do 

what you’re supposed to do.” 

“Peter, I asked Professor Glickson to give you a receipt. He handles the money. He does the 

receipts.” 

“No, you’re the one who took the check and you’re the one I expect to give me a receipt. I 

didn’t give Professor Glickson my money. I gave it to you. Don’t try to pass your responsibility 

off on him. That’s what’s wrong with you people. You don’t want to accept responsibility for 

anything. If you ask people to do things and they do it, then you have to do what you’re supposed 

to do. Just get me a Goddamn receipt!” He turned and strode away.  

I stood there for a moment, rewinding the tape of our exchange and playing it back. I climbed 

the floor to the second floor faculty offices, passed Peter’s office, and stopped at the one next to 

it. The door was open so I stuck my head in and asked Professor Glickson if he had had a chance 

to make out a receipt for Peter Ward. He had not, he said, because he had been waiting until he 

could do all of the receipts at once. He planned to get them out within the next week. I thanked 

him and continued down the hall to my office. 

Pretty soon, Jacob dropped by. I told him what had happened. As he routinely did, he blew 

off the exchange as just more evidence of my reign of terror over the men at the law school. 

“See,” he teased, “even when they have a thousand law degrees and a million bucks, the white 

boys are still scared of a tall black woman with a mind like a scalpel and a buzz saw for a 

tongue.”  
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Then he spied the half-filled sheet of paper in front of me. “Nooo, nooo, no!” he began. 

“Please tell me you’re not writing another one of those  letters.” I shoved the paper towards him. 

He read it and pushed it back across the desk towards me.  

“Oh, come now,” he said in his best Paul Robeson imitation, “why are you letting this little 

man upset you?” Before I could answer, he continued, feigning innocence.  

“By the way, did you know Peter is lobbying to become the Dean of Minority Affairs for the 

law school? He would be hurt, devastated, if word got out that not all black law students love 

him unconditionally.” 

Having pulled the pin on his grenade, Jacob sank back into his seat, his arms folded across 

his chest, waiting for my response. I picked up my pen with new fervor. By the time I had 

finished, neither Peter Ward nor any of the folks to whom he would show my letter for the next 

twenty years would have any doubts about my opinion of Peter Ward’s fitness as a child of God, 

a man, or prospective Dean of Minority Affairs. 

My note to him ended with clear warning: “From this point on, as far as I am concerned, you 

do not exist. Do not ever speak to me again. Don’t even look in my direction. If you do, I 

promise I will kick your ass from here to Kingdom come. Ignore this advice at your peril.”  

In our self-contained corner on the edge of campus, it was impossible for me and Peter to 

avoid each other. When we ended up on the faculty elevator together, he glared from his corner 

while I yawned and stretched and scratched with the abandon of one who occupied the space 

alone. In outdoor spaces, I planted myself next to him, towering over him. I kept my word and 

never again looked at nor uttered a word to him. 
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Peter, however, kept my memory alive long after I was gone. Each year he distributed copies 

of my letter to his Torts classes as an example of a writing that contained all of the elements 

necessary to make out a prima facie case for both libel and assault.  

Finally, nearly twenty years later when the UF law school’s Faculty Recruitment Committee 

bandied about my name as an alumna who should be considered for a teaching position, Peter 

mounted a crusade against extending me even an invitation to interview. He used my letter as his 

single compelling piece of evidence. 

“You’re either with me or against me,” he declared to his professor colleagues. When a 

faculty member called to see how I might respond to such an invitation and to Peter’s carrying 

on, I told them I agreed unequivocally with Peter’s assessment.  

Until that phone call came, the real lesson of my final exchange with Peter had been lost on 

me. When I discovered that twenty years later he was still carrying around the letter I had hand-

delivered to him in his office, I realized I had exacted revenge by eviscerating him in the 

language and on the turf we both most valued. Then, as so many like him had done for centuries 

to so many like me, I simply made him disappear. 
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Invitation to Deal 

“You’ve got everything it takes. You know our institutional history, how things work around 

here. Folks respect you. I think you’d be a perfect fit.”  

It was a weird place to be: sitting there in Dean Julin’s office, across the desk from him, 

trying not to show my surprise at his offer. He had just created a brand new position—Assistant 

Dean for Minority Affairs—and it was mine if I wanted it. Apparently, he had changed his mind 

and decided that there was no need for a Dean of Minority Affairs. So Peter Ward hadn’t landed 

his overseer’s job after all. I wanted to believe my letter to Peter, a copy of which I had also 

hand-delivered to Dean Julin, had had something to do with the new order of things. Ego 

fantasies aside, though, I knew that was unlikely.  

The dean’s ploy was so transparent, I was too embarrassed to hold his gaze. Nothing near as 

smooth or inventive as the bad cop/good cop routine Mr. Al had pulled on us counselors at 

summer camp four years earlier, when he played both roles himself as he doused our day-old 

rebellion. Mr. Al’s reward to me for being the only one left standing up to him was to neutralize 

me by separating me from the others with preferential treatment. Julin’s offer had none of that 

finesse. Instead, he had gone straight for the purchase and sell agreement: fluff me up with 

institutional status and the appearance of authority, lash me to him with a good salary, saddle—

and silence—me with the burden of being a team player.  

Maybe he thought the SGA coup had taught me a lesson. Maybe he thought I was finally able 

to appreciate the mutual investment the law school and I shared, the one that should not be 

wasted. Maybe he was willing to give me a chance to correct my course if I were willing to trust 

his vision of our future together. Unfortunately, I had not learned what to keep to myself and 

what was safe to share, much less how to sugarcoat it.  
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“You’re kidding, right?” 

“Absolutely not. Why don’t you think about it and give me your answer later?” 

“I don’t need to think about it. No way.” 

“You mean you won’t even consider it?” 

“For what? To stay here and be your show nigger?! How long do you think I’d last? Not even 

a week. No. But thank you for thinking of me.”   

“So, you have other job offers?” 

“Not a single one.” 

“What will you do then?”  

“Go get my LL.M.”   

“Oh? Great! Where?” 

“Hopefully, the University of Michigan or Harvard. I thought I would’ve heard from them by 

now, but…I’m sure I’ll hear something soon.” 

“Well, they do take their time, you know. It’s an extremely selective process at that level 

and—hee, hee—those two are the best. You know, they still take my phone calls at Michigan. I 

can check to see where you are in the process. Only if you want me to, though.” 

“Wow, thank you so much! Michigan is where you were before you came here, right?”  

“Yes. Great school. Beautiful campus. Wonderful people. You’d like Ann Arbor. I’ll make a 

note to myself. Give me a call in a day or two to see what I come up with.” 

Four days later, my rejection letter from Michigan arrived. So, there I was, as graduation day 

approached in the spring of 1974, not the least bit confused about my future as a Florida lawyer 

because it was clear I didn’t have one.  
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First, no Florida firm would hire me even though I was graduating in less than three years, 

with three book awards to show for my efforts. On the downside, my head was too strong, my 

mouth too big, and I was not nearly grateful enough for the opportunity of spending three years 

with one thousand Southern white men. And even if I beat the odds and landed a job, my chances 

of passing the Florida Bar were zilch. That had nothing to do with the bar examination being too 

tough and everything to do with making myself too visible, which meant I was visible at all.  

Even if I took and passed the bar, I had good reason to believe the Florida Bar would never 

let me know it. And even if I passed the written examination, I was certain I would never make it 

past the totally subjective “character test.” Beyond that, my politics were anathema to my 

survival and success as a young, black feminist professional in Florida. I insisted on loudly going 

left instead of slinking quietly to the right.  

When I left the Dean’s office, I found Haygood and Jake studying in “The Office,” which 

was actually a vacant faculty office we took over simply by congregating there between classes. 

We never asked permission to use it and no one ever dared ask us to leave. Since Jake and 

Haygood happened to be friends who had voluntarily assumed the task of guiding my future, I 

figured they should be the first to know about my meeting with the dean. In fact, Haygood was 

the one who had first had the idea I should go to Harvard for a master’s degree in Constitutional 

Law, so I knew he’d be especially interested in my latest news. 

“Guess what,” I said, plopping down in a chair, “I just came from a job interview.” 

“No shit? For real?” Haygood’s raised right eye registered his disbelief. “Who in their right 

mind would…no, wait, wait…who did interview you, Ms. Singley?” 

“Dean Julin.” 
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“Ohhhh, God. Oh, Jeezus! Bernestine, please tell me you didn’t cuss the man out.” Haygood 

shook his head and then let it drop dramatically into his hands.  

“Now you know, Mike, that Bernestine approached the dean with the utmost reverence that 

she reserves especially for all the esteemed powerful white men who are so earnestly dedicated 

to shaping our malleable young minds to prepare us to go out and do good. So, why on earth 

would you suggest that such an upright woman, a fearless leader of our people even, would do 

such a thing as cursing out our dean?” They slapped hands and fell over laughing. 

“No, I’m serious. I had an interview with the dean and he offered me a job.”  

“You take it?” Haygood lowered the other two feet of his chair to the floor and leaned 

forward. 

“C’mon, man, what do you think? Naaaaaah. No way.” Jacob answered for me.  

“He asked me if I wanted to be Assistant Dean for Minority Affairs. I said no.” 

“That’s all you said?” Haygood’s face telegraphed his disbelief. 

“I just said I wasn’t gonna be his show nigger.” 

“See?! I know you too well. I knew you couldn’t just go in there and come out without 

somehow finding some way to tell the dean to kiss your ass.” Haygood chortled. 

The Michigan rejection shook me up. A few days later, I was back to fretting about my 

future. That’s when I was lured by a long shot: a job as a law clerk to Florida judge. Perhaps 

because I needed to keep my expectations low, I was shocked and elated when I landed an 

interview.  

The judge was reserved, somber but cordial. He executed my interview with such dispatch 

that it was over before I could get any real sense of whether or not I had sufficiently impressed 

him. Parting with a handshake, he assured me that he would make his decision soon and 
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promised his office would be in touch. Halfway down the hallway, still sorting through what had 

just happened, I heard a door close behind me. Footsteps quickened until one of the judge’s staff 

fell in step beside me and escorted me out onto the steps in front of the building.  

“Uh, don’t take this the wrong way, what I’m about to tell you, but I just think you ought to 

know that there’s no way the Judge can hire you.” I eyed this bearer of bad tidings, wondering 

for a moment if I were in a face-off with someone suffering sudden onset of professional 

jealousy. But the messenger’s direct gaze and visible discomfort registered as sincere. My 

instincts told me to pay attention. 

“It’s not that you’re not smart enough. We were real impressed with you on paper and you’re 

even better in person. But—well, we didn’t know what you looked like. If the Judge hired you—

you know, a good-looking woman—nobody around here would take you seriously. They 

wouldn’t think you got the job on merit and then they’d be looking at him funny, too. Plus, he 

can’t have two black law clerks. It just wouldn’t look right. Anyway, you don’t really want this 

job. It’s not big enough for you.” Stunned out of my silence, I thanked my informer, shook the 

hand extended to me, and headed across the street to my car. I have no recollection of ever 

hearing from the judge’s office again.  
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Redemption Song  

This was one graduation I was not missing and I didn’t want the women in my family who 

were most important to me to miss it either: Tina, my only sibling; Priscilla, our cousin of jaw-

breaking fame; and Mama. The mid-March day they watched me march was sunny and perfect 

and the grand event moved swiftly and efficiently. Almost before I had time for it to soak in, 

graduation was over. Not only had I completed law school, I had made history again, this time by 

becoming the third black woman law graduate, after Hazel Land and Allison P. Thompson, from 

the University of Florida.  

I had had some academic victories over the three years when I booked (earned the highest 

“A” in) Constitutional Law I, Constitutional Law II, and Family Law. That had not been enough, 

though, to earn me a single honor at graduation. And while I was nowhere near the top of my 

class, I was in the top third. Given the hell I had been raising and after I had seen how low a 

posse of Gators could go, I could finally admit that I was relieved to just graduate.  

We were standing there in front of the library savoring the moment when Jake Rose rounded 

the corner with his open robe flying—the better to reveal his red hot pants and matching fishnet 

tank top—and his mortarboard cocked at an impossible angle. He grabbed my elbow and nodded 

to my family as he began guiding me in the direction of the law review offices. 

“Mrs. Singley, if you would be so kind as to allow me your daughter’s hand, not in marriage, 

of course, because I have a lovely betrothed to whom I am promised, but for just a moment or 

two because I would like to bestow an honor on Bernestine that she simply cannot miss and one 

that I’ve been waiting to share with her for so long that I’m afraid neither it nor I can wait any 

longer.” One sentence delivered in Jacob’s basso profundo, polished off with an over-the-top 
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British spin, which took twenty years and Avery Brooke’s one-man show to make me realize that 

Jake’s oratorical flourish was not his own invention, but was a perfect imitation of Paul 

Robeson’s brilliant British affectation. Jacob’s was a voice that had a history—and a future—of 

weakening strong women’s will and Mama was no exception. She grinned and nodded her 

assent, then watched in disbelief as Jake ushered me into the men’s room. 

“What the hell are you doing?!” I tried to squirm free of his grasp, but couldn’t.  

“No, really, Bernestine, you want to see this. I promise you will thank me for the rest of your 

life because, and you must trust me on this, this is a gift money can’t buy.” The restroom door 

had swung shut behind us. Jacob pushed me over to a stall and kicked open the door. 

“Here, look at this. If you want to know what your true impact has been on this institution, to 

know how truly powerful you are, here’s all the evidence you need. Think about it,” he stepped 

into a stall and tapped the wall. “Here where these white boys are supposed to be their most 

relaxed, when they’re performing the most basic of bodily functions—relieving themselves—you 

are what’s on their mind.”    

From what seemed to be the original writing on the wall that began with me as its subject, 

other narratives had flourished. There were enough to cover an impressive portion of a stall wall, 

to the right if you were sitting and to the left if you stood. It branched off in every direction, 

some inscriptions with little cartoon illustrations, some in snippets, some in complete sentences, 

even a few short paragraphs. A few were laugh-out-loud funny. Most were mean and—scared. I 

was the common thread. 

So Jake had been wrong about the potable water and gigantic sneakers south of the border 

and wrong about the breakfast spot in Miami. But he was absolutely right about this. Money 

couldn’t touch it. 
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Graduation was over. Turning right out of the faculty parking lot with Mama in the front seat 

beside me and my sister and cousin in the back, I stuck my head out the  window and screamed 

the words to a Negro spiritual. “How I got oooooover! How I got oooover, oh, my Lord! My soul 

looks back and wonders how I got over!”   

Ma looked at me like I had lost my mind that mid-March day in 1974 and, in a way, I had. 

Lucky me, though, I had found a much better one to replace it and it was taking me back to 

Atlanta, to a job at Moore, Alexander, & Rindskopf.  

And when summer ended, I moved to Cambridge, Massachusetts to begin studying for my 

masters of law degree at a place that did want me—Harvard Law School.  
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JaDawnya C. Butler 

In 2003, I am wary in Gainesville, mindful that Florida has always proved to be treacherous 

geography for me no matter my location. In the parking lot just as the sun sets, I stop to get my 

bearings. Except for cars and parking spaces, which seem to have increased exponentially, thirty 

years don’t seem to have made much difference.  

Exactly as it did when I was a student there, Spanish moss drapes towering pines, creating an 

arbor over a scattering of concrete tables and benches occupied by students chatting or bent 

silently over books. With a few minutes left in Prof. Walter Weyrauch’s class, I ease into a seat 

by the door.  As class ends, he introduces me as his former student. No one seems all that 

interested. 

Standing near the door as students file past, I count four or five women who appear to be 

black or at least not white. All of them except one steer clear of me, their eyes averted. The one 

who stops in front of me is electric. Smiling broadly, eyes afire, I can feel her energy before she 

grips my hand with a firmness that belies her petite stature. When she says she is delighted to 

make my acquaintance, I have no doubt. The difference between her—vivacious, articulate, 

abuzz—and the zombie sistas who preceded her is startling. She is JaDawnya C. Butler and she 

is definitely black. 

It seems JaDawnya read the article in the law school alumni magazine several months earlier 

featuring WHEN RACE BECOMES REAL and had decided I was someone she wanted to meet. “And 

now you’ve just walked into my class!” Of course, I am flattered, imagining that I might react 

similarly to a black woman who showed up in 1971, announcing she had graduated from the law 

school in 1941. 
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Soon, I am racing to keep up with Butler’s staccato description of life as a black woman law 

student at the University of Florida in the 21st century. The vignettes she paints remind me so 

much of my own experiences decades earlier, I am dumbfounded. How can this be? The fall 

2000 class admitted 105 women and 28%  “minority” out of a total enrollment of 213. Still, 

despite those numbers that would appear to signal change, oppressive white male supremacy 

remains as staunchly embedded as the concrete walls and pillars that surround us.197  

From classmates foot-shuffling en masse to anonymously—and cowardly—silence her; to 

caricatures ridiculing her class participation that mysteriously end up as wallpaper around an 

entire lecture hall; to the white female dean who turned a deaf ear to her plea for the 

administration’s intervention to relieve the law school’s hostile environment, it is easy to 

understand why JaDawnya has decided she refuses to spend another term serving out this 

sentence. With only one year left, she has just decided to leave and finish her studies at another 

school. 

“But I feel like my leaving would not be honoring your legacy,” she ends, dismayed. It takes 

a second for her meaning to click in because I’m still stuck back in the mounting fury and 

disbelief that battles we fought in 1971 are still being waged. When her words last words finally 

penetrate, I am surprised by the vehemence of my response.  

“No. No! NO! You honor my legacy by doing exactly what you know is best for you. Thirty 

years ago, I stayed because I didn’t feel like I had a choice. First, even if I could get admitted to 

another law school—which I doubted—I knew it wouldn’t be any different.  

“Second—or maybe this is actually first—if I had left, I knew it would make it much worse 

for any black students—especially sistas—trying to come behind me. White folks who never 

wanted us here in the first place would’ve been sitting around, licking their chops talking about, 
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‘See? Told ya they couldn’t cut it. No reason to get them all excited and upset by lettin’ em in 

when we know ain’t none of em ever gone get out.’ 

“Nobody could make that argument now and be taken seriously, though. Too many of us 

have successfully navigated this maze. So if you want to stay, stay. But if you want to go, go. Go 

have a full life where you can laugh and party and hang out and be a whole person instead of 

walking around here in a Kevlor vest, waiting for one of these lily-livered jerks to take you out—

and I don’t mean on a date, either!” We bend towards each other, laughing.  

“You’ll be fine no matter what you decide to do,” I assure her, drawing her into my hug. 

“You honor my legacy just by being here, putting up with this bullshit all these many years later. 

You honor my legacy by being fine, fierce, and fearless and staring down these dried up 

oppressors and their trembling spawn day after day. Nothing more is required. By the way, 

where are you from?” 

Her answers build a mound of convergences. Apart from the law school, we both had 

childhoods in Charlotte, NC as well as lives in Atlanta and Texas. Then it is her turn to 

interrogate me. Restored to her former ebullience, she wants to know what brings me back to 

campus. After hesitating momentarily, I confess my plans to search the University’s archives to 

see if they have recorded my place in our history. Then without further prompting, I launch into 

the short version of my election as SGA Vice President and the ultimate coup orchestrated by the 

university’s lawyer and the dean of the law school. Eyes slanted in disbelief, JaDawnya slowly 

nods her head side to side. 

“But don’t you worry, honey. It might’ve taken me thirty years to make it back, but here I 

am. And here you are: the other end of my arc. I am so proud of you—of us!” I puff my chest out 

and feign a strut.   
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But as soon as they are out, my words bring me up short and suddenly I’m not clowning 

anymore. Decades of emotion swell, forcing me to swallow repeatedly to keep from bawling like 

a baby right outside the classroom where I took Estates and Trusts in the Dark Ages. JaDawnya’s 

eyes glisten in response. I force myself to recover because, more than anything else at this 

moment, I want to stamp her with my impression of myself as stalwart warrior come to make 

wrongs right. 

“These bastards have erased me for thirty years, right? Well, now I’ m here to put me back. 

We’ll see what version of this story is left standing after the showdown.”   

~   ~   ~ 

The next morning, I am up before dawn ready to pound out what’s percolated overnight. My 

laptop is dead. Nothing I do—including plugging in the power supply—draws any juice. Even 

without power, the black-faced monitor still manages to emit an ominous message. Reduced to 

pad and paper, I head for the University archives.  

Like the dead battery that started my day, a library system named Smathers is  another bad 

sign. Like Stephen O’Connell, to me, George Smathers spells Florida dynasty: white, male, 

powerful, arch conservative. As a U. S. Senator, Smathers voted against the Civil Rights Act of 

1964, signed the “Southern Manifesto” that condemned desegregation of public schools, and 

objected to Thurgood Marshall’s appointment to the U. S. Supreme Court. Consequently, his 

name is not comforting in connection with my people and me. But I have spent a lot of money 

and come a long way for this, so I open the doors, enter the library, and drop over the edge of 

irony.  

It is a quiet, large open room, solemn but with lots of natural light, the kind of library space I 

love. Since I called ahead of time to discuss the archives I want to search, the boxes I need are 
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already on a cart next to the reference librarian’s perch. After reading printed material describing 

how archived information is to be handled, I am ready to roll. 

Before long, I am lost in the past. My breathing becomes shallow, my hands tremble, and I 

am bathed in a film of perspiration. After thirty years, how can mere sheets of paper, most of 

them only copies, trigger this response? When I find what I have come to see, I am tempted to 

stop. Instead, I keep going. Much like cleaning a carpet soiled by a pet, I have to scrub beyond 

the spot to make sure I arrest the odor, remove all the stain. Willing myself into a detached, 

mechanical mode, I am a study in time and motion: document face down on the copier, push 

“print,” original face down in one stack, copy face up in another. When I finish and turn back to 

the table where I am working, a black man stands next to my chair, sizing me up.  

~   ~   ~ 

“They called upstairs and told me you were here. My name is Joaquin Boswell. I work here.”  

“So, they pay you to keep an eye on the black folks who come through?” 

“No, they just said, ‘Joaquin, come down. There’s a young lady here you need to see. She 

says she graduated from the law school thirty years ago.’”  

A black, middle-aged one-man investigation committee, Boswell seems harmless enough 

even if a tad proprietary and officious. Since he has been dispatched to find out what I am up to, 

I tell him as I continue distributing new copies atop the growing piles.   

It has taken me thirty years to get back to the spot where I am: on the University of Florida’s 

campus, working my way, box by box, document by document, through Student Government 

Association (SGA) files in the university’s archives. I am there to piece together the university’s 

story of my stolen election. I am the lion come back to check the hunter’s tale of the hunt.  
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As I finish this summary of my excavation, I wave two pages jubilantly at Boswell. The 

miracle is that my name is anywhere at all in the files. After all, the loser’s story usually resides  

in what is missing from the archives. Though there is plenty missing, except for one student 

newspaper article, I have found what I came looking for.  

Boswell perks up when I mention the one issue of the Independent Florida Alligator I wasn’t 

able to find. The story rings a bell with him, which he indicates with his raised index finger. “I 

think I know exactly where to find what you’re looking for. I believe I saw that upstairs.” He 

hands me his business card and disappears.  

~   ~   ~ 

Fresh from my encounter with Joaquin, I push through the door to the Dean’s office on the 

2nd floor of the law school and tell the receptionist that I have come for my transcript. She directs 

me to the floor below, to the office of the junior dean who handles community affairs. I assume I 

will be dealing with a black woman because this is an institutional title normally reserved for the 

lowest person on the administrative staff totem pole—i.e., the black woman. 

I tell the first floor receptionist why I’ve come. She points to a young man to my left, eating a 

burger at his desk, as the person who can help me. I wait for him to swallow and wipe his mouth 

before I repeat my request: I want a copy of my transcript and the contents of my file folder. He 

pushes his half-eaten burger aside, tells me he’ll return shortly, and takes the elevator up. Since 

the receptionist has returned to her work, I am left standing staring at the top of her head. A few 

minutes pass as students come and go, handling their business.  

Paying particular attention to the black students who enter, I notice a pattern: they are all 

male, seem to be older, and seem to come from various parts of the African continent as best I 

can discern from their accents. None of them acknowledge my presence. Deciding to give them 
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more privacy than they are afforded by my standing there listening to their conversations with 

the receptionist, I look around for a seat and spy a row of empty chairs behind some file cabinets 

outside an office door. As more time passes, occasionally I stand up to see if the young man 

helping me has returned since he would not be able to see me in the corner behind the file 

cabinets. 

The young man returns about twenty minutes later. He has a cream-colored folder in his 

hand. When he flips it open, its contents are few. He seems hesitant about giving me what I 

want: copies of the contents of the folder in his hand. I announce that I am willing to pay for the 

copies if that’s his concern. He says that he needs to check with someone first and turns to walk 

away. I call him back with a request. 

“I know I’m entitled to a copy of everything in that file, so if you find someone back there 

who disagrees, please ask them to come out here and talk to me.” When he returns, he is wary 

and fingering the contents of the file. Before he can get out whatever seems hard for him to tell 

me, he turns back around and nearly runs into a tight-faced, officious woman. It seems this is the 

person from whom he is taking his instructions. Despite my assumption based on her title, s he is 

not black. She also doesn’t look very happy. But she is the person who controls the distribution 

of the information I seek, so I approach her, smiling and chatty.  

“Hi. I’m Bernestine Singley. I graduated from here in 1974 and I’ve come all the way from 

Texas for a copy of my transcript and the contents of that file in his hand. Do you need me to pay 

you for copies?” 

It is as though I am not there. Giving me the side of her head, she focuses all her attention on 

the now visibly uncomfortable young man. Looking at her wristwatch, she barks out her 

instructions. “She can get it at 3PM tomorrow.” Then she turns on her heels and walks away.  
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My watch shows 3PM. I have traveled thirty years and, on this last leg of my journey, one 

thousand miles collecting evidence along the way to prove I belong where I am. Where I am is 

standing two feet away from the young man who has what I want in his hands. Where I am is 

staring at the retreating back of a garden variety power-tripping bitch who has just ordered him 

to refuse it to me for another twenty-four hours. And she has done this for no reason except that 

she could.  

It is all I can do to stay put. All I can do not to chase her down, haul off and slap her as hard 

as I can, and then stomp her lifeless beneath my cowboy boots. But I have come too far, paid too 

high a price to allow her to take me down so easily. So I thank the sheepish young man for his 

attempt to help me and tell him I will see him tomorrow.  

Back outside, I head for the house where I am staying. Though it is within easy walking 

distance of the law school, the trek back expends enough energy to quell my shivering rage. Too 

angry to cry and too furious to sit, I stand at the kitchen sink, taking long, deep breaths while 

cold water courses over my hands. 

In a white supremacy, whiteness can sneak up and trump black me without warning and 

leave me gagging on murderous intent. This is part of the unrelenting toll of being black in the U. 

S., which few care to talk about, but with which I am obsessed.  

No matter how old I grow, how far I travel, how much money I make, how many degrees I 

earn, how quantifiable the measure of my success, in a flash, even if I am a rocket scientist, I can 

find my black hands twisted and handcuffed behind my black back as I am marched, barefoot 

and black, into the police station, yes, during Black History Month. Don’t take my word for it. 

Ask Mae C. Jemison, MD—engineer, physician, educator, jazz dancer, African Studies scholar, 
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and Endeavor space shuttle astronaut, the first black woman astronaut—about a “routine traffic 

stop” in Houston in 1996.198 

Of course, this is not a lesson I ever wanted to learn. It is a fact of U. S. life that many—

maybe even most—black folks can’t admit even now. If only denial would make it disappear. 

Instead, denial is killing us.   

I recount this tale during dinner with friends familiar with the law school and describe the 

woman who barely escaped my beat down a few hours earlier. One of them immediately 

recognizes and names the object of my ire. Armed with this information back in the guesthouse, I 

sit down to my computer, which has come alive as mysteriously as it died, allowing me to log 

onto the Internet to test a hypothesis.  

As her online vita unfolds, it seems my nemesis is a sort of sister-in-the-law, having 

graduated from a different law school nearly twenty years behind me. I’m guessing she is not of 

blueblood origins, but one who came up hardscrabble. Perhaps she wasn’t pleased to see me 

because she knows that if I hadn’t been where I was thirty years ago, she wouldn’t be where she 

is today.  

Clicking through a few search engines, I have finally pieced together her resume. It is utterly 

unimpressive. First thesis confirmed: When black merit and entitlement trump whiteness, white 

folks can be downright spiteful to the black folks who paved their way. White women often 

suffer this affliction even worse than white men and, despite decades of evidence to the contrary, 

I keep expecting my pale-face sisters to know and behave better. So now I’m thinking this chick 

had to flex because, squared off against me, a black Harvard law graduate twenty years her 

senior, she had nothing else to use in her scuffle for dominance.  
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Thirty years earlier, there had been a tiny core group of feminist law students who stood in 

solidarity with each other and accepted responsibility for smashing hierarchies of race, class, and 

gender. One of us had even been the first to hold the post this oppressor harpy now occupied, a 

similar deanship that had been offered to me just before I graduated.   

True, there had been the requisite bevy of wispy wilting Southern violets among us, straining 

to be heard, fingers daintily fluttering about their pearl necklace-encased throats, coaxing their 

voices to break free of the prison of their well-bred Southern lady-whispers. But who would’ve 

guessed that they would be the ones left standing, good old boys in drag, pimped out hussies 

pledging allegiance to the way things were? 

Yet, there is good news. No matter their obstructionist behavior—O’Connell’s disgraceful 

resistance more than forty years ago or this dishwater blonde bimbo’s antics in this moment—we 

keep coming. I made it through and I am back just in time to shore up JaDawnya who will, 

without doubt, pass on the favor. We will never stop fighting back. They cannot stop us. 

~   ~   ~ 

The next day, Joaquin Boswell and I talk by phone. He launches into an effusive description 

of his university connection. The more he talks, the more I understand his approach and attitude 

from the day before. From his point of view, I was on his turf. Despite my repeated efforts to 

reach him again, that phone call was our last contact. He never again mentioned the newspaper 

article that he went to get for me and I never found it on my own. 
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Returnee 

In January 2004 I was back on campus, this time as a guest lecturer at the law school. It had 

been thirty years since I graduated and it was the first time anyone had ever invited me to speak 

at UF. Though the Justice Thornall Campbell Moot Court was my host organization, my 

invitation had been negotiated and flawlessly orchestrated by JaDawnya C. Butler, a Moot Court 

leader and the brilliant, focused, vivacious young black woman law student, who had introduced 

herself to me during my law school visit the year before.  

The lecture went well and the next night, a bunch of black UF faculty members—and Jill 

White and Walter Weyrauch—sat around the dinner table at the home of Prof. Kenneth Nunn 

and Dr. Patricia Hilliard Nunn. A refreshing straight-talker, Prof. Nunn had resigned several 

years earlier from his post as an Asst. Dean of the UF law school to return to his tenured law 

faculty position.  At a public press conference, he announced that he was relinquishing his 

deanship to protest the law school’s lack of serious commitment to creating a more diverse 

faculty. In ten years, Nunn was the lone black professor on the faculty. He attributed the lack of 

progress to some white professors who blocked hiring of black professors for years and who 

resisted advancement of the few blacks hired. His resignation was widely reported, including in 

The New York Times.199  

During dessert at the Nunns, I mentioned meeting Joaquin Boswell the year before. I was 

puzzled that he had seemed so enthusiastic the one time I talked to him in the library, but had 

disappeared to retrieve a document for me and had never returned.  

“Joaquin Boswell?” Nunn looked surprised. 

“Yes. You know him?” 
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“I believe that’s the same gentleman who caused a bit of a stir when black students were 

protesting O’Connell being honored here not long ago. Boswell spoke up for him, in fact recalled 

O’Connell quite fondly. He was O’Connell’s manservant back in the late 60s and early 70s.”  

“His manservant?” 

“Yes, O’Connell’s butler. His personal valet.” 

~   ~   ~ 

The year I entered first grade in Charlotte, NC was the year O’Connell joined the majority of 

the justices of the Florida Supreme Court in defying the U. S. Supreme Court’s directive to  

admit Virgil Hawkins to UF College of Law. It was 1957, the same year a Florida child, born 

and bred black beneath Gator apartheid, began his schooling. We’ll call him Joaquin Boswell. 

By the time I graduated from high school, O’Connell was moving into the UF President’s 

mansion where he hired Joaquin to personally attend him. It was a position Joaquin later recalled 

drew “resentful stares” from the other few black students on campus in the 1960s. In public 

records, Joaquin has attributed black students’ hostile gaze to their jealousy over “the privileged 

position” he held in O’Connell’s life; a position from which he “created floral arrangements in 

… O'Connell's house, and unlike other black staff members who worked there, was allowed to 

enter through the front door.” 200 Occasionally, Joaquin Boswell even ate at the same table with 

O’Connell himself.201 

In 2000, Boswell fondly remembered his benevolent boss: "He was always a judge and a 

gentleman to me."202 Clearly, reasonable minds can differ.  

~   ~   ~ 

Whatever O’Connell was in the 1940s, the 1970s, and the 1990s, apparently he remained that 

thing until the day he died. Before taking his last breath in 2001, however, he had maintained 
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sufficient hubris to write a letter to the Alligator, responding to an article that explored his 

history as a white supremacist. The Alligator published it on its “Letters to the Editor” page with 

the headline “O’Connell: Setting the record straight”: 

Editor: Because of the errors and the one-sided slant by the writer in the April 20 

[1999] "UF's Pride and Prejudice," I am compelled to write this to set the record 

straight.  

I begin with the statement of the writer that I refused requests for an interview. This 

statement is false.  

Next, on the cover page it was written by another reporter that I, as a former Florida 

Supreme Court Chief Justice, denied Virgil Hawkins' appeal to enter UF's law school. 

Chief Justice B.K. Roberts wrote the 1957 opinion, the last of five and the only one I 

participated in. I agreed to the opinion, because it held that Mr. Hawkins' admission at 

the time would, as reflected by testimony taken in Gainesville, result in violence and 

"great public mischief at the university," as was occurring at other universities.  

Mr. Hawkins went to the Federal District Court in Tallahassee, which upheld blacks' 

right to enter the UF College of Law but denied Mr. Hawkins' entry because he scored 

about 200 on the entrance exam. The minimum required score was about 300.  

The article makes it appear the black invaders were the only ones arrested for 

occupying a university building, and that their arrest was an arbitrary act on my part. It 

is difficult for today's reader to visualize the condition existent on our campus in the 

late '60s or early '70s. Because of the number of militant student groups attempting sit-

ins, the University Faculty Senate adopted a policy to be followed in such cases. It 

provided that those sitting in would be told to leave within three minutes or be subject 

to arrest.  

This procedure was followed the first and second times the black students burst into my 

office handing me a list of their demands, and I told them I would be glad to meet with a 

representative if they scheduled an appointment. The third time they returned, they took 

over the reception room and the hall outside. They were warned to leave or be arrested. 

After more than an hour, they were arrested.  

Roy Mitchell, a black engaged as coordinator of minority affairs and who recruited 

most of the students, was asked to intervene. He refused. It was later learned he had 

encouraged, if not arranged, the sit-ins.  

The article states that "in the following days ... O'Connell pledged to file sanctions 

against the arrested students..." This is untrue. I instructed the university's attorney not 

to pursue charges against those arrested and not to pursue suspension. Many elected to 

withdraw, but most returned.  
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The statements of the black (former) students that their sit-in caused an improvement in 

the university's treatment and recruitment of black students and faculty are not correct, 

although understandable as an attempt to justify their acts. The university did not alter 

its well-made plans and continued to implement them with success in the number of 

black students, faculty and administrators attracted.  

But the event and their demands caused resentment toward black students by a large 

number of white students who felt blacks were afforded special treatment and were 

demanding even more special treatment.  

Stephen C. O'Connell  

Former UF president203  

So O’Connell and the other segregationist thugs had predicted correctly: All those uppity 

blacks creating havoc instead of just being grateful and conducting themselves appropriately. 

Instead of just one troublemaker named Virgil Hawkins, UF had been faced with a whole passel 

of them stirring up mess, acting like they were actually equal to white folks.  

What a thunderous clap of déjà vu it must have been for the law-breaking former Florida 

judge to see these black “intruders” daring to stand in opposition to the policies he created 

specifically to corral them. How enraging it must have been to see the dark hordes come clawing 

for the “special treatment” Virgil Hawkins and others of his era had won for them nearly twenty 

years earlier, demanding the identical treatment O’Connell and his white boys had ridden to 

wealth and power—presumptively and without question—for centuries. 

At the height of O’Connell’s UF rein in 1970, there were nearly 4,000 African American 

lawyers in the United States. Two decades later at his death, the number had leapt to nearly 

40,000.204 He had taken his best shot at snuffing out the law school ambitions of Virgil Hawkins 

and every other Florida college student who was not white (or male). Yet, neither O’Connell nor 

the white supremacist forces arrayed on his side could stop us. 205  

Despite his failure to keep American apartheid as the coffin that entombed justice and 

equality for all, Stephen O’Connell’s enduring legacy must be remembered because he and 



154 

 

 

others of his ilk worked so hard to earn it. And certainly Virgil Darnell Hawkins paid far too 

high a price to be tagged by history as little more than a gallant loser. William C. Kidder’s words 

that opened this book bear repeating here as they perfectly frame Hawkins’ triumph and 

O’Connell’s shame.  

As O’Connell wished, so it is. The record set straight for him is this: 

Perhaps the most extreme example of entrenched obstructionism in defending Jim Crow 

racism in law school admissions involves the University of Florida College of Law 

(UFCL) and Florida public officials.  

 

And for Mr. Hawkins, it is this: 

 

 Virgil Hawkins first applied to UFCL at the age of 43 in April of 1949, and was denied 

admission solely because he was Black.  Hawkins’ tortuous legal battle spanned nine 

years, and it became embroiled in the Florida gubernatorial race.  The litigation 

included several petitions to the U.S. Supreme Court and five appeals before the 

diehard segregationist Florida Supreme Court, which repeatedly and illegally ignored 

the U.S. Supreme Court’s orders that Hawkins be admitted without further delay.  By 

1958, Hawkins withdrew his application to UFCL in exchange for an agreement that 

other African Americans would at last be permitted to enroll, but he never gave up his 

dream of becoming a lawyer.206 

 

Like Mr. Hawkins who never gave up, neither did we. This is the rest of our story. Our 

legacy roars on. 

Thank you, Mr. Hawkins, for everything. 
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Three who made it  

L-R: J. Michael Haygood, Bernestine Singley, Jacob A. Rose, UF law grads & Attorneys-at-Law 

June 2010, West Palm Beach, FL 
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